Evaluating trauma-informed care: child sexual abuse

by

Jonathan Jin

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Psychiatry

University of Alberta

© Jonathan Jin, 2022

Abstract

The goal of the thesis is to contribute to advancements in the field of trauma-informed care in, particularly for individuals with a significant history of childhood adversity. This was conducted in three ways:

- Chapter 2 is original research, and an intended article, describing results from a mixedmethod study using both quantitative and qualitative data analysis techniques. This study evaluated long-term treatment outcomes for a trauma-informed multimodal residential treatment facility for child sexual abuse survivors called Little Warriors (https://littlewarriors.ca/). Child sexual abuse is common in our society and innovative treatment approaches are needed to combat adverse health consequences. Using an existing database from Little Warriors, a combination of parametric as well as nonparametric quantitative analyses found significant long-term improvements in anxiety, depression, PTSD, and quality of life. From the qualitative thematic analysis of caregiver responses, several gaps related to treatment were identified such as more support needed to help retention, moral injury, and secondary traumatic stress.
- Chapter 3 is original research, and an intended article, building off the mixed-methods paper described in chapter 2. This study specifically details the methodology for the innovative hybrid webinar/focus group used to engage caregivers of child sexual abuse survivors ethically and effectively. The COVID-19 pandemic added to difficulties in participant recruitment/engagement in child psychiatric studies, so we used a novel approach which took advantage of video conferencing technology and anonymous question and answer functions. The result was a positive engagement with a total of 20 participants. Key features identified in the qualitative thematic analysis included things such as more support needed for families during intake day of treatment enrolment, making sure that caregivers' concerns or questions are sufficiently answered throughout

ii

intervention rounds, and also the availability of emotional support if families terminate treatment early.

• Chapter 4 is original research, and an intended article, describing the results from a scoping review related to reflective functioning in caregiver-child dyads. Emotional regulation is a key health determinant in child psychiatry and a related proxy measure, reflective functioning, was systematically mapped out to understand areas of research focus as well as areas that have been neglected in the literature. This study was initiated to investigate unique factors that contribute to holistic wellness in caregiver-child dyadic health, which align with key principles of trauma-informed care. A scoping review of the literature published up until September 2021 was completed: focusing on studies sampling parents of children 36 months of age or under. A variety of reflective functioning assessment and intervention studies were identified focusing primarily on mother-child dyads in the general population. 0 studies included measurements on gender identity and no studies were conducted in low to middle income countries.

Across these three chapters, the thesis attempts to demonstrate the benefits of trauma-informed care across several settings and several populations. This work has relevance for improving treatment outcomes in child and adolescent psychiatric interventions, improving caregiver-child dyadic health outcomes, and moving towards a culture of care that is more compassionate and ultimately more inclusive for those with a history of significant adversity.

iii

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Jonathan Jin. The project received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Committee (Ethics review number: Pro00113683). Due to the paper-based format of this thesis, there is some repetition across chapters.

The thesis research conducted was in collaboration with academic psychiatrists, student colleagues, and the Little Warriors scientific advisory committee (each co-author respectively listed in following sections below). The main conceptualization, analysis, and write-up for each manuscript was conducted by Jonathan Jin. Dr. Andrew Greenshaw is the senior author for all manuscripts and he was heavily involved with giving regular feedback throughout the thesis.

- Chapter 2 was submitted for publication in 2022 as: Jin, J., Smith-MacDonald, L., Al-Shamali, H., Reeson, M., Pazderka, H., Li, X., Polzin, W., Wei, Y., Silverstone, P., & Greenshaw, A. (submitted). Multimodal treatment for sexual abuse survivors: Mixed-methods results indicate benefits for children and caregivers. JMIR Formative Research.
- Chapter 3 was submitted for publication in 2022 as: Jin, J., Al-Shamali, H., Reeson, M., Silverstone, P., Pazderka, H., Wei, Y., & Greenshaw, A. (submitted) Innovative recruitment using a hybrid webinar/focus group format: Caregiver-child dyads in child sexual abuse. Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry.
- Chapter 4 was submitted for publication in 2022 as: Jin, J., Goud, R., Al-Shamali, H., Dzunic, A., Lyons, T., Reeson, M., Pazderka, H., Dennett, L., Polzin, W., Wei, Y., Silverstone, P., & Greenshaw, A. (submitted). Early Mental Health Foundations: a Scoping Review of Reflective Functioning in Caregiver-Child Dyads. Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry.
- The following two manuscripts were also written by Jonathan Jin, but they are not included in this thesis.
 - Chapter 5 was submitted for publication in 2022 as: Jin, J., Burback, L., Greenshaw, A., & Winkler, O. (submitted). Commentary: Coercion in psychiatry: Lessons learned from trauma informed care. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry.

 Chapter 6 was submitted for publication in 2022 as: Winkler, O., Burback, L., Greenshaw, A., & Jin, J. (submitted). Shifting to trauma informed care in inpatient psychiatry: a case study. Psychiatry Research Case Reports.

Each chapter concludes with a reference list related to that specific chapter. A comprehensive bibliography is included at the end of the thesis.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to Dr. Andrew Greenshaw for his constant support and attention to detail for all aspects of my MSc degree. I am grateful that he showed me how to be a thoughtful, ethical, and productive scientist trainee in health research. Also, I am grateful that he always made time to be available and supportive, ensuring that I had a pleasant and highly supportive working environment, despite COVID-19 health measures.

Thank you to my supervisory committee for always challenging me and pushing me to create the highest quality work. Thank you to Dr. Yifeng Wei and her expertise in mental health and youth engagement. Thank you to Dr. Peter Silverstone for his expertise in child and adolescent mental health in the Little Warriors context and Dr. Wanda Polzin for her clinical expertise working with children sexual abuse survivors and their families.

Thank you to the staff at Little Warriors for supporting me in my work and inspiring me by your dedication and efforts in maintaining a remarkable facility for the benefit of child sexual abuse survivors. Thank you to Glori Meldrum for supporting my ambitions and for inspiring me through your lived experience as well as your impact in the field of childhood trauma interventions.

Thank you to my student colleagues who helped me complete my work in screening papers for a scoping review and helping transcribe webinar/focus group recordings. Thank you to Dr. Lorraine Smith-MacDonald for her expertise in qualitative research. Thank you to Dr. Olga Winkler and Dr. Lisa Burback for their expertise in trauma-informed care which shaped my learning and understanding of patient oriented care. Thank you to Liz Dennett for her expertise in conducting library searches. Thank you to the Department of Psychiatry, Tara Checknita, and Dr. Allen Chan for their administrative support throughout the year and ensuring that there is adequate space to engage with fellow student colleagues.

Thank you to Drs. Eric Vermetten and Suzette Bremault-Phillips for teaching me about their expertise in veterans' mental health and knowledge mobilization through additional projects on top of my regular course load.

Thank you to the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CG Scholarship to JJ), University of Alberta (Master's Entrance Scholarship - Honorary; Walter H John's Graduate Fellowship;

vi

Alberta Graduate Excellence Scholarship) and the Alberta Innovates Graduate Student Scholarship (AI-GSS) for funding my work.

Lastly, a special thanks to my family and friends who have always believed in me and have supported me in my endeavors since the beginning.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	viii
List of Tables	х
List of Figures	xi
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)	1
1.2 Child Sexual Abuse (CSA)	1
1.3 Trauma-informed care	2
1.4 Little Warriors	3
1.5 Thesis aim	3
1.6 References	4
Introduction to Chapter 2	6
Chapter 2. Multimodal treatment for sexual abuse survivors: Mixed-methods results ind benefits for children and caregivers	icate 7
Abstract	8
2.1 Introduction	10
2.2 Methods	12
2.3 Results	18
2.4 Discussion	28
2.5 References	35
Connection between Chapters 2 and 3	42
Introduction to Chapter 3	42
Chapter 3. Innovative recruitment using a hybrid webinar/focus group format: Caregiver dyads in child sexual abuse	-child 43
Abstract	44
3.1 Introduction	45
3.2 Materials and Methods	46
3.3 Results	48
3.4 Discussion	62
3.5 References	67

Connection between Chapters 3 and 4	70
Introduction to Chapter 4	70
Chapter 4. Early mental health foundations: a scoping review of reflective functioning in caregiver-child dyads	71
Abstract	72
4.1 Scientific Background	73
4.2 Methods	76
4.3 Results	78
4.4 Discussion	88
4.7 References	95
Chapter 5. Brief Summary and Conclusion	106
Thesis bibliography	107
Appendices	129
Appendix 1	129
Appendix 2	132

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics for children's data analyzed.	.19
Table 2. Bar graph of means and standard errors for primary CPSS outcome measure in	
children	.21
Table 3. Caregivers (N=20) that attended the hybrid webinar/focus groups	.22
Table 4. Themes and subthemes from thematic analysis of caregivers' qualitative responses.	.22
Table 5: Participants (N=20) that attended the hybrid webinar/focus groups	.48
Table 6. Main themes, sub-themes, and supporting quotations from thematic analysis	.49
Table 7. Summary of sociodemographic characteristics of all included studies	.80
Table 8. Summary of types of interventions used	.83
Table 9. Types of specific ethnic minority groups included in studies	.85
Table 10. Scope of studies included sorted alphabetically	.88

List of Figures

Figure 1. Gantt chart of an example cohort's four treatment rounds (in black) at the Be Brave
Ranch treatment programming over one year. The spaces in between rounds represent children
back at home receiving outpatient support13
Figure 2. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow
diagram of study selection

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) often lead to early life trauma that can have lasting negative impacts on health and wellbeing (Boullier & Blair, 2018). The first systematic investigation of ACEs was conducted at Kaiser Permanente's San Diego health appraisal clinic by Felitti and colleagues (1998). Felitti and colleagues were interested in understanding the long-term relationship of ACEs to prominent medical and public health problems. This is a study that used a retrospective and prospective design to ask survey questions about the long-term impact of abuse and household dysfunction with later life outcomes such as disease risk factors, quality of life and mortality rate. The categories of abuse were grouped by psychological abuse, physical abuse and sexual abuse. Household dysfunction categories were grouped by substance abuse in the home, mental illness in the family, mother being treated violently and criminality. The total sample size was 8506 persons with a mean age of 56.1 (52.1% women and 79.4% Caucasian). The main results for this study were that 52% experienced one or more ACEs, and 6.2% experienced four or more ACEs. For persons reporting any single category of ACEs, their probability of experiencing another ACE was 65-93% (median: 80%). In a logistical regression model that controlled for age, gender, race and educational attainment, there was a significant relationship (p<.05) between number of ACEs and the following diseases: ischemic heart disease, cancer, chronic bronchitis or emphysema, history of hepatitis or jaundice, skeletal fractures, and poor self-rated health.

Following the Kaiser Permanente study, several systematic reviews were published in the last decade with questions focusing on the link between ACEs and a variety of other health-related topics (Kalmakis et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2015; Kajeepeta et al., 2015; Hughes et al., 2017; Petrucelli et al., 2019).

1.2 Child Sexual Abuse (CSA)

Within the broad category of ACEs, childhood sexual abuse (CSA) is of particular interest for the present thesis. CSA is generally defined as unwanted sexual contact between a child and an adult. It can include oral, vaginal, and/or anal penetration with a penis, digits, or foreign objects, forced sexual touching, and non-contact sexual abuse (Pulverman et al., 2018).

CSA is common with estimates of 7.9% in boys and 19.7% in girls (Stoltenborgh et al, 2011). Complications of CSA include things such as increased suicide risk as well as multiple other psychological, behavioural, sleep and sexual issues (Chen et al., 2010; Maniglio, 2009). One of the challenging aspects of CSA is the vast under-reporting, where data suggest over 95% of cases are never disclosed to authorities (Martin & Silverstone, 2013). Post-traumatic stress disorder is common among the poor long-term outcomes of CSA survivors and they are often linked to feelings of shame and isolation (Schönbucher et al., 2012).

1.3 Trauma-informed care

In light of the significant degree of heterogeneity in trauma histories and associated symptom presentations, trauma-informed care offers an approach that seeks to recognize and understand how individuals' past adversity can inform their current presentation–and by extension, how they are best treated in light of their respective definition of individual safety.

This sociological approach was initially intended for trauma-affected populations, but the applications are much broader in terms of benefits for those suffering from past relational stress, stereotypes, racial injustices, attachment disruptions, emotional dysregulation, and adversity in general (Hales et al., 2019). Emphasis in trauma-informed care is placed on how to arrive at the impression of another, as opposed to what the final impression ought to be. Trauma-informed care principles use things such as active and ongoing coaching, debriefings, engagement across multiple levels of the healthcare sector such as managers and clinicians and nurses, to help individuals be more curious and have a non-judgmental stance when engaging with patients (Huang et al., 2015). For example, if a clinician in the emergency department saw an older gentleman who was acting aggressively, violently, and erratically, trauma-informed care calls for the clinician to take a step back and try to understand how this individual arrived here in the first place. Specifically, this will involve asking questions about their history and making sure that they feel safe and not threatened (since the aggression and erratic behaviour may be indicating that the patient feels a sense of present danger).

In terms of outcome studies, systematic reviews have evaluated quantitatively and qualitatively how trauma-informed care reduced injuries and is beneficial for engaging with patients (Bryson et al., 2017; Hall et al., 2016). Trauma-informed care may be applicable to multiple settings, yet a gap remains in terms of broad and practical evaluation in such settings.

1.4 Little Warriors

Little Warriors is an example of a facility that uses trauma-informed care principles (https://littlewarriors.ca/). This residential facility uses a one-year long multimodal treatment approach for CSA survivors. There are four rounds of treatment on site and outpatient support is provided in between rounds when children (ages 8-12) and adolescents (ages 13-16) go back home. Cohort approaches are used throughout the full program to ensure that children and adolescents are able to form bonds with each other. The camp-like environment on site allows children and adolescents to access a variety of fun and recreation programming as well as targeting specific therapeutic approaches (200 hours of direct therapy and also 80 hours of therapeutic support as an outpatient are offered). Significant improvements in PTSD, anxiety, depression, quality of life, and self-esteem, and resilience have been found after two weeks of treatment (Reeson et al., 2020).

1.5 Thesis aim

The thesis seeks to fill the gap by evaluating the benefit of trauma-informed care across a variety of settings. The flexible nature of trauma-informed care principles and its implications across caregiver-child dyads and CSA survivors will be discussed. Results from this thesis will inform policy and assist in improving the lived experience of children, adolescents, and their respective families.

1.6 References

- Boullier, M., & Blair, M. (2018). Adverse childhood experiences. *Paediatrics and Child Health*, 28(3), 132–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paed.2017.12.008</u>
- Bryson, S. A., Gauvin, E., Jamieson, A., Rathgeber, M., Faulkner-Gibson, L., Bell, S., ... & Burke, S. (2017). What are effective strategies for implementing trauma-informed care in youth inpatient psychiatric and residential treatment settings? A realist systematic review. *International journal of mental health systems*, *11*(1), 1-16.
- Chen, L. P., Murad, M. H., Paras, M. L., Colbenson, K. M., Sattler, A. L., Goranson, E. N., Elamin, M. B., Seime, R. J., Shinozaki, G., & Prokop, L. J. (2010). Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, *85*(7), 618–629.
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., Koss, M. P., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of Childhood Abuse and Household Dysfunction to Many of the Leading Causes of Death in Adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *14*(4), 245–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8</u>
- Hales, T. W., Green, S. A., Bissonette, S., Warden, A., Diebold, J., Koury, S. P., & Nochajski, T. H. (2019). Trauma-informed care outcome study. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 29(5), 529-539.
- Hall, A., McKenna, B., Dearie, V., Maguire, T., Charleston, R., & Furness, T. (2016). Educating emergency department nurses about trauma informed care for people presenting with mental health crisis: A pilot study. *BMC nursing*, *15*(1), 1-8.
- 7. Huang, L. N., Flatow, R., Biggs, T., Afayee, S., Smith, K., Clark, T., & Blake, M. (2014). SAMHSA's Concept of Truama and Guidance for a Trauma-Informed Approach.
- Huang, H., Yan, P., Shan, Z., Chen, S., Li, M., Luo, C., Gao, H., Hao, L., & Liu, L. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Metabolism*, *64*(11), 1408–1418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2015.08.019
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., Jones, L., & Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health, 2*(8), e356–e366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4</u>

- Kajeepeta, S., Gelaye, B., Jackson, C. L., & Williams, M. A. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences are associated with adult sleep disorders: A systematic review. *Sleep Medicine*, *16*(3), 320–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2014.12.013
- Kalmakis, K. A., & Chandler, G. E. (2015). Health consequences of adverse childhood experiences: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 27(8), 457–465. https://doi.org/10.1002/2327-6924.12215
- Maniglio, R. (2009). The impact of child sexual abuse on health: A systematic review of reviews. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29(7), 647–657. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.08.003</u>
- 13. Martin, E. K., & Silverstone, P. H. (2013). How much child sexual abuse is "below the surface," and can we help adults identify it early? *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 4, 58.
- Petruccelli, K., Davis, J., & Berman, T. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and associated health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 97, 104127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104127</u>
- Pulverman, C. S., Kilimnik, C. D., & Meston, C. M. (2018). The Impact of Childhood Sexual Abuse on Women's Sexual Health: A Comprehensive Review. *Sexual Medicine Reviews*, 6(2), 188–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sxmr.2017.12.002
- Reeson, M., Polzin, W., Pazderka, H., Agyapong, V., Greenshaw, A. J., Hnatko, G., ... & Silverstone, P. H. (2020). A Novel 2-week Intensive Multimodal Treatment Program for Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) Survivors is Associated with Mental Health Benefits for Females aged 13–16. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 29*(3), 165.
- Schönbucher, V., Maier, T., Mohler-Kuo, M., Schnyder, U., & Landolt, M. A. (2012). Disclosure of Child Sexual Abuse by Adolescents: A Qualitative In-Depth Study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *27*(17), 3486–3513. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512445380
- Stoltenborgh, M., Van Ijzendoorn, M. H., Euser, E. M., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2011). A global perspective on child sexual abuse: Meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. *Child maltreatment*, *16*(2), 79-101.

Introduction to Chapter 2

There is limited evidence for treatments in child psychiatry, child sexual abuse (CSA) in particular. Trauma-informed care offers guiding principles on how to optimally engage with individuals with a history of significant abuse and trauma. One facility called Little Warriors (https://littlewarriors.ca/) in Edmonton, Alberta uses a trauma-informed multimodal treatment approach over a year long program for CSA survivors. Key trauma-informed principles of collaboration and building trustworthiness through cohort approach are integral to the design of Little Warriors. This program has demonstrated positive preliminary results, but a gap remains in long-term outcomes as well as the role of caregivers as a determinant for treatment outcomes. The present mixed-method study seeks to fill the gap by evaluating long-term outcomes of children in the multimodal treatment program at Little Warriors as well as to understand attitudes and opinions of caregivers of the children and adolescents enrolled in the program.

Chapter 2. Multimodal treatment for sexual abuse survivors: Mixed-methods results indicate benefits for children and caregivers

Jonathan Jin, BSc^{1*}, Lorraine Smith-MacDonald, PhD², Huda Al-Shamali, BSc¹, Matthew Reeson, BSc¹, Hannah Pazderka, PhD^{1,3}, Xin-Min Li, MD, PhD¹, Wanda Polzin, EdD³, Yifeng Wei, PhD¹, Peter H. Silverstone, MD¹, Andrew J. Greenshaw, PhD¹

¹Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

²Heroes in Mind Advocacy and Research Consortium, Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

³Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch, Edmonton Alberta, Canada

Corresponding Author*

Abstract

Background: Childhood sexual abuse (CSA) is a key health area that needs new and innovative treatment options for both caregivers and children. Although there are few existing treatment options for the CSA survivors, there have been studies targeting interventions for children's mental health issues as well as for caregiver-child dyads. For CSA survivors, there is some recent evidence for the effectiveness of multimodal treatment. However, no prior study has identified long term findings over the full year of programming in a multimodal program and there has been no analysis of the role of caregivers in treatment outcomes.

Objective: The aim of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness of a complex multimodal treatment program for CSA survivors. The secondary aim was to qualitatively evaluate the attitudes and opinions of caregivers.

Methods: Children (CSA survivors) completed quantitative self-report surveys before and after each of the four treatment rounds in a comprehensive year long program (n=15). 86.7% identified as female and 13.3% identified as transgender (mean age 10.2 ± 1.6). Measures included validated self-report surveys related to anxiety, depression, PTSD, quality of life, and self-esteem. Changes in mean outcome scores were analyzed for statistical significance. Caregivers of CSA survivors participated in two innovative hybrid webinar focus groups with staff at a residential treatment facility (n=11). Sessions were recorded, transcribed, and thematically analyzed.

Results: For CSA survivors, statistically significant improvements were observed on PTSD, depression, anxiety, and quality of life. For caregivers of CSA survivors, 20 participants contributed to the data and three themes arose from our thematic analysis: (1) Challenges of starting and maintaining treatment, (2) Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment, and (3) Barriers and facilitators of treatment.

Conclusions: The present mixed methods study supports the effectiveness of a complex multimodal program designed for CSA survivors in terms of improving children's mental health outcomes as well as supporting caregiver well-being. Future studies are warranted with a larger sample size to replicate these preliminary long-term findings. Several benefits and gaps in wellness support arose during our thematic analysis.

Keywords: child sexual abuse; caregivers; mixed-methods; PTSD; trauma.

2.1 Introduction

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) may lead to early life trauma that can have lasting negative impacts on health and wellbeing (Boullier & Blair, 2018). The first systematic investigation of ACEs was conducted at Kaiser Permanente's San Diego health appraisal clinic by Felitti, Anda and colleagues with 8506 persons in the first wave of sampling (Felitti et al., 2019). Felitti and colleagues were interested in understanding the long-term relationship of ACEs to prominent health problems. The main results indicated that 52% of the study population experienced one or more ACEs, and 6.2% experienced four or more ACEs. A higher number of ACEs was correlated with multiple health risk factors later in life, such as ischemic heart disease, cancer, and chronic lung disease. After the Kaiser Permanente study, systematic reviews were recently published as a follow up focusing on the effects of multiple ACEs on health outcomes (Hughes et al., 2017; Petruccelli, 2019).

Within the broad category of ACEs, childhood sexual abuse (CSA) is a key health area within child psychiatry. CSA is generally defined as unwanted sexual contact between a child and another individual. It can include oral, vaginal, and/or anal penetration with a penis, digits, or foreign objects, forced sexual touching, and non-contact sexual abuse (Pulverman et al., 2018). CSA is common with estimates of 19.7% in girls and 7.9% in boys (Stoltenborgh et al., 2011). Complications of CSA include increased suicide risk and multiple other psychological (i.e., Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety, depression), behavioural, sleep, and sexual issues (Chen et al., 2010; Hailes et al., 2019; Maniglio, 2009). One of the challenging aspects of CSA is under-reporting, evidence suggests over 95% of cases are never officially disclosed (Martin and Silverstone, 2013). PTSD is a common long-term outcome of CSA survival and this often intersects with feelings of shame and isolation (Schönbucher et al., 2012).

It is well recognized that for children and adolescent psychiatric assessments, individual characteristic data may have limited predictive value – consequently, in many cases, a primary focus of assessment is around caregiving relationships (Dulcan, 2021). Caregiver-child dyadic relationships are important because they are where the child begins to grow in a social world, finds secure attachment, buffers stress, begins to form mental representations, learns to be autonomous, and attains a sense of self-worth (Lo et al., 2019). Caregiver-child interactions can be measured in the clinical setting with a combination of structured interviews, checklists, and questionnaires (Lotzin et al., 2015). For individuals who have experienced sexual abuse from an adult, the ability to form these trusting relationships may necessarily be hampered.

Caregiver stress has been studied in a variety of health domains and it can negatively influence the wellbeing of a child (Rees et al., 2019). For example, a recent meta-analysis found that parental stress was associated with behavior problems in children (Barroso et al., 2018). The COVID-19 pandemic has also placed an additional burden on families with children (de Figueiredo et al., 2021). Although the dyadic health burden is being recognized, there are still limited assessment study data available for CSA survivors. This gap in knowledge is reflected in a dearth of literature regarding high-quality treatment options for child psychiatric patients as reflected in a recent Cochrane review (James et al., 2020).

Despite the limited literature on existing treatment options for the CSA survivors, there have been studies targeting interventions for children's mental health issues as well as for caregiverchild dyads. For example, a Cochrane review concluded that cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) is superior to no treatment for childhood and adolescent anxiety disorders (James et al., 2020). However, despite evidence suggesting that CBT is superior to usual care or alternative treatments, such as a solution focused therapy, (Creswell et al., 2017), the parent intervention SPACE (Supportive Parenting for Anxious Childhood Emotions) (Lebowitz et al., 2020), child centered therapy (Silk et al., 2018), counseling (Murphy et al., 2017), nondirective supportive therapy (Reigada et al., 2015), and ABMT (Attention Bias Modification Treatment) (Cheung, 2016; Salum et al., 2018) or medication, evidence overall is limited and inconclusive (Macdonald et al., 2016). Based on this Cochrane review, it is not well understood whether or not there is a single therapeutic intervention that can be successful for all children or youth, and little is known from comparisons of single interventions with multimodal approaches (i.e., combining and delivering multiple therapies together). The multimodal framework uses broad principles from social and cognitive learning theory and it is distinct from other unimodal approaches such as person-centered therapy which is entirely conversational (Lazarus, 2019). Sánchez-Meca and colleagues conducted a meta-analysis investigating optimal treatment approaches for child and adolescent mental health disorders and found some evidence to support multimodal approaches for this population (Sánchez-Meca et al., 2011).

For CSA survivors, in particular, there is recent evidence for the benefit of multimodal treatments in the Little Warriors program, at the Be Brave Ranch (Reeson et al., 2020). However, no prior analysis has identified long term findings over the full year of programming and there has been no analysis of the role of caregivers in treatment outcomes. Mixed-methods approaches may support a more comprehensive picture of caregiver-child dyadic interactions and quality of caregiving relationships can be assessed when both quantitative as well as qualitative data are collected (Nataliya and Wingo, 2018). This leads to the research question

for this mixed-methods study: "What is the impact of a one-year comprehensive multimodal treatment for CSA survivors as well as caregivers?" By using measurements for both children and caregivers, we can better understand how to support the wellness of family units affected by CSA.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Overall Study Design

There were two components to this study: The primary objective of the study was to quantitatively assess the effectiveness of a novel multimodal one-year long treatment program for CSA survivors in terms of improving mental health outcomes. The secondary objective was to assess the qualitative attitudes and opinions of caregivers of CSA survivors in relation to treatment programming.

2.2.1.1 Program response in CSA survivors

This aspect of the study design comprised baseline measures for pre-treatment and posttreatment measures for four intervention rounds. The first pre-treatment measure in round one was the true baseline, where children had no exposure to interventions. The first round of treatment for the children is 26 days and the subsequent three are 12 days on-site (approximately at the 3, 6 and, 9 month marks after their first visit) with outpatient support available in between treatment rounds. Figure 1 shows an example timeline of a cohort going through the year long treatment. Figure 1. Gantt chart of an example cohort's four treatment rounds (in black) at the Be Brave Ranch treatment programming over one year. The spaces in between rounds represent children back at home receiving outpatient support.



2.2.1.2 Qualitative attitudes and opinions of caregivers of CSA survivors

For this aspect of the study design, to collect anonymized responses of a convenience sample of caregiver attitudes and opinions we used an innovative hybrid webinar/focus group approach (Jin et al., 2022). This approach offered an ethical way to engage with caregivers of CSA survivors, a highly sensitive population, and provided them with benefits in the form of information on future advancements in clinical programming. This approach also had the added advantage of letting individuals join virtually, allowing them to engage from a safe environment, and cost-effectiveness for individuals for whom distance would be a barrier to engaging. No monetary incentives were given due to limited resources. Data were captured using the question and answer (Q&A) function on Zoom webinars, so anonymity of participants was protected. To maintain a continuous flow in conversation throughout the sessions, the researcher posed questions to the staff for their opinions during times when caregiver responses were not being discussed. Discussion was facilitated by a research team member and two staff members from Little Warriors. Discussion prompts were adapted, in part, from key areas outlined in the Alberta Quality Matrix for Health (Cowell et al., 2012):

- (1) What has been working for you and your child?
- (2) What hasn't been working for you and your child?

- (3) What can we do to improve?
- (4) How was the intake process for you? Easy? Difficult?
- (5) What did you/your child find most helpful in the time at Little Warriors?

2.2.2 Participants

2.2.2.1 Children in treatment

Children and adolescents who were admitted to the treatment program underwent an initial screening interview conducted by a staff member at Little Warriors. The criteria below are already put in place for program intake at the Little Warriors treatment facility. These criteria were selected so that children can perform necessary self-care for daily living and can have the best chance of completing the full treatment program. Participants for the child program are required to:

- (1) Have a history of child sexual abuse
- (2) Be aged 8-12
- (3) Perform self-care necessary for daily living
- (4) Have an IQ > 80 as determined by previous assessments
- (5) Be medically stable and compliant with medications
- (6) Disclose abuse to at least one adult/caregiver in the past
- (7) Have a family member/caregiver identified and involved
- (8) Complete a readiness assessment

Exclusion criteria for children include:

- (1) Severe mental health issues such as suicide attempt, history of psychosis, self-harm, homicidal thoughts/actions, violent behaviors, and significant eating disorder
- (2) A significant runaway risk
- (3) Serious behavioral problems
- (4) Significant drug or alcohol use
- (5) A history of sexual violence toward others
- (6) Police interactions
- (7) Unstable medical conditions

2.2.2.2 Caregivers of CSA survivors

Caregivers of CSA survivors (parents/guardians) in this study were fluent in English (based on observation when a staff team member assesses this at the time of intake), able to provide consent, and were caring for children who were enrolled in the Be Brave Ranch treatment program at Little Warriors. No other criteria were placed on caregivers, since the research team were interested in hearing a diversity of attitudes and opinions from this group.

2.2.3 Ethics approval

The current study was reviewed and fully approved by the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Committee (Ethics review number: Pro00113683).

2.2.4 Treatment program

The Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch program is a comprehensive, intensive, one year-long treatment for children and adolescents (Reeson et al., 2020). The primary program objective is to improve long-term outcomes for children aged 8 to 12 who have suffered from CSA. The Little Warriors facility is set up as a camp-like facility which allows children and adolescents to access a variety of fun and recreation activities as well as targeting specific therapeutic approaches. The program also uses a cohort model to allow children and adolescents to form bonds with each other as well as protecting against isolation and shame, which can be a major obstacle for long-term treatment outcomes in this population (Kealy et al., 2018). This program offers more than 200 hours of direct therapy and also 80 hours of therapeutic support as an outpatient.

The treatment program includes an initial 26 day treatment program on site with three more treatment rounds on site over the span of one year (Figure 1). There is outpatient treatment support available for families in between treatment rounds. A multimodal evidence-based treatment approach (Reeson et al., 2018) is used which includes therapies such as trauma focused cognitive behavioral therapy (tf-CBT), yoga, arts, crafts, animal interactions, music, art therapy, and eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR).

2.2.5 Data collection

2.2.5.1 Children in treatment

The present study collected data from all four rounds of treatment for the comprehensive oneyear program at Little Warriors between June 2020 to December 2021. Assent was obtained from children. Children completed self-report surveys on tablets at initial admission and at discharge for each treatment round. Surveys ask about basic demographic environmental questions, and several validated child psychiatric outcome measures including the Child Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Symptom Scale (CPSS), Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS), the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES), and a quality of life measure called the KIDSCREEN-10. All data collected were anonymized by a third-party server and provided to a research team member for secondary independent analysis.

2.2.5.2 Outcome measures

The Child Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Symptom Scale (CPSS) is a 17-item self-report validated scale for children and adolescents to measure PTSD (Foa et al., 2001). The CPSS asks questions that are aligned with the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV (DSM-IV) (Nixon et al., 2013). This measure uses a 4-point Likert scale that ranges from 0 (not at all) to 3 (5 or more times per week). Higher scores indicate more functional impairment. CPSS scores were collected before and after each of the four treatment rounds.

The Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS) is a 25-item self-report validated scale to measure anxiety and depression in children and adolescents (Chorpita et al., 2013; Klaufus et al., 2020). The RCADS asks questions to assess anxiety and depression in a manner aligned with the DSM-IV. Items are scored on a four point Likert scale ranging from 0 (never) to 3 (always). Higher scores indicate greater severity in anxiety or depression levels. RCADS scores were collected before and after each of the four treatment rounds.

The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES) is a self-report validated measure to assess selfesteem in children and adolescents (Bagley and Mallick, 2001). The RSES is composed of 10 items that uses a 4 point Likert scale running from strongly agree to strongly disagree. Higher RSES scores indicate more positive self-esteem levels. RSES scores were collected before and after each of the four treatment rounds.

Quality of life was measured with the KIDSCREEN-10 which is a self-report, validated 10-item survey for children and adolescents (Ravens-Sieberer et al., 2010). The KIDSCREEN-10 asks about various health-related quality of life questions on a 5 point scale ranging from 0 (not at all) to 4 (extremely). Higher KIDSCREEN-10 scores indicate better quality of life. KIDSCREEN-10 scores were collected before and after each of the four treatment rounds.

2.2.5.3 Caregivers of CSA survivors

Caregivers who participated in the hybrid webinar focus groups provided written responses to prompts given in the Q&A portion of the session. Implied consent was obtained from caregivers and responses of caregivers were anonymized and attitudes were captured via the Zoom webinar Q&A function. The two hybrid webinar focus groups were conducted in English in November 2021 and lasted approximately one hour each. Encrypted Zoom links were distributed by staff at Little Warriors and recordings were saved in a secured online file which is only accessible by research team members.

2.2.6 Children's quantitative data analysis

Intervention effects can be attributed to two elements in this context. First, the therapeutic environment of the program may have some effect. Second, any effect of one of the four treatment interventions may or may not have a carry-over effect. Optimally, cumulative effects of consecutive interventions or treatment rounds, would be reflected in increasing benefit, or sustained benefit. With that in mind, we tested cumulative intervention effects, comparing prepost measures across four treatment rounds. Any effect of the therapeutic milieu may be revealed by comparing the initial baseline to subsequent baseline and post-treatment measures. Given the limited sample size and preliminary nature of the study, we conducted both parametric analyses of the data. We opted for both of these approaches conservatively, as non-parametric analysis is independent of any data distribution assumptions. We decided to compare the initial baseline (taken at intake) to the pre-treatment and post-treatment measures.

A critical value of P=.05 was used for all aspects of quantitative analyses in this study. Only those participants who had complete data sets were included in the analyses.

2.2.6.1 Parametric analysis

A within-subjects repeated measures one-way analysis of variance was initially conducted across measures assessed at baseline (B1) and subsequent pre-treatment round measures (B2, B3, B4). One-tailed paired t-tests were used for individual comparisons.

The primary outcome measure was the CPSS. A cut-off score of 16 was used for the CPSS as a benchmark to separate the children who were in the subclinical-mild range and those who were above it. Normative data on CPSS scores were 11.02 (4.52) for boys and 11.84 (4.50) for girls (Stewart, 2012).

The present analysis included data from children who scored above 16 on the CPSS, which is the recommended cut-off to identify PTSD derived from a sample of children in hospitals following a single-incident trauma as well as children diagnosed with PTSD in traumatic stress clinics (Foa et al., 2001). The results for this subgroup of higher scoring primary outcome measure CPSS children were subject to further analysis on secondary outcome measures which were the RCADS, RSES, and KIDSCREEN-10.

2.2.6.2 Non-parametric analysis

Non-parametric analysis followed an equivalent data analysis plan whereby Friedman's two-way analysis of variance was used to compare overall effects for baseline, pre and post treatment data. Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used for individual comparisons.

2.2.7 Caregivers' qualitative thematic analysis

A qualitative thematic analysis was used to evaluate the attitudes and opinions of caregivers at Little Warriors. Two research team members analyzed the anonymized data. The two recorded sessions were transcribed, and thematically analyzed using Braun and Clarke's method (Braun and Clarke, 2006). Qualitative data analysis was systematically used to identify, analyze, and summarize themes in detail. Initial coding of transcripts was completed by two independent team members (JJ and HA) using an inductive approach, which ensured inter-rater reliability and conformability (Nowell et al., 2017; Lincoln and Guba, 1985). Inductive open codes were combined into preliminary themes and a larger team (AJG, PHS, YW, LSM) was engaged in an additional round of analysis on deductive coding that was guided by the study objectives. Regular meetings were scheduled for team discussion, code verification, resolution of discrepancies in coding, and confirmation of final themes in the thematic analysis. An audit trail of memos was used to verify decisions about themes and to maintain credibility as well as rigor throughout the thematic analysis (Koch 1994). Data saturation was determined with the two sessions as no new data were substantively being added to the thematic analysis (Fusch and Ness, 2015).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Children's quantitative data demographics

20 subjects had complete datasets and of that number, we only analyzed those scoring over the cut-off score of 16 on the CPSS, for a final of n=15. The average age (years) of the children at admission was 10.2 ± 1.6 . Among the sample, 13 children (86.7%) identified as female and two

(13.3%) identified as transgender. Further details regarding the demographics can be found in Table 1. Only statistically significant improvements are reported for each of the five outcome measures below.

Demographics	n=15
Mean age	10.2 ±
(years)	1.6
Median grade	5
year	
Gender:	
Female	13 (86.7%)
Transgender	2
-	(13.3%)
Identify as:	
Visible minority	1
	(6.7%)
LGBTQ2+	3
	(20.0%)
Person with disability	0
None of the	3
above	(20.0%)
Not answered	8
	(53.3%)

Table 1. Demographics for children's data analyzed.

Identify as5Indigenous(33.3%)

2.3.2 Children's quantitative data analysis

2.3.2.1 CPSS

The mean CPSS scores for each of the four pre-treatment round measures were 32.7 ± 8.9 , 25.9 ± 16.1 , 19.9 ± 14.0 , and 24.0 ± 15.0 , respectively. The mean CPSS scores for each of the four post-treatment round measures were 26.7 ± 13.5 , 22.7 ± 13.9 , 20.9 ± 13.5 , and 19.5 ± 13.6 , respectively. Treatment over time effects were significant across pre-treatment round measures for the within-subjects repeated measures one-way analysis of variance (degrees of freedom=1; *P*=.007). Treatment over time effects were significant across pre-treatment round measures for the Friedman test (degrees of freedom=1; *P*=.02). For parametric pairwise comparisons, B to pooled B2-B4 showed significant improvements on the CPSS (*P*=.009) as well as B to pooled P1-P4 (*P*=.002). For non-parametric pairwise comparisons, B to pooled B2-B4 showed significant improvements on the CPSS (*P*=.015).

2.3.2.2 RCADS-D

The mean RCADS-D scores for each of the four pre-treatment round measures were 18.5 ± 7.4 , 16.1 ± 9.3 , 15.8 ± 10.2 , and 16.4 ± 8.9 , respectively. The mean RCADS-D scores for each of the four post-treatment round measures were 15.5 ± 7.8 , 14.8 ± 8.9 , 14.7 ± 9.2 , and 13.9 ± 9.5 , respectively. For parametric pairwise comparisons, B to pooled B2-B4 showed significant improvements on the RCADS-D (*P*=.03) as well as B to pooled P1-P4 (*P*=.004). For non-parametric pairwise comparisons, B to pooled B2-B4 showed significant improvements on the RCADS-D (*P*=.045) as well as B to pooled P1-P4 (*P*=.01).

2.3.2.3 RCADS-A

The mean RCADS-A scores for each of the four pre-treatment round measures were 24.7 ± 8.0 , 20.5 ± 13.1 , 21.1 ± 13.6 , and 21.1 ± 11.8 , respectively. The mean RCADS-A scores for each of the four post-treatment round measures were 23.2 ± 11.6 , 19.4 ± 13.4 , 18.9 ± 13.5 , and 18.7 ± 12.1 , respectively. For parametric pairwise comparisons, B to pooled P1-P4 showed significant improvements on the RCADS-A (*P*=.028). For non-parametric pairwise comparisons, B to pooled P1-P4 did show significant improvements (*P*=.04).

2.3.2.4 KIDSCREEN

The mean KIDSCREEN scores for each of the four pre-treatment round measures were 24.3 \pm 8.6, 26.2 \pm 10.9, 25.9 \pm 10.5, and 25.1 \pm 12.2, respectively. The mean KIDSCREEN scores for each of the four post-treatment round measures were 25.3 \pm 7.4, 29.5 \pm 5.2, 26.9 \pm 10.4, and 27.6 \pm 10.1, respectively. For parametric pairwise comparisons, B to pooled P1-P4 did show significant improvements (*P*=.02).

2.3.2.5 RSES

The mean RSES scores for each of the four pre-treatment round measures were 14.9 ± 8.3 , 16.1 ± 8.6 , 15.9 ± 9.4 , and 15.3 ± 7.9 , respectively. The mean RSES scores for each of the four post-treatment round measures were 16.6 ± 8.3 , 16.9 ± 8.6 , 17.0 ± 9.2 , and 16.8 ± 8.6 , respectively.





2.3.3 Caregivers' qualitative data demographics

A total of 20 participants contributed to the qualitative data analyzed (Table 3). In the first hybrid webinar focus group session, five caregivers, two moderators (i.e., research team members), and two staff attended. In the second hybrid webinar focus group, six caregivers, three moderators (two of whom also attended the first session), and two staff (both of whom attended the first session) attended.

Hybrid webinar/focus	Caregiv	Moderat	Sta
groups	ers	ors	ff
Session 1	5	2	2
Session 2	6	3	2

Table 3. Caregivers (N=20) that attended the hybrid webinar/focus groups.

2.3.4 Caregivers' qualitative thematic analysis

The hybrid webinar focus groups conducted with two stakeholder groups, caregivers and Little Warriors staff, yielded several major themes. Themes include: (1) Challenges of starting and maintaining treatment, (2) Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment, and (3) Barriers and facilitators of treatment. These major themes and related sub-themes are summarized in Table 3 and are presented with greater detail along with supporting quotes in the following sections. The methodology for the thematic analysis, which has been described extensively in a previous paper, and the results presented below are adapted from a previous paper (Jin et al., 2022).

Table 4. Themes and subthemes from thematic analysis of caregivers' qualitative responses.

Themes	Sub-themes
Challenges of starting and maintaining treatment	Emotional burden of intake day Staying in treatment
Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment	Not feeling alone Feeling safe and supported Moral injury wounds

addressed

Trauma informed staff

Barriers and facilitators of treatment	Future areas to scale up
	Residual psychological
	wounds
	Challenges of maintaining
	self-care

1. Challenges of starting and maintaining treatment.

In this theme both caregivers and staff identified challenges of the children staying in treatment rounds until completion. These challenges are not surprising given the intensity of the children's trauma histories and the substantial commitment on the children to go to an unfamiliar place for several weeks away from friends and family. Sub-themes include: (1) Emotional burden of intake day and (2) Staying in treatment.

1.1 Emotional burden of intake day

Intake day was unanimously identified as an emotional day for both caregivers of Little Warriors and staff: "[I]t [intake day at Little Warriors] can be quite an emotional day as well as an exhausting day for our caregivers." (Staff, W1). There seems to be an emotional toll that many caregivers experience during intake day. Caregivers also pointed out the difficulty in saying goodbye to their child at the Little Warriors facility: "[T]he day [intake day] I had to leave him was very hard." (Caregiver, W2). One factor related to this was COVID-19 public health measures: "The drop off was hard no tour for us because it [of] COVID..." (Caregiver, W2). However, caregivers also mentioned that the burden of intake day was worth it, given how it helped their families and the fact that the interview process had adequate time: "[G]ot a call back right away. The interview was kind and empathetic, it wasn't rushed. And I felt listened to and I'm very appreciative..." (Caregiver, W2). One caregiver was relieved that there was in fact treatment available for children with a history of child sexual abuse: "[E]motional, but at the same time, felt relief, there was help out there." (Caregiver, W1). The fact that this multimodal treatment programming exists seems to offer families hope that their child can progress toward recovery even after severe early life adversity.

1.2 Staying in treatment

Since there is a high degree of heterogeneity in the Little Warriors population of child sexual abuse survivors, some families found that "[K]ids aren't quite ready for a program like the Be Brave Ranch." (Staff, W1). These readiness factors can be internal such as "[L]ots of homesickness." (Staff, W1) and also external in that "[D]istance can be a factor." (Staff, W1). Some children enter treatment but they have difficulties with retention as one caregiver said: "He [child in treatment] also called me every day for the first three weeks begging me to pick him up." (Caregiver, W2). Separating from their families in a new environment seems to be a difficulty that many children face at the start of treatment. Once again, there could be many factors associated with this as challenges could be other mental health difficulties: "[M]y daughter had to stop treatment after round two due to severe RAF, [RAD or reactive attachment disorder]..." (Caregiver, W1). Another factor included school where it is difficult to miss out on substantial schooling and falling behind peers in terms of grade level as well as emotional maturity: "[H]er peers are not familiar with hearing or seeing [the concept of voicing boundaries]." (Caregiver, W1).

2. Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment

Other than the challenges reported by caregivers and staff mentioned above, there were also several therapeutic benefits from the multimodal treatment. In this theme, both caregivers and staff identified specific areas that provided therapeutic benefits for children at Little Warriors. Little Warriors divides children into small cohorts and uses a multimodal approach where several different types of therapies are used throughout treatment. Given the nature of this multimodal programming, the benefits experienced makes sense since children have the opportunity to gravitate toward specific treatments that they find most helpful. Sub-themes include: (1) Not feeling alone, (2) Feeling safe and supported, (3) Moral injury wounds addressed, and (4) Trauma informed staff.

2.1 Not feeling alone

Child sexual abuse can be a severely isolating experience not only for children but also for their families. The high cost of feeling isolated is associated with a response to trauma, where children believe that they are the only one affected by abuse: "I found that my daughter finally didn't feel alone. She actually said to me that until she went to the Ranch, she thought she was the only kid this happened to which never even occurred to me that she wouldn't know other kids had been through this." (Caregiver, W1). As children come to Little Warriors and start interacting with their cohort, they realize that they are in fact not alone: "[S]o that they know that

they're not alone, they're able to have those connections, and hopefully build some sustaining peer support." (Caregiver, W2). It seems that the cohort approach helps to mitigate some of the harmful effects of child sexual abuse by creating a sense of safety and comfort for children: "So the smaller group setting was great to make her feel comfortable" (Caregivers, W2).

With the added burden of COVID-19 public health measures, children can be faced with difficulties in connecting with peers but Little Warriors has been able to still provide programming on-site with appropriate safety measures in place: "Our girl has been super lonely most times here at home. But she is now in school making a couple friends. So she is really looking forward to her socialization with her schoolmates." (Caregiver, W2).

2.2 Feeling safe and supported

A key factor that caregivers and staff identified to achieving optimal treatment outcomes is feeling safe. Clinicians at Little Warriors emphasize giving ample time to develop and foster rapport in efforts to support children: "[T]eens have a lot of time to really build that rapport relationship with us [...] and are able to slowly open up kind of out their own on their own time, which is something that isn't so available with other clinics..." (Staff, W1). It seems that having the resources to create a safe environment where children can gradually open up emotionally is important. It can be frightening and overwhelming to treatment that requires a big commitment so making sure families feel supported throughout the process and ensuring caregivers have space to ask questions is important: "[D]iscuss the progress in person, while they're awaiting kind of our care plan that we sent them after the treatment rounds. So it gives them something right away of what the kiddo has been working on. And then after the programming, it's, we always leave the door open..." (Staff, W2). Staff take efforts to fully inform families of the supportive environment by adapting tours to the COVID-19 virtual environment: "[T]hat's one piece I know through COVID that was a little tougher, just because we're limiting visitors as much as possible. But we do have that virtual tour online, which is really helpful..." (Staff, W1). Little Warriors helps to facilitate psychoeducation: "We can use a lot of the same language because the program helps even really young children talk about more mature concepts such as boundaries, mindfulness, self-care." (Caregivers, W1). The psychoeducation allows children to bring these skills back home and to continue their relationship with their caregivers at home: "[M]y daughter was able to voice boundaries..." (Caregivers, W1).

2.3 Moral injury wounds addressed

Children who have a history of multiple and prolonged incidents of abuse have enormous stress in their lives. Coming to an unknown treatment facility with strangers can be an added stressor
for children. Due to these factors, the road to recovery is a gradual process: "So we really want to give them that long period of time to just ease into it, because you can't rush that healing." (Staff, W2). One topic that arose across caregivers was the devastating impact of shame associated with child sexual abuse that was adequately addressed in treatment: "But what really worked was strategies he was taught at the Ranch, they totally took the shame out of his pain. As he moved forward, this was one of the most important things." (Caregivers, W2). It seems that the multimodal treatment approach was effective in addressing issues related to the construct of moral injury in terms of shame specifically. The careful attention resources dedicated to addressing psychological wounds at Little Warriors helps build resilience in children: "And it [incident of child sexual abuse] doesn't define them." (Caregivers, W1).

2.4 Trauma informed staff

The staff at Little Warriors have specialized trauma-informed training to manage crises: "[W]e're always getting trained in different types of trainings. So [...] trauma one on one, I think just the structuring of the program itself is really trauma informed..." (Staff, W2). The staff value their own mental health as well which serves as great models for the children they interact with onsite: "[O]ur staff sanctuary. So that's where the staff can go to really just ground themselves in between breaks or wherever they might have some time to do that. In addition to those debriefs, I think, I think most of the participants know this, but every fifth week, we actually don't have any children or youth on site." (Staff, W2). It seems that having respite weeks with no treatment programming is important to maintaining the wellbeing of staff and to avoid burnout. A key principle of trauma informed care is to foster empowerment in patients which in turn sets the stage for establishing trustworthiness: "[T]he staff, they were kind, responsive, observant, understanding and still firm and what they expected from my child. programs are only as good as the staff that run it from another participant top notch therapy, caring and knowledgeable staff, again, on the clinical staff side." (Caregivers, W2). The staff themselves are "[E]xtremely specialized in sexual abuse" (Caregivers, W1) and co-therapists such as therapy dogs were identified as being helpful: "[R]ugby [name of therapy dog] was definitely a huge benefit for my son, too." (Caregivers, W2).

3. Barriers and facilitators of treatment

From the therapeutic benefits mentioned above, caregivers and staff reported examples of factors that hindered as well as facilitated treatment progress. In this theme, both caregivers and staff pointed out specific factors that got in the way of the treatment for their child as well as factors that need to be scaled up in the future to facilitate treatment outcomes. Factors identified

in this theme related to the children's wellbeing, resources at Little Warriors, and staff. Subthemes include: (1) Future areas to scale up, (2) Residual psychological wounds, (3) Challenges of maintaining self-care.

3.1 Future areas to scale up

Despite the enormous benefits that caregivers and staff identified at Little Warriors, there were some areas that need scaling up: "And it's [...] difficult to find some of those resources and even posts, post treatment or post program. There's still areas where this individual is acting out." (Caregiver, W1). In terms of resources, this may be addressed by re-allocation of existing resources to better support family's post-treatment or it could be related to the need for additional resources through the government: "[We want] Government funding for the Ranch." (Caregiver, W2). Ensuring that schools have counselors can be of benefit to children as they make the transition back to school post-therapy: "...[A] school counselor can help be a mending piece between a client or like a kiddo....So I found what generally when our kids are connected with a school counselor, it appears like they're more at ease with school, and they generally feel a lot more connected to their school." (Staff, W1). There were some programs that were postponed due to COVID-19, but future programming can be more inclusive of a virtual environment: "Yes, I was super excited to hear about Indigenous elder coming to the camp. But I was sad, it could not happen with [...] COVID. Yeah, so hopefully, things can open up again and have that inclusion because it does really sound valuable." (Caregiver, W2). It seems that cultural activities are valued and received well by families at Little Warriors.

3.2 Residual psychological wounds

Due to the nature of trauma in child sexual abuse, there can often be residual psychological wounds: "[W]hen we work through trauma, and in kind of going through that process, [...] it can be kind of a roller coaster, right. And a lot of the times once people start kind of getting into some of that therapeutic work, it can look like a digression." (Staff, W1). It seems that treatment progress is not linear and this is not surprising given the severity of trauma these children experience. Some children may have persisting difficulties with peers: "We notice through that she's still struggling with empathy. But we hope this being her final round will help her to come around. Fingers crossed." (Caregiver, W2). Others want to leave treatment early to go back home: "[O]ur daughter wanted to go home. That was really hard, but she ended up working through it and stayed." (Caregivers, W2). In light of these interpersonal challenges, sometimes persevering through them with the support of a trauma informed staff and supportive family is the best course of action to facilitate recovery: "[W]hen there are times of her daughter calling

home crying about when there was a disagreement with another cohort that they're able to work through. And the following day, they [...] would call and say that everything was fine. She was okay to stay." (Caregivers, W2). When supported well, this can be one positive step forward in making their child more resilient in the face of difficulties ahead such as going to court: "So my daughter has had to go to court... So she can trust that she can speak without fear [...] of that trust being ripped away again." (Caregivers, W1).

3.3 Challenges of maintaining self-care

Staff spend time educating what self-care is to children by clearing up misconceptions around how to practice it daily: "We have kids that think self-care can only be bubble baths. And so teaching them like no, like, there's things that you can do outside of that for self-care and getting them to internally reflect and learn how to take care of themselves, really, without relying on outside things." (Staff, W1). Staff also model self-care themselves: "[W]e debrief how the month have gone, if anything personally came up for us, we take time to engage in self-care, we have lots and lots of meetings about what had gone on that last month, what we might be able to do better next month, lots of team building..." (Staff, W2). It seems that the self-care skills that staff are trained with play an important role in protecting against things such as burnout and vicarious trauma. Through educating and modelling, staff communicate to children and families about the importance of maintaining self-care as it relates to emotional regulation as well as wellness in general: "Like we always say like cost should never affect your self-care." (Staff, W1).

2.4 Discussion

The primary objective of this study was to assess the long-term effectiveness of an evidencebased complex multimodal treatment program specifically designed to treat CSA survivors aged 8-12. Significant long-term improvements in CPSS, RCADS-D, RCADS-A, and KIDSCREEN were reported in children from our pooled analysis. These results bolster and further the initial preliminary findings showing that significant mental health outcomes were achieved from round one and round two treatment (Reeson et al., 2022). The secondary objective was to assess the attitudes and opinions of caregivers of CSA survivors. Themes from our thematic analysis complement the positive preliminary long-term findings that we found in our quantitative data analysis for the multimodal treatment program.

2.4.1 Impact of multimodal treatment on CSA survivors

The effectiveness of a multimodal treatment on CSA survivors in the present study was demonstrated as significant improvements in children were observed on the CPSS, RCADS-D, RCADS-A, and KIDSCREEN validated measures from baseline to discharge over the course of the one year long treatment. There are many variables and aspects to account for in a multimodal treatment program at a residential facility, but based on previous literature (Reeson et al., 2020) the significant improvements observed in children are likely a consequence of the multimodal approach used. For instance, recent neurobiological evidence (LeDoux & Pine, 2016; Ogden, 2021) and trauma therapies such as somatic experiencing (Levine, 2012), sensorimotor psychotherapy (Ogden and Minton, 2000), EMDR (Shapiro & Laliotism 2011), accelerated resolution therapy (Kip et al., 2012) show that a more holistic approach, inclusive of understanding the heterogeneity in responses to trauma, are promising. Be Brave Ranch does not administer all of the aforementioned therapies, but their therapeutic milieu was designed with trauma informed care principles in mind. Their choice of therapies is also multimodal which shows that there is an understanding of the benefits of body oriented therapeutic approaches as well as how trauma can affect a vast sequelae, including somatic symptoms (Corrigan and Hull, 2015). The multimodal treatment environment also allows children to explore a variety of interventions until they find one that best suits their needs. These considerations are especially important in light of the dearth of treatment options systematically studied for CSA survivors as well as the severity of long-term outcomes associated with CSA. Future research is warranted to understand the benefits of the specific aspects in the Be Brave Ranch multimodal approach.

One factor to note is the high degree of heterogeneity in the present sample of participants in treatment. Many children identified as Indigenous and this is an important consideration as Indigenous children have significantly increased risk of mental health disorders, substance use, and suicide, compared to non-Indigenous children (Lopez-Carmen et al., 2019; Nelson & Wilson, 2017). A diverse set of gender identities were also disclosed by the present study sample and this is an important consideration given recent evidence that having parents/guardians who believe in gender stereotyped attitudes can result in poor mental health outcomes for gender nonconforming children (MacMullin et al., 2021). Such challenges call for culturally appropriate, inclusive care for therapeutic approaches in CSA survivors, which is a highly sensitive population to begin with. The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMSHA) and various trauma-informed care outcome studies demonstrate the effectiveness of using trauma-informed care implementation in a variety of healthcare settings (Bryson et al., 2017; Huang et al., 2014). From their five key principles, one notable priority is creating a sense of safety. This is reflected in the multimodal approach at the Be Brave Ranch.

One of the key areas of focus in creating the therapeutic milieu as well as treatment setting was to create a safe environment. A Ranch-like setting was chosen so that children would feel welcome and be able to have the best chance of reaching recovery within a positive, supportive environment. Be Brave Ranch also utilizes a variety of diverse cultural activities such as Indigenous elder teachings and smudging. Staff are very supportive of allowing children to express their gender identities and to learn how to navigate positive interpersonal relationships. It is interesting to note that the RSES measure did not show significant improvements, although there was a positive trend toward improvement from baseline to final discharge over the yearlong comprehensive multimodal treatment. There is evidence suggesting that self-esteem becomes more stable and crystallized as you get older (Krauss et al., 2020). Also, previous literature has shown an inverse relationship between sexual abuse and self-esteem, in that adolescents with greater severity of abuse history have lower self-esteem (Okunlola et al., 2021). The deleterious effects of lowered self-esteem in CSA survivors have also been shown to have long-lasting consequences (Browne & Finkelhor, 1986). Given the severity of the average child's trauma history in the present children sample, it is unsurprising that self-esteem did not significantly improve in the course of the one-year long treatment-although previous data have shown short term improvements in self-esteem after two weeks of treatment in the same program (Reeson et al., 2020). This finding may highlight the acute effects of treatment, but it also suggests the need for long-term follow-up and longitudinal treatment to maintain these initial positive improvements on the RSES.

2.4.2 Impact of multimodal treatment on caregivers of CSA survivors

Previous literature has found that treatment retention can be difficult when working with traumatized youth (Ormhaug & Jensen, 2018). Ormhaug and Jensen's study found out a 25% dropout rate was predicted by lack of caregiver attendance, lower rates of youth perceived parental treatment approval, and weaker therapist-client alliance. Our findings in the theme, "Challenges of maintaining treatment," complement these previous findings around retention as caregivers reported children often being homesick and wanting to go home without completing treatment in its entirety. These considerations highlight the importance of developing a quality caregiver-child relationship and ensuring that caregivers play an active role in treatment programming as a modifiable pathway to ultimately increase treatment retention (e.g., making regular time to call their child during treatment, and helping their children understand the importance of completing treatment). Be Brave Ranch is also actively looking to scale up and assess ways to further support caregivers, such as the Be Brave Bridge, which is an online

support and psychoeducational program to help caregivers understand CSA better. When caregivers are informed, they are in a better position to support their child and to advocate for the treatment completion (Theimer et al., 2020). These are examples of how the infrastructure of Be Brave Ranch was designed to be in line with the attachment and dyadic health literature (Cooke et al., 2019; Reeson et al., 2020).

Issues related to shame are pertinent when it comes to matters of CSA. A scoping review found adverse effects of CSA-related shame on adult survivors of the health, relationships, disclosure, self-concept, and recovery (MacGinley et al., 2019). One construct that is associated with shame is moral injury (MI) (Schwartz et al., 2021; Vermetten & Jetly, 2018). Although the MI literature has focused primarily on military populations up until now (McEwen et al., 2020), they can still be helpful for laying a groundwork for understanding how MI may affect wellness in younger civilian populations with a history of significant trauma. Our findings complement previous literature in that shame can be harmful for wellness. Findings in our theme, "Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment," indicate that the Be Brave Ranch's multimodal treatment programming adequately addressed feelings of shame. This is likely a consequence of creating an environment that is safe –a key principle in trauma informed care (Huang et al., 2014) Additionally, one factor that is suspected to exacerbate shame is social isolation and the cohort approach at Be Brave Ranch likely plays a contributing role to reducing shame and ensuring that CSA survivors do not feel that they are alone in their trauma (Jinkerson, 2016). Future research is warranted to assess MI specifically in both children and caregivers of CSA and to adapt existing MI interventions to child populations.

A recent review found that secondary traumatic stress in mental health professionals is prominent (Sutton et al., 2022). Protective factors included supportive supervisor relationships, strong peer support networks, having a balanced caseload, and having an organizational culture which acknowledges and validates the existence of secondary traumatic stress. It is interesting to note that secondary traumatic stress, or related terms such as vicarious trauma and compassion fatigue, were not explicitly mentioned by staff that care for CSA survivors in the present study, but self-care, however, was mentioned as a key to facilitator to staff wellness in the theme, "Barriers and facilitators of treatment." Our findings complement previous literature on the importance of incorporating preventative self-care and integrating self-care techniques directly into clinical training programs as a quality assurance process of mental health organizations (Posluns & Gall, 2020; Rupert & Dorociak, 2019). This consideration can be one positive step toward removing barriers to treatment outcomes, as reported in our thematic analysis. Be Brave Ranch uses "refresh weeks" which are weeks of respite with no treatment

programming operating and no children on site. These weeks were placed throughout the year in order to help staff debrief, engage in self-care, and incorporate a trauma informed approach in terms of supporting staff stress load (Priest & Ryke, 2020).

2.4.3 Limitations

The study presents positive preliminary findings for long-term outcomes of a multimodal treatment program. However, the quantitative results require replication and there are several limitations. First a small sample size was used so there is limited power for the quantitative results. Corrections for multiple group testing were not used so findings must not be overgeneralized. Second, one cohort of children restarted round one treatment (as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic), so they were technically outside of the year-long treatment window, indicating the confound of treatment and time. Due to the nature of the longitudinal episodic treatment, this is a limitation of children of the nature of children being in treatment. Third, selfreport was used so this bias affects the accuracy of symptom assessment and treatment progress. Fourth, there are many variables across time that will have an impact on the quality of the caregiver-child relationship. Several factors are noted with one prominent one being pandemic illnesses, such as the SARS-CoV-2-pandemic, which undoubtedly has had an impact on families in this context (Köhler-Dauner et al., 2021). However, the literature is relatively sparse and needs more work, especially around the impact of both pre-pandemic and pandemic-related stressors on health outcomes. The present study did not account for largescale disasters such as COVID-19, but the negative mental health effects on families are recognized. For instance, from a national sample in the United States in the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic, results from a study show that parents and guardians who reported higher caregiving burden also reported higher anxiety, depression, and parent perceived child stress (Russell et al., 2021). These caregiver burden, mental health, and child perception of stress associations were, in turn, significantly associated with child-parent closeness and conflict, which indicate a "spillover" effect for parents struggling with mental health problems onto their child.

2.4.4 Future Directions

Future investigation with a larger sample size is warranted. The quality of the caregiver-child dyadic relationship can also be assessed, along with other factors such as attachment, where children's outcome data can be linked to their respective parent/guardian qualitative outcome data. Caregivers can be asked about MI specifically in order to understand how issues related to shame and guilt affect wellness in families affected by CSA. Finally, clinician-rated measures

can be added to enhance the accuracy of symptom assessment. These considerations for the future will serve to verify the preliminary long-term findings found in the present study.

2.4.5 Conclusion

This mixed methods paper presents findings supporting the effectiveness of a long-term multimodal treatment program for children as well as major and minor themes that arose from qualitative thematic analysis of caregiver responses. Based on our quantitative findings, the multimodal treatment program has long-term benefits for children over the course of a one-year long treatment, but further studies with larger samples and multiple comparisons corrections tests are warranted. The qualitative thematic analysis showed that there are several strengths as well as areas of future improvement for the multimodal treatment program in the supporting specific role of caregivers. Future studies further assessing the quality of the caregiver-child relationship through interviews and focus groups as well as how to better support issues related to MI are recommended in families affected by CSA.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the staff at Little Warriors (Jillian McNeil and Kailey Redmann) and Tracey Campbell at the University of Alberta for their assistance.

Funding

This work was supported by funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CG Scholarship to JJ) and the Alberta Innovates Graduate Student Scholarship (AI-GSS).

Disclosure Statement

The authors report there are no competing interests to declare.

2.5 References

- Boullier, M., & Blair, M. (2018). Adverse childhood experiences. *Paediatrics and Child Health*, 28(3), 132-137.
- Bagley, C., & Mallick, K. (2001). Normative data and mental health construct validity for the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale in British Adolescents. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 9(2-3), 117-126.
- Barroso, N. E., Mendez, L., Graziano, P. A., & Bagner, D. M. (2018). Parenting stress through the lens of different clinical groups: A systematic review & meta-analysis. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, *46*(3), 449-461.
- 4. Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101.
- 5. Browne, A., & Finkelhor, D. (1986). Impact of child sexual abuse: The literature. *Psychological Bulletin, 99*, 66-77.
- Bryson, S. A., Gauvin, E., Jamieson, A., Rathgeber, M., Faulkner-Gibson, L., Bell, S., ... & Burke, S. (2017). What are effective strategies for implementing trauma-informed care in youth inpatient psychiatric and residential treatment settings? A realist systematic review. *International journal of mental health systems*, *11*(1), 1-16.
- Chen, L. P., Murad, M. H., Paras, M. L., Colbenson, K. M., Sattler, A. L., Goranson, E. N., ... & Zirakzadeh, A. (2010, July). Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders: systematic review and meta-analysis. *In Mayo clinic proceedings* (Vol. 85, No. 7, pp. 618-629). Elsevier.
- 8. Cheung, M. C. (2016). Effectiveness of attention bias modification treatment for children with social anxiety problem. *HKU Theses Online* (HKUTO).
- Chorpita, B. F., Moffitt, C. E., & Gray, J. (2005). Psychometric properties of the Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale in a clinical sample. *Behaviour research and therapy*, *43*(3), 309-322.
- Cooke, J. E., Kochendorfer, L. B., Stuart-Parrigon, K. L., Koehn, A. J., & Kerns, K. A. (2019). Parent–child attachment and children's experience and regulation of emotion: A meta-analytic review. *Emotion*, *19*(6), 1103.
- 11. Corrigan, F. M., & Hull, A. M. (2015). Neglect of the complex: why psychotherapy for post-traumatic clinical presentations is often ineffective. *BJPsych bulletin, 39*(2), 86-89.
- 12. Cowell, J., & Harvie, M. (2012, December). HQCA: Building a credible, transparent, and independent healthcare quality and safety organization in Alberta. *In Healthcare*

Management Forum (Vol. 25, No. 4, pp. 185-187). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.

- Creswell, C., Violato, M., Fairbanks, H., White, E., Parkinson, M., Abitabile, G., ... & Cooper, P. J. (2017). Clinical outcomes and cost-effectiveness of brief guided parentdelivered cognitive behavioural therapy and solution-focused brief therapy for treatment of childhood anxiety disorders: a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 4(7), 529-539.
- 14. de Figueiredo, C. S., Sandre, P. C., Portugal, L. C. L., Mázala-de-Oliveira, T., da Silva Chagas, L., Raony, Í., ... & Bomfim, P. O. S. (2021). COVID-19 pandemic impact on children and adolescents' mental health: Biological, environmental, and social factors. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, *106*, 110171.
- 15. Dulcan, M. K. (Ed.). (2021). Dulcan's textbook of child and adolescent psychiatry. *American Psychiatric Pub.*
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., ... & Marks, J. S. (2019). Reprint of: relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: the adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *56*(6), 774-786.
- Foa, E. B., Johnson, K. M., Feeny, N. C., & Treadwell, K. R. (2001). The Child PTSD Symptom Scale: A preliminary examination of its psychometric properties. *Journal of clinical child psychology*, *30*(3), 376-384.
- 18. Fusch Ph D, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.
- 19. Hailes, H. P., Yu, R., Danese, A., & Fazel, S. (2019). Long-term outcomes of childhood sexual abuse: an umbrella review. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *6*(10), 830-839.
- 20. Huang, L. N., Flatow, R., Biggs, T., Afayee, S., Smith, K., Clark, T., & Blake, M. (2014). SAMHSA's Concept of Truama and Guidance for a Trauma-Informed Approach.
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., ... & Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*, *2*(8), e356-e366.
- 22. James, A. C., Reardon, T., Soler, A., James, G., & Creswell, C. (2020). Cognitive behavioural therapy for anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, (11).
- 23. Jin, J., Al-Shamali, H., Reeson, M., Silverstone, P., Pazderka, H., Wei, Y., & Greenshaw,A. (2022) Innovative recruitment using a hybrid webinar/focus group format: Caregiver-

child dyads in child sexual abuse [Unpublished manuscript], Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta.

- 24. Jin, J., Smith-MacDonald, L., Al-Shamali, H., Reeson, M., Pazderka, H., Li, X., Polzin, W., Wei, Y., Silverstone, P., & Greenshaw, A. (2022). Multimodal treatment for sexual abuse survivors: Mixed-methods results indicate benefits for children and caregivers [Unpublished manuscript]. Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta.
- 25. Jinkerson, J. D. (2016). Defining and assessing moral injury: A syndrome perspective. *Traumatology*, *22*(2), 122.
- 26. Kealy, D., Rice, S. M., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., & Spidel, A. (2018). Childhood trauma and somatic symptoms among psychiatric outpatients: Investigating the role of shame and guilt. *Psychiatry research*, 268, 169-174.
- 27. Kip, K. E., Elk, C. A., Sullivan, K. L., Kadel, R., Lengacher, C. A., Long, C. J., ... & Diamond, D. M. (2012). Brief treatment of symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) by use of accelerated resolution therapy (ART®). *Behavioral Sciences, 2*(2), 115-134.
- Klaufus, L., Verlinden, E., Van Der Wal, M., Kösters, M., Cuijpers, P., & Chinapaw, M. (2020). Psychometric evaluation of two short versions of the Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale. *BMC psychiatry*, *20*(1), 1-12.
- 29. Koch, T. (1994). Establishing rigour in qualitative research: the decision trail. *Journal of advanced nursing*, *19*(5), 976-986.
- Köhler-Dauner, F., Clemens, V., Lange, S., Ziegenhain, U., & Fegert, J. M. (2021). Mothers' daily perceived stress influences their children's mental health during SARS-CoV-2-pandemic—an online survey. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health, 15*(1), 1-9.
- Krauss, S., Orth, U., & Robins, R. W. (2020). Family environment and self-esteem development: A longitudinal study from age 10 to 16. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *119*(2), 457. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000263.
- 32. Lazarus, A. A., & Lazarus, A. A. (2019). Multimodal therapy. Handbook of psychotherapy integration, 2.
- 33. Lebowitz, E. R., Marin, C., Martino, A., Shimshoni, Y., & Silverman, W. K. (2020). Parent-based treatment as efficacious as cognitive-behavioral therapy for childhood anxiety: A randomized noninferiority study of supportive parenting for anxious childhood emotions. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 59*(3), 362-372.

- 34. LeDoux, J. E., & Pine, D. S. (2016). Using neuroscience to help understand fear and anxiety: a two-system framework. *American journal of psychiatry.*
- 35. Levine, P. (2012). Somatic experiencing.
- Lincoln, Y. S., Guba, E. G., & Pilotta, J. J. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry Newbury Park. Cal. Sage.
- Lo, C. K., Chan, K. L., & Ip, P. (2019). Insecure adult attachment and child maltreatment: A meta-analysis. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 20*(5), 706-719.
- Lopez-Carmen, V., McCalman, J., Benveniste, T., Askew, D., Spurling, G., Langham, E., & Bainbridge, R. (2019). Working together to improve the mental health of indigenous children: A systematic review. *Children and Youth Services Review, 104*, 104408.
- Lotzin, A., Lu, X., Kriston, L., Schiborr, J., Musal, T., Romer, G., & Ramsauer, B. (2015).
 Observational tools for measuring parent–infant interaction: A systematic review. *Clinical child and family psychology review*, *18*(2), 99-132.
- 40. Macdonald, G., Livingstone, N., Hanratty, J., McCartan, C., Cotmore, R., Cary, M., ... & Churchill, R. (2016). The effectiveness, acceptability and cost-effectiveness of psychosocial interventions for maltreated children and adolescents: an evidence synthesis. *Health technology assessment (Winchester, England)*, 20(69).
- 41. MacGinley, M., Breckenridge, J., & Mowll, J. (2019). A scoping review of adult survivors' experiences of shame following sexual abuse in childhood. *Health & social care in the community*, *27*(5), 1135-1146.
- 42. MacMullin, L. N., Bokeloh, L. M., Nabbijohn, A. N., Santarossa, A., van der Miesen, A. I., Peragine, D. E., & VanderLaan, D. P. (2021). Examining the relation between gender nonconformity and psychological well-being in children: The roles of peers and parents. *Archives of Sexual Behavior, 50*(3), 823-841.
- 43. Maniglio, R. (2009). The impact of child sexual abuse on health: A systematic review of reviews. *Clinical psychology review, 29*(7), 647-657.
- 44. Martin, E. K., & Silverstone, P. H. (2013). How much child sexual abuse is "below the surface," and can we help adults identify it early?. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *4*, 58.
- 45. McEwen, C., Alisic, E., & Jobson, L. (2021). Moral injury and mental health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Traumatology*, *27*(3), 303.
- 46. Murphy, S. M., Chowdhury, U., White, S. W., Reynolds, L., Donald, L., Gahan, H., ... & Press, D. A. (2017). Cognitive behaviour therapy versus a counselling intervention for anxiety in young people with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders: a pilot

randomised controlled trial. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 47*(11), 3446-3457.

- Nataliya, I., & Wingo, N. (2018). Applying Mixed Methods In Action Research: Methodological Potentials and Advantages: Prod. *The American Behavioral Scientist,* 62(7), 978-997.
- Nelson, S. E., & Wilson, K. (2017). The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. *Social Science & Medicine*, *176*, 93-112.
- Nixon, R. D., Meiser-Stedman, R., Dalgleish, T., Yule, W., Clark, D. M., Perrin, S., & Smith, P. (2013). The Child PTSD Symptom Scale: an update and replication of its psychometric properties. *Psychological assessment*, *25*(3), 1025.
- 50. Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International journal of qualitative methods*, *16*(1), 1609406917733847.
- Ogden, P., & Minton, K. (2000). Sensorimotor psychotherapy: One method for processing traumatic memory. *Traumatology*, 6(3), 149-173.
- 52. Ogden, P. (2021). The different impact of trauma and relational stress on physiology, posture, and movement: Implications for treatment. *European Journal of Trauma & Dissociation, 5*(4), 100172.
- Okunlola, O. B., Odukoya, J. A., & Gesinde, A. M. (2021). Outcomes of sexual abuse on self-esteem among adolescents: A systematic review. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 7(1), 1856296.
- 54. Ormhaug, S. M., & Jensen, T. K. (2018). Investigating treatment characteristics and firstsession relationship variables as predictors of dropout in the treatment of traumatized youth. *Psychotherapy Research*, 28(2), 235-249.
- *55.* Petruccelli, D. Berman (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and associated health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Abuse and Neglect.*
- 56. Posluns, K., & Gall, T. L. (2020). Dear mental health practitioners, take care of yourselves: A literature review on self-care. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling*, 42(1), 1-20.
- 57. Priest, N., & Ryke, E. (2020). The influence of specialised training on the experience of compassion fatigue and compassion satisfaction among social workers conducting child sexual abuse investigations. *Child Abuse Research in South Africa, 21*(1), 10-19.

- Pulverman, C. S., Kilimnik, C. D., & Meston, C. M. (2018). The impact of childhood sexual abuse on women's sexual health: A comprehensive review. *Sexual Medicine Reviews, 6*(2), 188-200.
- Ravens-Sieberer, U., Erhart, M., Rajmil, L., Herdman, M., Auquier, P., Bruil, J., ... & Kilroe, J. (2010). Reliability, construct and criterion validity of the KIDSCREEN-10 score: a short measure for children and adolescents' well-being and health-related quality of life. *Quality of life research*, *19*(10), 1487-1500.
- Rees, S., Channon, S., & Waters, C. S. (2019). The impact of maternal prenatal and postnatal anxiety on children's emotional problems: a systematic review. *European child* & adolescent psychiatry, 28(2), 257-280.
- 61. Reeson, M., Polzin, W., Pazderka, H., Agyapong, V., Greenshaw, A. J., Hnatko, G., ... & Silverstone, P. H. (2020). A novel 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors is associated with mental health benefits for females aged 13–16. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 29(3), 165.
- 62. Reeson, M., Polzin, W., Pazderka, H., Agyapong, V., Greenshaw, A. J., Hnatko, G., Wei, Y., Syzmanski, L., & Silverstone, P. H. (2022). The COVID-19 pandemic negatively impacted treatment outcomes in a complex multimodal treatment program designed for youth child sexual abuse survivors [Manuscript submitted for publication]. Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta.
- Reigada, L. C., Polokowski, A. R., Walder, D. J., Szigethy, E. M., Benkov, K. J., Bruzzese, J. M., & Masia Warner, C. (2015). Treatment for comorbid pediatric gastrointestinal and anxiety disorders: A pilot study of a flexible health sensitive cognitive-behavioral therapy program. *Clinical Practice in Pediatric Psychology, 3*(4), 314.
- Rupert, P. A., & Dorociak, K. E. (2019). Self-care, stress, and well-being among practicing psychologists. Professional Psychology: *Research and Practice, 50*(5), 343.
- 65. Russell, B. S., Hutchison, M., Tambling, R., Tomkunas, A. J., & Horton, A. L. (2020). Initial challenges of caregiving during COVID-19: Caregiver burden, mental health, and the parent–child relationship. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development, 51*(5), 671-682.
- 66. Salum, G. A., Petersen, C. S., Jarros, R. B., Toazza, R., DeSousa, D., Borba, L. N., ... & Manfro, G. G. (2018). Group cognitive behavioral therapy and attention bias modification for childhood anxiety disorders: a factorial randomized trial of efficacy. *Journal of child and adolescent psychopharmacology*, 28(9), 620-630.

- 67. Sánchez-Meca, J., Rosa-Alcázar, A. I., & López-Soler, C. (2011). The psychological treatment of sexual abuse in children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. *International journal of clinical and health psychology*, *11*(1), 67-93.
- Schönbucher, V., Maier, T., Mohler-Kuo, M., Schnyder, U., & Landolt, M. A. (2012). Disclosure of child sexual abuse by adolescents: A qualitative in-depth study. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *27*(17), 3486-3513.
- Scheer, J. R., Edwards, K. M., Sheinfil, A. Z., Dalton, M. R., Firkey, M. K., & Watson, R. J. (2021). Interpersonal victimization, substance use, and mental health among sexual and gender minority youth: the role of self-concept factors. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 08862605211035868.
- Shapiro, F., & Laliotis, D. (2011). EMDR and the adaptive information processing model: Integrative treatment and case conceptualization. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 39(2), 191-200.
- 71. Silk, J. S., Tan, P. Z., Ladouceur, C. D., Meller, S., Siegle, G. J., McMakin, D. L., ... & Ryan, N. D. (2018). A randomized clinical trial comparing individual cognitive behavioral therapy and child-centered therapy for child anxiety disorders. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 47(4), 542-554.
- 72. Stewart, R. (2012). Construct Validity Of The Child PTSD Symptom Scale.
- Sutton, L., Rowe, S., Hammerton, G., & Billings, J. (2022). The contribution of organisational factors to vicarious trauma in mental health professionals: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology, 13*(1), 2022278.
- Theimer, K., Mii, A. E., Sonnen, E., McCoy, K., Meidlinger, K., Biles, B., ... & Hansen, D. J. (2020). Identifying and addressing barriers to treatment for child sexual abuse survivors and their non-offending caregivers. *Aggression and violent behavior, 52*, 101418.
- 75. Vermetten, E., & Jetly, R. (2018). A critical outlook on combat-related PTSD: review and case reports of guilt and shame as drivers for moral injury. *Military Behavioral Health, 6*(2), 156-164.

Connection between Chapters 2 and 3

In addition to limited treatment options available for CSA survivors overall, there is also limited evidence on how to effectively engage with and recruit sensitive populations and their families to clinical research studies. New methods and approaches are needed in order to ethically and effectively recruit patients in health studies. In order to better treat and develop innovative future interventions for child psychiatry, this next chapter describes a novel method of participant recruitment within the context of a residential treatment facility for CSA survivors.

Introduction to Chapter 3

During discussions with our supervisor committee, the idea of an innovative hybrid webinar/focus group arose. This innovative recruitment technique uses video conferencing technology and anonymized question and answer responses to ethically and effectively engage with caregivers of CSA survivors. These principles were designed and carried out with traumainformed care in mind (i.e., patient safety, anonymity, ensuring the voices of survivors are heard). We demonstrate the success of our virtual approach in a sample of caregivers that was within the range of previously recommended focus group sizes, despite COVID-19 health measures restricting in person gatherings. The results from the study can be applicable to settings much beyond CSA survivors and has implications for other empirical studies that require recruitment in sensitive populations.

Chapter 3. Innovative recruitment using a hybrid webinar/focus group format: Caregiver-child dyads in child sexual abuse

Jonathan Jin, BSc^{1*}, Huda Al-Shamali, BSc¹, Matthew Reeson, BSc¹, Yifeng Wei, PhD¹, Hannah Pazderka, PhD^{1,2}, Peter H. Silverstone, MD¹, Andrew J. Greenshaw, PhD¹

- 1. Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada
- 2. Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch, Edmonton Alberta, Canada

Corresponding Author*

Abstract

Background: Challenges with participant recruitment in health research have been compounded by COVID-19 measures restricting in-person gatherings.

Objectives: To present a novel and innovative approach to participant recruitment in both health studies and beyond.

Methods: This study was conducted with caregivers of child sexual abuse survivors (CSA) at a residential treatment facility. Two hybrid webinar/focus groups were conducted using a video conferencing platform in fall of 2021 with two groups of stakeholders (i.e., caregivers of CSA survivors and clinical staff at Little Warriors residential treatment facility) evaluating the treatment program. Sessions were recorded, transcribed, and thematically-analyzed using standard qualitative methodology.

Results: There were 20 participants. Themes include: (1) Challenges of starting and maintaining treatment, (2) Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment, and (3) Barriers and facilitators of treatment.

Conclusion: The present hybrid webinar/focus group was a unique way to stimulate recruitment in a sensitive population within the context of COVID-19. This approach offered an ethical way to engage with caregivers of CSA survivors and provided them value in the form of information on future advancements in clinical programming. Efforts to replicate this approach in other contexts are needed to continue finding ways to efficiently recruit and collect data.

Key words: webinar, focus group, child sexual abuse, caregivers, recruitment

3.1 Introduction

Participant recruitment can be difficult when conducting health related research and in psychiatry specifically (Boland et al., 2015; Treweek et al., 2018). Some of the complexities that contribute to recruitment difficulties include burden and intrusiveness of study measures, drop out and implications on study power, patients doubting how they can benefit, patients being concerned about their own health, limited resources in terms of patients' time, and vulnerable populations being concerned about confidentiality (Liu et al., 2018). The COVID-19 pandemic poses an additional challenge to recruitment since many countries face varying degrees of public health measures centered around limiting in-person interactions (Bonardi et al., 2020).

For vulnerable populations, such as child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors, recruitment as well as engagement in general is doubly challenging due to stigma surrounding families (i.e., abuse occurring at the time when the caregiver was the legal guardian (Kennedy & Prock, 2018). Establishing trust is particularly important when engaging CSA survivors and their families, though this can be facilitated, in part, by protecting the anonymity of children as well as caregivers (Andalibi et al., 2018; Brennan & McElvaney, 2020).

To address these aforementioned challenges, a Cochrane review found a variety of recruitment strategies for trials (Treweek et al., 2018). Among the limited studies that actually evaluated recruitment effectiveness, using open trials and telephone reminders was found to increase recruitment. Another systematic review found that the use of non-web-based recruitment approaches and incorporating clinical staff in the study increased recruitment (Liu et al., 2018). However, this review found only three randomized studies that evaluated recruitment.

Clinical trials and studies with adequate statistical power are needed to develop novel and effective treatment options for health disorders, particularly psychiatric illnesses (Lamberink et al., 2018). However, studying these treatments is difficult when there are still persisting challenges in clinical recruitment (Türközer & Öngür, 2020), particularly given the lack of efficient recruitment strategies adaptable to the COVID-19 context (i.e., public health measures such as physical distancing and limiting in-person gatherings).

Our research team discussed the difficulties in recruiting vulnerable populations, such as CSA survivors, as well as additional challenges posed by COVID-19 public health measures. One idea that arose from these discussions was a hybrid webinar/focus group to stimulate recruitment, since this approach would confer value on caregivers to obtain clinical

programming information. All caregivers would have a choice to voluntarily participate in this hybrid webinar/focus group, so this approach facilitated engagement as opposed to being coercive.

In order to fill a gap in knowledge for recruitment strategies, we present a novel approach for efficient recruitment using a hybrid webinar/focus group strategy with video conferencing technology that builds off previous methods (Charlesworth et al., 1997). To substantiate and test our approach, we also present preliminary qualitative data in the context of clinical recruitment at a residential treatment facility for CSA survivors called Little Warriors. By involving two stakeholder groups (caregivers and residential treatment facility staff) as suggested by previous systematic reviews (Liu et al., 2018), we have developed an efficient and ethical way to engage caregivers of CSA survivors as well as to generate value for stakeholders in an anonymous question and answer (Q&A) format.

A similar webinar approach has been used in the context of university students (Deeb-Sossa et al., 2021), but to the best of our knowledge it has not been investigated in clinical populations. Deeb-Sossa and colleagues (2021) aimed to strategically diversify the college admissions applicant pool at the University of California, Davis. This strategy was facilitated by supporting Latinx students and their families, regarding enrollment decisions to college, in a virtual webinar format to stimulate recruitment. A diverse panel of Latinx school staff who were involved in planning and delivering the virtual webinars were then interviewed about how they retrospectively perceived the online recruiting efforts. The results of this study suggest that the use of virtual engagement to introduce students as well as their families to campus life is beneficial for supporting minority groups as they make college enrollment decisions, especially in the COVID-19 virtual environment.

We hypothesized that the present hybrid webinar/focus group approach is an effective recruitment strategy, especially in recruiting traumatized and vulnerable populations such as CSA survivors.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Concept

Prior to starting a larger clinical research study, we planned and hosted two hybrid webinar/focus groups to increase participant engagement in a workshop style format using the

webinar function on Zoom (<u>https://zoom.us/</u>). This unique webinar function allows participants to use the Q&A function to send responses to the moderators anonymously. Additionally, there is an option to "up-vote" popular questions, which can be useful for keeping track of a high volume of inquiries for larger sessions. During the one hour hybrid webinar/focus group session, the main moderator (a research team member) described research and programming at Little Warriors. After this, the moderator posed five open-ended prompts for audience members to stimulate discussion for the remainder of the one hour session. The main purpose was to investigate how a multimodal treatment program was received for caregivers of CSA survivors. Discussion was facilitated by the main moderator and two staff members, and the prompts were partially adapted from the Alberta Quality Matrix for Health (Cowell & Harvie, 2012).

3.2.2 Study context

Little Warriors is a novel intensive multimodal residential not-for-profit treatment program for children and adolescents with a CSA history (Reeson et al., 2020). The Little Warriors *Be Brave Ranch* (BBR) facility is "camp-like" in order to create a fun and recreational environment for activities. BBR programming includes treatment rounds for cohorts aged 8-12 years old as well as 13-16 year old adolescents. Each individual cohort consists of approximately 6-12 children.

3.3.3 Data collection

This study's methodology was approved by the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Committee. All caregivers were invited by Little Warriors to participate in a hybrid webinar/focus group that included an open Q&A period. For the present study, all caregivers had a child that was either in or had completed treatment. Implied Consent was obtained at the beginning of the hybrid webinar/focus group session, meaning those who participate are indicating they are comfortable with having their responses recorded and anonymously analyzed.

During the hybrid webinar/focus group, anonymized responses of caregiver attitudes and opinions were captured using the Q&A function on Zoom webinars, so anonymity of participants was protected. In order to maintain a continuous flow in conversation throughout, the moderator posed questions to the staff for their opinions during times when caregiver responses were not being gathered. The sessions were conducted in English, via Zoom, and lasted approximately one hour. Two sessions were held in November 2021 and both sessions were recorded.

Encrypted Zoom links were sent out by Little Warriors and recordings were stored in a secured online file only accessible by research team members.

3.3.4 Data analysis

We used qualitative thematic analysis to better understand the attitudes/opinions of caregivers with children enrolled in treatment at Little Warriors (Kiger et al., 2020). The recorded sessions were transcribed, and two independent coders thematically analyzed the transcripts using Braun and Clarke's methodology (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Qualitative data analysis was used to identify, analyze, and summarize themes in detail. Initial coding of transcripts was completed by two independent team members (JJ and HA) using an inductive approach. This allowed for inter-rater reliability and conformability (Nowell et al., 2017; Lincoln and Guba, 1985). Inductive open codes were combined into preliminary themes and a larger team (AJG, YW, PHS) was engaged in an additional round of analysis on deductive coding guided by the study objectives. Regular meetings involved discussion, code verification, resolution of discrepancies, and confirmation of final themes. An audit trail of memos and discussion minutes was used to verify decisions about themes and to maintain credibility as well as rigor throughout the thematic analysis (Koch, 1994).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Quantitative Descriptive Analysis

Of the 89 caregivers invited, 20 registered for the sessions, and 11 attended, yielding a response rate of 55%. A total of 20 participants, including caregivers, clinicians and moderators, contributed to the data in the present thematic analysis (Table 5). Hybrid webinar/focus groups were conducted on November 22, 2021 (Session 1) and November 25, 2021 (Session 2). Two caregivers intended to participate in Session 2 but could not join due to limited time or technical difficulties. A research team member followed up via email twice to provide additional opportunities for feedback, but no responses were received. Data saturation was determined with the two sessions, as no new data were substantively being added to the thematic analysis (Fusch et al., 2015).

Table 5: Participants (N=20) that attended the hybrid webinar/focus groups.

Hybrid webinar/focus groups	Caregivers	Moderators	Staff
Session 1	5	2	2
Session 2	6	3	2

3.3.2 Thematic analysis

The hybrid webinar/focus groups conducted yielded several major themes. Themes include: (1) Challenges of starting and maintaining treatment, (2) Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment, and (3) Barriers and facilitators of treatment. These major themes, related sub-themes, and supporting quotations are summarized in Table 6 and are presented with greater detail in the following sections.

Table 6. Main themes, sub-themes, and supporting quotations from thematic analysis.

Themes

Sub-themes

Supporting Quotations

Challenges of starting and maintaining treatment

Emotional burden of intake day

"[I]t [intake day] can be quite an emotional day as well as an exhausting day for our caregivers." (Staff, W1).

"[T]he day [intake day] I had to leave him was very hard." (Caregiver, W2).

"[G]ot a call back right away. The interview was kind and empathetic, it wasn't rushed. And I felt listened to and I'm very appreciative..." (Caregiver, W2)

"[E]motional, but at the same time, felt relief there was help out there." (Caregiver, W1). Staying in treatment

"[L]ots of homesickness" (Staff, W1)

[D]istance can be a factor." (Staff, W1).

"He [child in treatment] also called me every day for the first three weeks begging me to pick him up." (Caregiver, W2).

"[H]er peers are not familiar with hearing or seeing [the concept of voicing boundaries]." (Caregiver, W1). Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment

Not feeling alone

"[S]o that they know that they're not alone, they're able to have those connections, and hopefully build some sustaining peer support." (Caregiver, W2).

"Our girl has been super lonely most times here at home. But she is now in school making a couple friends. So she is really looking forward to her socialization with her schoolmates." (Caregiver, W2).

Feeling safe and supported

"[T]eens have a lot of time to really build that rapport relationship with us and [...] are able to slowly open up kind of out their own on their own time, which is something that isn't so available with other clinics..." (Staff, W1).

"[T]hat's one piece I know through COVID [t]hat was a little tougher, just because we're [...] limiting visitors as much as possible. But we do have that virtual tour online, which is really helpful..." (Staff, W1).

"We can use a lot of the same language because the program helps even really young children talk about more mature concepts such as boundaries, mindfulness, self-care." (Caregivers, W1).

"So the smaller group setting was great to make her feel comfortable" (Caregivers, W2). Moral injury wounds addressed

"But what really worked was strategies he was taught at the Ranch; they totally took the shame out of his pain. As he moved forward, this was one of the most important things." (Caregivers, W2).

"And it [incident of child sexual abuse] doesn't define them." (Caregivers, W1).

Trauma informed staff

"[W]e're always getting trained in different types of trainings. So trauma, trauma one on one, I think just the structuring of the program itself is really trauma informed..." (Staff, W2).

"[O]ur staff sanctuary. So that's where the staff can go to really just ground themselves in between breaks or wherever they might have some [...] time to do that. In addition to those debriefs, [...] I think most of the participants know this, but every fifth week, we actually don't have any children or youth on site." (Staff, W2).

"[T]he staff, they were kind, responsive, observant, understanding and still firm and what they expected from my child. programs are only as good as the staff that run it...top notch therapy, caring and knowledgeable staff, again, on the clinical staff side." (Caregivers, W2). Barriers and facilitators of treatment

Future areas to scale up

"And it's [...] difficult to find some of those resources and even posts, post treatment or post program. There's still areas where this individual is acting out." (Caregiver, W1).

"[We want] Government funding for the Ranch." (Caregiver, W2).

"...[A] school counselor can help be a mending piece between a client or like a kiddo. So I found what generally when our kids are connected with a school counselor, it appears like they're more at ease with school, and they generally feel a lot more connected to their school." (Staff, W1).

Yes, I was super excited to hear about Indigenous elder coming to the camp. But I was sad, it could not happen with COVID. Yeah, so hopefully, things can open up again and have that inclusion because it does really sound valuable." (Caregiver, W2).

Residual psychological wounds

"[W]hen we work through trauma, and in kind of going through that process, it's, it can be kind of a roller coaster, right. And a lot of the times once people start kind of getting into some of that therapeutic work, it can look like a digression." (Staff, W1).

"[O]ur daughter wanted to go home. That was really hard, but she ended up working through it and stayed." (Caregivers, W2).

"[W]hen there are times of her daughter calling home crying about when there was a disagreement with another cohort that they're able to work through. And the following day, they were they would call and say that everything was fine. She was okay to stay." (Caregivers, W2). Challenges of maintaining "We have kids that think selfself-care care can only be bubble baths. And so teaching them like no, like, there's things that you can do outside of that for self-care and getting them to internally reflect and learn how to take care of themselves, really, without relying on outside things." (Staff, W1).

"Like we always say like cost should never affect your selfcare." (Staff, W1).

1. Challenges of starting and maintaining treatment.

Both caregivers and staff identified the challenge of keeping the children in treatment rounds through completion. These challenges are not surprising given the intensity of the children's trauma histories and the substantial commitment on the part of the children to go to an unfamiliar place for several weeks away from family. Sub-themes include: (1) Emotional burden of intake day and (2) Staying in treatment.

1.1 Emotional burden of intake day

Intake day was identified unanimously as an emotional day for both caregivers and staff. For staff, they have gone through the intake process for many families and identified common

themes of the experience being difficult emotionally. For caregivers, there seems to be an emotional toll that is accrued during intake day. Caregivers pointed out the difficulty in saying goodbye to their child at the facility. However, caregivers also mentioned that the burden of intake day was well worth it, given how it helped their families and the fact that the interview process was not rushed. One caregiver was relieved that there was in fact treatment available for children with a history of child sexual abuse. The fact that this multimodal treatment programming exists seems to offer families hope that their child can work toward recovery even after severe early life trauma.

1.2 Staying in treatment

Given the high degree of heterogeneity in the Little Warriors' population, some families found that maintaining treatment was hard. These factors can be internal such as homesickness and also external such as location. Living away from their families in a new environment seems to be a difficulty that many children face during the first few weeks of treatment. However, challenges may also reflect mental health difficulties. Another factor included school, where missing out on substantial schooling means falling behind peers in terms of grade level as well as emotional maturity.

2. Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment

Aside from the challenges reported by caregivers and staff, there were several therapeutic benefits observed. In this theme, both caregivers and staff identified specific areas that provided therapeutic benefits for children at Little Warriors. Little Warriors splits children into small cohorts and uses a multimodal approach with several different types of therapies used throughout treatment. Given the nature of this multimodal programming, the benefits described make sense, as children have the space to gravitate toward specific treatments that they find most helpful. Sub-themes include: (1) Not feeling alone, (2) Feeling safe and supported, (3) Moral injury wounds addressed, and (4) Trauma informed staff.

2.1 Not feeling alone

Child sexual abuse can be a severely isolating experience not only for children but also for families. The high cost of feeling isolated is associated with a response to trauma, where children believe that they are the only one affected by abuse. As children come to Little Warriors

and start interacting with their cohort, they realize that they are in fact not alone. It seems that the cohort approach helps to mitigate some of the harmful effects of child sexual abuse.

2.2 Feeling safe and supported

One key factor that both groups identified to achieving optimal treatment outcomes is feeling safe. Clinicians emphasize giving ample time to adjust and build rapport in efforts to support children. Having the resources to create a safe environment where children can gradually open up emotionally appears important, as the treatment commitment can be frightening and overwhelming to families. Ensuring caregivers have space to ask questions is important. Staff ensure that families are fully informed of the supportive environment by adapting tours to the COVID-19 virtual environment. Programming also plays a role in facilitating psychoeducation. Psychoeducation then allows children to bring these skills back home and to continue their relationship with their caregivers post-treatment. The use of small cohorts was also instrumental for creating a sense of safety and comfort for children.

2.3 Moral injury wounds addressed

Children with a history of multiple and prolonged incidents of abuse have enormous stress in their lives and coming to an unknown treatment facility with strangers can be an added burden. Thus, the road to recovery is a gradual process. One topic that arose across caregivers was the devastating impact of shame associated with child sexual abuse that was adequately addressed in treatment. It seems that the multimodal treatment approach was effective in addressing issues related to the construct of moral injury in terms of shame specifically. The careful attention to addressing psychological wounds at Little Warriors helps children to start to build resilience.

2.4 Trauma informed staff

The staff at Little Warriors are trauma informed and they have specialized training to manage crises. The staff value their own mental health as well which serves as a great model for the children they interact with on-site. It seems that having rest weeks with no treatment programming is important to maintaining the wellbeing of staff and to avoid burnout. One of the key principles of trauma-informed care is to foster empowerment in patients, which in turn sets the stage for establishing trustworthiness.

3. Barriers and facilitators of treatment

In light of the therapeutic benefits mentioned above, caregivers and staff reported examples of factors that hindered as well as facilitated treatment progress. In this theme, both caregivers and staff identified specific factors that got in the way of the treatment for their child as well as factors that need to be scaled up in the future. Factors identified in this theme related to the children's wellbeing, resources at Little Warriors, and staff. Sub-themes include: (1) Future areas to scale up, (2) Residual psychological wounds, and (3) Challenges of maintaining self-care.

3.1 Future areas to scale up

There were some areas that caregivers identified as needing scaling up. In terms of resources, this may be addressed by re-allocation of existing resources to better support families post-treatment, or potentially additional resources. Ensuring that schools have counselors can be of benefit to children as they make the transition back to school post-therapy. Specifically related to COVID-19, there were some programs that were postponed due to public health measures, but future directions could include ways to adapt to the virtual environment. Also, it seems that cultural activities are valued and received well by families at Little Warriors.

3.2 Residual psychological wounds

Due to the severity of trauma in child sexual abuse, there can often be residual psychological wounds that factor into how well a child progresses. It seems that treatment progress is not linear and this is not surprising, given the severity and nature of trauma these children experience. Some children may have persisting difficulties with peers. Others want to leave treatment early to go back home. In light of these interpersonal challenges, sometimes persevering through them with the support of trauma-informed staff and supportive family is the best course of action to facilitate recovery.

3.3 Challenges of maintaining self-care

Staff spend time educating what self-care is to children by clearing up misconceptions. Staff also model self-care themselves. Staff self-care skills play an important role in protecting against things such as burnout and vicarious trauma. Moreover, through educating and modelling, staff communicate to children and families the non-negotiable nature of maintaining self-care as it relates to emotional regulation and wellness in general.
3.4 Discussion

This study employed a unique hybrid webinar/focus group approach to engage a convenience sample of caregivers of CSA survivors at Little Warriors. This novel approach was an ethical and efficient way to stimulate recruitment in a sensitive clinical population. To substantiate and test our approach, we present preliminary findings from a qualitative thematic analysis which resulted in three main themes: (1) Challenges of starting and maintaining treatment, (2) Therapeutic benefits of specialized treatment, and (3) Barriers and facilitators of treatment. The use of this hybrid webinar/focus group strategy may be applicable to other contexts outside of health research due to its flexible and efficient infrastructure using video conferencing technology. Importantly, this approach is also adaptable to the COVID-19 virtual environment and has shown positive results in a sensitive population for the present study. At the highest level of scale-up, this approach could be used in a similar fashion to consensus conferences (Nielsen et al., 2006).

3.4.1 Benefits of hybrid webinar/focus group approach

Barriers to recruitment previously found in the literature relate to the time commitment and value for participants (Liu et al., 2018). The present hybrid webinar/focus group approach was able to address this barrier, in a cost-effective and efficient manner, by having a Q&A session where caregivers could obtain any clinical programming information they were looking for directly from staff at Little Warriors in 30-60 minute sessions. Caregivers also learned about the value of future research studies planned at Little Warriors, so that they have the option to participate in the ongoing program evaluation for children and adolescents' recovery. We believe that the success in these responses was a consequence of creating a safe environment wherein both stakeholders were incorporated (i.e., the clinical staff and caregivers) and having a continuous conversation sustained throughout the whole session (Gibson, 2007).

Sensitive populations can be challenging to engage with due to stigma and the need for establishing trust (Kennedy & Prock, 2018)—populations such as CSA survivors and their families are one example. For health research in general, obtaining information about patient identified priorities and areas of improvement are essential for improving treatment outcomes and supporting families in their recovery (Naik et al., 2018). However, it can be difficult to obtain sensitive information especially in a traditional in-person focus group setting, since disclosure could result in feeling stigmatized (Kennedy & Prock, 2018). In terms of individual interviews,

participants could feel less inclined to share information in a one-on-one setting if the interviewer is of another gender or cultural background, for example (Guest et al., 2017). The uniqueness of the present hybrid webinar/focus group format allows for caregivers to give anonymized feedback by typing in their responses in a Q&A chat box, relating to key areas of program improvement and implementation. This anonymized approach to engagement is distinct amongst traditional methods of data collection (Treweek et al., 2018). Given the challenges of working in a highly sensitive population as well as the elevated number of noshows reported in previous literature on virtual events versus in-person (Rupert et al., 2017), we still generated a sample within the recommended focus group size in the COVID-19 virtual environment (Powell et al., 1996). Interestingly, the clinical director of Little Warriors noted that some difficult-to-engage caregivers ended up participating in the present hybrid webinar/focus groups. This may be due to the fact that the present study used anonymized responses in a video conferencing format, which facilitated open responses about sensitive information. Furthermore, protecting the anonymity of participants has been recognized as a factor in establishing trust, which is crucial when engaging with sensitive populations (Andalibi et al., 2018; Brennan & McElvaney, 2020).

3.4.2 Caregiver-identified challenges to address for the future

One of the core principles of trauma-informed care is to build a strong therapeutic alliance with the client (Sweeney et al., 2018). Opportunities to start developing rapport begin with intake day when caregivers hand off their children to residential facility staff. Both caregivers and staff reported that intake day was emotionally burdensome in our thematic analysis. Given the theme reported in, "Emotional burden of intake day," it is important to note that avoidance, by both the caregiver and child, has been previously found to predict child outcomes as well as treatment drop-out (Yasinski et al., 2016; Yasinski et al., 2018). In order to bolster a therapeutic alliance in a trauma-informed approach and to improve treatment retention, clinicians can play a role in supporting caregivers to actively engage during the intake process. This includes making sure caregivers are well informed as staff discuss and set expectations for therapy, outlining treatment topics that will be covered during the course of residential care (Theimer et al., 2020). Staff can also ensure adequate time to address caregiver concerns and questions early on in treatment. Finally, there should be resources available for emotional support if caregivers decline treatment in the form of psychoeducation.

3.4.3 Limitations

We believe this novel recruitment strategy is applicable to many contexts, but there are several limitations to this approach. First, the present hybrid webinar/focus group approach has not been evaluated in other contexts. However, we believe that this virtual approach is flexible enough to be useful in other populations beyond CSA survivors and their caregivers. The use of anonymous responses through a video conferencing platform allows participants to give important patient-identified priorities and information regarding their treatment in a way that does not violate their privacy.

Second, there is a limitation related to ethics in that the content discussed throughout the hybrid webinar/focus groups could be potentially triggering to participants. To the best of our capabilities, we placed measures to ensure the safety of all participants by obtaining implied consent at the beginning of the session. Additionally, we also provided the contact information for research team members and Little Warriors to direct participants to appropriate care pathways, if needed.

Third, access issues were a limitation. Given our resources, we did our best to ensure two different evening times were scheduled for sessions to allow for caregivers to attend after work hours. We also sent information about downloading and using the video conferencing platform to caregivers and had a technical moderator on call to troubleshoot any potential login difficulties. Two caregivers indicated interest in attending the hybrid webinar/focus group session, but nevertheless were not able to join in either due to time or technical difficulties. And despite two follow-ups, no response was received from these caregivers.

3.4.4 Future Directions

We believe that the present hybrid webinar/focus group approach would benefit from further investigation and evaluation in other clinical contexts. Key areas that may benefit include other vulnerable populations such as patients recovering from addictions, severe mental illnesses, and youth with other forms of early life trauma. Replication studies with a larger number of participants would also be useful. These key areas will help evaluate this novel data collection approach in terms of wider applicability to health settings and beyond.

3.4.5 Conclusion

We found that this novel hybrid webinar/focus group approach efficiently and ethically engaged caregivers in a way where they receive informational value. This approach also has an

added benefit in that it is completely virtual and adaptable to the COVID-19 virtual environment. Further efforts to replicate this approach in other health settings and beyond are recommended to continue finding innovative ways to engage with stakeholders.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the staff at Little Warriors (Dr. Wanda Polzin, Jillian McNeil, and Kailey Redmann) and Tracey Campbell at the University of Alberta for their assistance.

Funding

This work was supported by funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CG Scholarship to JJ).

Disclosure statement

The Authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

3.5 References

- Andalibi, N., Haimson, O. L., Choudhury, M. D., & Forte, A. (2018). Social support, reciprocity, and anonymity in responses to sexual abuse disclosures on social media. *ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction (TOCHI), 25*(5), 1-35.
- Boland, J., Currow, D. C., Wilcock, A., Tieman, J., Hussain, J. A., Pitsillides, C., ... & Johnson, M. J. (2015). A systematic review of strategies used to increase recruitment of people with cancer or organ failure into clinical trials: implications for palliative care research. *Journal of pain and symptom management, 49*(4), 762-772.
- Bonardi, J. P., Gallea, Q., Kalanoski, D., & Lalive, R. (2020). Fast and local: How did lockdown policies affect the spread and severity of the covid-19. *Covid Econ, 23*, 325-351.
- 4. Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology, 3*(2), 77-101.
- 5. Brennan, E., & McElvaney, R. (2020). What helps children tell? A qualitative metaanalysis of child sexual abuse disclosure. *Child abuse review, 29*(2), 97-113.
- Bryan, J., Griffin, D., Kim, J., Griffin, D. M., & Young, A. (2019). School counselor leadership in school-family-community partnerships: An equity-focused partnership process model for moving the field forward. *The Wiley handbook on family, school, and community relationships in education*, 265-287.
- 7. Charlesworth, L. W., & Rodwell, M. K. (1997). Focus groups with children: A resource for sexual abuse prevention program evaluation. *Child abuse & neglect, 21*(12), 1205-1216.
- Cowell, J., & Harvie, M. (2012, December). HQCA: Building a credible, transparent, and independent healthcare quality and safety organization in Alberta. In Healthcare Management Forum (Vol. 25, No. 4, pp. 185-187). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Deeb-Sossa, N., Cuellar, M. G., Nuñez Martinez, M., Sanchez Nava, Y., & Guerrero, B. G. (2021). Examining recruitment practices for servingness during COVID-19: Perspectives from institutional agents at an emerging Hispanic-serving institution (HSI). *Education Sciences*, *11*(9), 454.
- 10. Fusch Ph D, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? *Data saturation in qualitative research.*
- 11. Gibson, F. (2007). Conducting focus groups with children and young people: strategies for success. *Journal of research in nursing*, *12*(5), 473-483.

- 12. Kennedy, A. C., & Prock, K. A. (2018). "I still feel like I am not normal": A review of the role of stigma and stigmatization among female survivors of child sexual abuse, sexual assault, and intimate partner violence. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 19*(5), 512-527.
- Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. *Medical teacher*, *42*(8), 846-854.
- 14. Koch, T. (1994). Establishing rigour in qualitative research: the decision trail. *Journal of advanced nursing, 19*(5), 976-986.
- Lamberink, H. J., Otte, W. M., Sinke, M. R., Lakens, D., Glasziou, P. P., Tijdink, J. K., & Vinkers, C. H. (2018). Statistical power of clinical trials increased while effect size remained stable: an empirical analysis of 136,212 clinical trials between 1975 and 2014. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *102*, 123-128.
- 16. Lincoln, Y. S. 8b Guba, EG (1985). Naturalistic inquiry.
- Liu, Y., Pencheon, E., Hunter, R. M., Moncrieff, J., & Freemantle, N. (2018). Recruitment and retention strategies in mental health trials–a systematic review. PLoS One, 13(8), e0203127.
- Naik, A. D., Dindo, L. N., Van Liew, J. R., Hundt, N. E., Vo, L., Hernandez-Bigos, K., ... & Tinetti, M. E. (2018). Development of a clinically feasible process for identifying individual health priorities. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 66(10), 1872-1879.
- Nielsen, A. P., Hansen, J., Skorupinski, B., Ingensiep, H. W., Baranzke, H., Lassen, J., & Sandoe, P. (2006). Consensus conference manual. LEI, onderdeel Wageningen UR.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International journal of qualitative methods*, *16*(1), 1609406917733847.
- Powell, R. A., Single, H. M., & Lloyd, K. R. (1996). Focus groups in mental health research: enhancing the validity of user and provider questionnaires. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *42*(3), 193-206.
- 22. Reeson, M., Polzin, W., Pazderka, H., Agyapong, V., Greenshaw, A. J., Hnatko, G., ... & Silverstone, P. H. (2020). A novel 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors is associated with mental health benefits for females aged 13–16. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry,* 29(3), 165.

- Rupert, D. J., Poehlman, J. A., Hayes, J. J., Ray, S. E., & Moultrie, R. R. (2017). Virtual versus in-person focus groups: Comparison of costs, recruitment, and participant logistics. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *19*(3), e6980.
- Sweeney, A., Filson, B., Kennedy, A., Collinson, L., & Gillard, S. (2018). A paradigm shift: relationships in trauma-informed mental health services. *BJPsych advances*, 24(5), 319-333.
- Theimer, K., Mii, A. E., Sonnen, E., McCoy, K., Meidlinger, K., Biles, B., ... & Hansen, D. J. (2020). Identifying and addressing barriers to treatment for child sexual abuse survivors and their non-offending caregivers. *Aggression and violent behavior, 52*, 101418.
- Treweek, S., Pitkethly, M., Cook, J., Fraser, C., Mitchell, E., Sullivan, F., Jackson, C., Taskila, T.K. and Gardner, H., 2018. Strategies to improve recruitment to randomised trials. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (2).
- Türközer, H. B., & Öngür, D. (2020). A projection for psychiatry in the post-COVID-19 era: potential trends, challenges, and directions. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 25(10), 2214-2219.
- Yasinski, C., Hayes, A. M., Alpert, E., McCauley, T., Ready, C. B., Webb, C., & Deblinger, E. (2018). Treatment processes and demographic variables as predictors of dropout from trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy (TF-CBT) for youth. *Behaviour research and therapy, 107*, 10-18.
- Yasinski, C., Hayes, A. M., Ready, C. B., Cummings, J. A., Berman, I. S., McCauley, T., ... & Deblinger, E. (2016). In-session caregiver behavior predicts symptom change in youth receiving trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy (TF-CBT). *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology, 84*(12), 1066.

Connection between Chapters 3 and 4

As the evidence for CSA survivor interventions grows, it is important to continue investigating individual differences and overall determinants of health, especially in caregiver-child dyadic health. These directions are in line with trauma-informed care principles of recognizing the uniqueness of individuals and understanding the many factors that contribute to wellness. The literature in child psychiatric interventions is sparse, so broad scale evaluations and investigations into new areas (inclusive of holistic wellness and family environments) of treatment is warranted. This next chapter focuses on a construct called reflective functioning, which promises to be an important area of research in caregiver-child dyadic wellness.

Introduction to Chapter 4

An aspect of trauma-informed care is understanding that individuals are unique and that everyone has a distinctive set of backgrounds, gender, culture, and history of adversity. Emotional regulation is a key factor to address in caregiver-child dyads, especially those affected by trauma. Reflective functioning (RF) is a relatively new concept that is a proxy measure for emotional regulation, both of which are important determinants for wellness. The present reflective functioning scoping review seeks to systematically map out the RF literature in terms of both assessment and intervention studies, sampling parents/guardians of children aged 36 months or younger.

Chapter 4. Early mental health foundations: a scoping review of reflective functioning in caregiver-child dyads

Jonathan Jin, BSc^{1*}, Rachel Goud, BScH², Huda Al-Shamali, BSc¹, Anja Dzunic, BSc⁴, Tirzah Lyons, BA³, Matthew Reeson, BSc¹, Hannah Pazderka, PhD^{1,5}, Liz Dennett, MLIS⁶, Wanda Polzin, EdD⁵, Yifeng Wei, PhD¹, Peter H. Silverstone, MD¹, Andrew J. Greenshaw, PhD¹

- 1. Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada
- 2. Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada
- 3. Faculty of Education, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada
- 4. School of Public Health, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada
- 5. Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch, Edmonton Alberta, Canada
- 6. JW Scott Health Sciences Library, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

Corresponding Author*

Abstract

Objective: To summarize and map the literature on reflective functioning (RF) in caregivers and their children through an equity, diversity, and inclusion (EDI) lens.

Method: A scoping review of the literature published up to September 2021 was conducted. Studies were included if they sampled parents of children 36 months of age and under. Databases included Medline, PsycINFO, CINAHL, ERIC, Scopus, Web of Science and Embase. Two independent reviewers screened papers and discrepancies were resolved by a third reviewer. Data were charted by one reviewer and verified by another reviewer.

Results: From the initially identified 5,162, full texts of 608 included papers were then screened and yielded 181 papers. At least one ethnicity other than the dominant ethnicity of the study country was included in 69 studies. Seven of the 69 studies included at least one Indigenous person. No studies were conducted in low to middle income countries (LMIC) and no studies reported data on gender-identity.

Conclusions: RF has links to several dyadic health outcomes. One limitation of this review is that large-scale events such as COVID-19 were not considered. Future work should address a lack of information on RF in this context in relation to ethnic diversity, gender-identity, and LMICs.

Key words

Reflective Functioning; Mentalization; Mind-mindedness; Caregivers; Children

4.1 Scientific Background

Reflective functioning (RF) is the capacity to understand one's own and others' behaviour in terms of mental states (Fonagy & Target, 1997). RF is inherently interpersonal, evolving in the context of an infant-caregiver relationship, and the development of RF is an essential early milestone in emotional development. This construct has also been explored under the names of Theory of Mind (ToM) and metacognition (Steele & Steele, 2008), both focusing more on cognitive aspects, but RF focusses on the dynamic psychological development of understanding others' mental states. Other related terms include mirror neurons, co-regulation, mentalization, mind-mindedness, and insightfulness. It is of note that RF is different from introspection, where the former focusses on both self and outside world rather than self alone.

A highly reflective parent that is emotionally regulated can engage effectively with the child to create a secure attachment. A secure attachment relationship will then ultimately open up more opportunities to develop RF in the child (Chevalier et al., 2021; Fonagy et al., 1991). Consequently, there is increasing psychological interest in RF as it relates to infant-caregiver attachment and later childhood mental health outcomes (Allen & Fonagy, 2006; Fonagy et al., 1991).

The history of RF begins with Steele and Steele's longitudinal work for their doctoral degrees in the 1980s (Steele & Steele, 2008). Their work benefitted from John Bowlby and Peter Fonagy's support. A combination of various research areas, spanning psychoanalysis and developmental psychology, laid the groundwork for a distinct RF concept to arise. In 1985, RF first emerged as a concept from attempts to refine the Adult Attachment Interview (AAI), which was a system that classifies adults' language when evaluating childhood attachment experiences (George et al., 1996). This work was heavily influenced by attachment theory, British object relations, and independent psychoanalytic perspectives as well as theory of mind (Steele & Steele, 2008). Soon this emerging area of research was also corroborated by evidence from cognitive developmental neuroscience (Fonagy & Target, 2005).

This body of work related to RF leans heavily on the predictive power of Ainsworth's Strange Situation Procedure (SSP). This 20-minute laboratory paradigm with a parent, child, and stranger generates reliable and valid inferences between the quality of infant experience to caregiver attachment (Ainsworth et al., 1978). These hypotheses (i.e., infant's primary object

relationship being a crucial factor in development) were generated by Freud, but Ainsworth demonstrated their empirical validity.

The work of Klein and Winnicott was also very important in the development of the RF concept. Although much progress was based on Sigmund and Anna Freud's ideas, Kleinian thinking was also instrumental in the formation of RF, particularly around the nature of emotion and thought and child's need for containment (i.e., low RF individuals avoiding the range and intensity of human emotions, whereas high RF individuals display the free range and diversity of emotions, both positive and negative: Steele and Steele, 2008). Winnicot's psychoanalytic writings arose from observation of the deep visual sense of how mothers behaved toward their infants, which is hinting toward this reflective process of RF (Winnicot, 2009). For Winnicot, infants can only discover what they feel by seeing it reflected back (i.e., if an infant's feelings and emotions are acknowledged and nurtured by a caregiver, then it validates the infant moving forward to continue relating with others in a social world).

Our current understanding of the RF concept has evolved into the systematic study of how individuals use or fail to use mental state language. Low RF refers to an impoverished ability to articulate why an individual, or others, behaved in a certain way. Individuals with high RF can often assess and be mindful of their own and others' beliefs/behaviours. Work in RF functions as a bridge between Stern's work (on the "self" arising from interpersonal relations prior to when language develops) and the AAI (Stern, 1985). Essentially RF serves as a model for how healthy and reflective parents can encourage infants to interact, initiate, and respond to their own or others' relationships in terms of mental states. These skills are crucial for psychosocial development. Consequently, ruptures in caregiver RF have been associated with history of abuse, limited social supports, substance use during pregnancy, limited maternal education, insecure attachment, and higher child dysregulation (Badoud et al., 2018; Ensink et al., 2015; Smaling et al., 2015; Suardi et al., 2015).

Parents can promote and teach RF to children through various means, such as playful deliberate role-taking which is an important simulation in mentalizing tasks (Goldman, 1989). Conversations about feelings and reasons why people do things are linked to achievement of reflective functions (Dunn & Brown, 1993). Also, encouraging peer group interactions can increase the opportunities to simulate and imagine what others feel (i.e., social orientation, reciprocity, popularity, empathy) (Ladd & Parke, 2016). Specific ways to improve RF in both parents and infants are outlined by the Mindful Parenting therapeutic group (Reynolds, 2003) for

example, which facilitates verbal and nonverbal communication in a series of designated play times and other structured activities.

It is important to account for Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) when investigating RF because both factors affect the quality of the caregiver-child relationship. The foundational ACE study (Felitti et al., 1998) revealed that those with a history of four or more ACEs (physical abuse, sexual abuse, neglect, household dysfunction, etc.) have a 4-12 fold increase in health risk for alcohol use disorder, substance misuse, depression, suicide, a two-fold increase in smoking, poor self-rated health, and a 1.4-1.6 fold increase in physical activity and severe obesity. In one recent study (Garon-Bissonnette et al., 2021) RF was identified as a mediator of the association between maternal childhood trauma and offspring development. These data support the determining role RF and ACEs have on caregiver-child dyads, but few studies have accounted for ACE scores in the RF literature.

Several key publications have focused on the role of RF in caregiver-child dyads. The first systematic investigation of RF was a randomized controlled trial conducted by Suchman and colleagues (2010a). In a population of mothers in substance abuse treatment, Suchman compared an attachment-based parenting therapy program called Mothers and Toddlers Program (MTP) intervention group (n=23) versus an active control Parental Education (PE) group (n=24). Their findings demonstrated benefits in the MTP mothers with higher RF scores, better representation of coherence/sensitivity, and higher caregiving as compared to the PE active control group.

More recently, Slade and colleagues (2020) conducted a randomized controlled trial of Minding the Baby (MTB) (n=77) versus an active control group (n=79), involving routine prenatal and postnatal well-woman health visits, in young mothers living in underserved urban communities. Their findings demonstrated the MTB mothers showed an increase in RF over the course of the intervention as compared to the control group. As well, infants of the MTB group were significantly more likely to be securely attached, as compared to the control group. The most recent meta-analysis (Barlow et al., 2021) supports these findings.

This scoping review took advantage of the rising awareness of the importance of equity, diversity, and inclusion (EDI) to examine the caregiver-child dyadic literature from an EDI perspective. For example, there is evidence (MacMullin et al., 2021) that gender non-conformity may be related to elevated behavioural and emotional challenges and this association may be

stronger for those who experienced poor peer relationships and had parents/guardians less willing to be a secure base for their children. As well, ethnic minority populations are disproportionately affected by mental health issues every year (Grey et al., 2013). An EDI lens will be applied systematically throughout the present scoping review to identify what has been studied as well as pointing out specific directions for future research in the RF literature.

The most recent meta-analyses (Barlow et al., 2021; Lo et al., 2022) conducted included only six and 15 randomized controlled trial intervention studies, respectively, and an earlier narrative review conducted in 2017 (Camoirano, 2017) did not include search terms such as co-regulation and mirror neurons which are included in many RF-related publications. To the best of our knowledge, no published review has yet examined RF assessments in addition to interventions. In view of the apparent limitations in research from an informal literature scan, a scoping review was deemed appropriate for mapping of gaps in and opportunities for research based on existing RF literature. A specific aim of this review is to answer the question: what evidence is there for the value of RF assessment tools and interventions in caregiver-child dyads?

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Eligibility criteria, information sources, and search

Guidelines from the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) (Tricco et al., 2018) were used in the present review. The methodological framework outlined by Arksey and O'Malley (2005), and further refined by Levac and colleagues (2010) also guided the present study. A scoping review of electronic databases was conducted from database inception to September 22, 2021 by a health sciences librarian. Databases included Medline, PsycINFO, CINAHL, ERIC, Scopus, Web of Science and Embase. The search strategy included a combination of subject headings and keywords to combine the concepts of RF or coregulation or mentalization or mirror neurons or mind-mindedness or metacognition or theory of mind or insightfulness, and parents. The complete search strategy for each database can be found in the appendix.

No limits were placed on country or publication date, but due to limited resources we only included peer-reviewed studies published in English, Spanish, French, German and Arabic. Studies that sampled any parents/guardians of children up to and including 36 months of age were used because there are clinically relevant epochs in that age range (Dulcan, 2016). This

criterion is also in line with a previous meta-analysis (Barlow et al., 2021). Papers that included broad age ranges for children were included only if they reported disaggregated data specific to 36 months of age or younger. There was no restriction on age of caregivers. Non peer reviewed studies and animal studies were excluded. The full inclusion/exclusion criteria can be found in the appendix.

4.2.2 Selection of sources of evidence, data charting, and synthesis of results

The 5,162 identified papers were first independently screened by title and abstract using Covidence software (https://www.covidence.org/) by two reviewers. Disagreements were resolved by a third reviewer. The full texts of the remaining 608 papers were then independently screened by two reviewers and disagreements were also resolved by a third reviewer. Data were charted by one independent reviewer and verified by another reviewer. The final set comprising information for this review included 181 publications.

4.2.3 Protocol and registration

The scoping review was registered with Open Science Framework (OSF). No review protocol was developed for this study. Figure 2 shows the PRISMA diagram of study selection.





4.3 Results

Table 7 shows a general summary of the sociodemographic characteristics of the 181 papers found in the present scoping review. A total sample of 15,231 dyads and 8,310 families were analyzed. The majority of studies focused on mother-infant dyads specifically. Some

studies reported number of families without specifying whether the mother and father were both recruited. The reference list of the 181 included studies can be made upon request.

In terms of population type, 95 were general population studies, 78 were clinical population studies, 69 included an ethnic minority population in their studies (these studies overlap with other population categories), three were foster/adoptive population studies, two were forensic/prison population studies, and three were high risk population studies. General population was defined as any random or convenience sample taken in the community, daycare, nursery or pregnancy center. Clinical population was defined as reporting some type of clinician rated or self-rated diagnosis for the caregiver and/or child. Ethnic minority populations were marked if they collected any data on participants outside of the dominant ethnicity of the respective country. High risk samples were identified and stated explicitly by study authors (Bérubé-Beaulieu et al., 2016; Pajulo et al., 2012; Rossignol et al., 2013) as experiencing some degree of psychosocial difficulty such as substance using, experiencing intrafamily trauma, or experiencing difficulty adapting to their parenting role. Some studies had overlapping populations (i.e., clinical and ethnic minority population) but only one population categorization was selected based on what the study authors identified as most relevant to the study's primary objectives and main outcomes.

In terms of type of study, 73% of papers (133) were assessment studies and 27% (48) were intervention studies. For study design, 50% of papers (91) were cohort studies, 24% (44) were cross-sectional, and 13% (24) were non-randomized trials, 8% (14) were randomized trials, and 4% (8) were case reports. For type of data reported, 56% of papers (101) comprised mixed-methods data results, 34% (61) used exclusively qualitative and 10% (19) quantitative data.

		N/ (9/)		
Type of study	A	N (%)		
	Assessment	()		
	Intervention	48 (26.5)		
Study design				
		91 (50.3)		
	Cross- sectional	44 (24.3)		
	RCT	14 (7.73)		
	Non-RCT	24 (13.3)		
	Case report	5 (2.76)		
	Case series	3 (1.66)		
Type of data				
,	Qualitative	61 (33.7)		
	Quantitative	19 (10.5)		
	Mixed methods	101 (55.8)		
Population				
	General Population	95 (52.5)		
	Clinical	78 (43.1)		
	Forensic	2 (1.10)		
	Foster	3 (1.66)		
	High risk	3 (1.66)		
	Ethnic minority*	69 (85.2)		
Caregiver type				
	Mother-infant	158 (87.3)		
	Father-infant	3 (1.66)		
	Families, unspecified parents	20 (11.0)		
N = number of articles; RCT = randomized control trials * Ethnicity minority category overlaps with others; percent value is calculated from the total of articles reporting ethnicity (n=81).				

Table 7. Summary of sociodemographic characteristics of all included studies

4.3.1 Assessments

The majority of the 133 assessment studies focused on mother-infant dyads specifically. Some studies simply reported number of families and did not specify whether the mother and father were recruited. Cohort studies comprised 66% of papers, 32% were cross-sectional studies, and the rest were non-randomized trials. Non-randomized trials were classified as assessments because they involved an experimental manipulation without a reflective functioning intervention. Mixed-methods approaches were most common although several papers used either qualitative or quantitative approaches.

Assessment studies used a variety of measurements for RF, including the Parental Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (PRFQ) (Rutherford et al., 2013), Reflective Functioning measured in the Parental Development Interview (Øie et al., 2020), and Mind-mindedness coded for in free-play sessions (Meins et al., 2012).

4.3.2 Interventions

Table 8 shows the breakdown of the 48 intervention papers, 44 studies specify the intervention, four did not. Most studies focused on mother-infant dyads specifically. As with assessments, some studies simply reported number of families and did not specify whether the mother and father were recruited. Non-randomized trials made up 46% of included papers, 29% were randomized trials, and the rest were either case studies, cross-sectional, or cohort studies. All randomized trials used mixed methods approaches, with the exception of one quantitative study. The remaining study designs varied in terms of mixed-methods, qualitative, and quantitative approaches.

Table 8 also shows the summary of intervention papers that reported within-subjects pre-intervention and post-intervention scores. Other characteristics such as the outcome of each intervention is also described in Table 8. Increased and decreased RF pre-post-intervention was reported in 60% and 16% of papers, respectively. For the remainder RF was unchanged pre-post-intervention.

A variety of RF interventions were used such as the Mothers and Toddlers Program (Suchman, DeCoste, Leigh, et al., 2010), New Beginnings (Bain, 2014), and Minding the Baby (Slade et al., 2020). Mothers and Toddlers Program (MTP) appeared five times and Parent-Infant Psychotherapy appeared seven times (PIP; broken down into Focused with two uses and

Psychoanalytic with five). These two interventions make up 25% of all interventions mentioned. Circle of Security (two uses; 4.17%), Marte Meo therapy (two uses; 4.17%), Minding the Baby® (two uses; 4.17%), Mindful With Your Baby/Toddler training (two uses; 4.17%) and PRERAYMI (two uses; 4.17%), and a category for other (22 uses; 45.83%) make up the rest of the interventions.

%) (25.0) (52.1) (6.7) (43.8) 0.0) 4.12) (27.1) (8.8)
(52.1) (43.8) 0.0) 1.12) (27.1) 8.8)
(43.8) 0.0) 4.12) (27.1) 8.8)
(43.8) 0.0) 1.12) (27.1) 8.8)
0.0) 4.12) (27.1) 8.8)
0.0) 4.12) (27.1) 8.8)
0.0) 4.12) (27.1) 8.8)
l.12) (27.1) 8.8)
(27.1) (8.8)
8.8)
0.44
0.41)
4.58)
l.17)
3.33)
4

Table 8. Summary of types of interventions used

4.3.3 General Population

Out of the 95 general population studies, 94% were assessment studies and rest were intervention studies. Out of the 89 assessment studies, 70% used cohort designs, and the remainder used cross-sectional or non-randomized trial designs. A range of mixed-methods, qualitative, and quantitative approaches were used across assessment studies. Out of the six intervention studies, three were non-randomized trials, one was a randomized trial, and two were case studies. Either mixed-methods or qualitative approaches were used across intervention studies.

4.3.4 Clinical Population

Of the 78 clinical population studies, 49% used self-rated scales, 45% used clinicianrated scales, and the remainder did not specify the methods. Out of the 38 self-rated clinical populations, 58% were assessment studies and 42% were intervention studies. Out of the 35 clinician-rated clinical populations, 57% were intervention studies and 43% were assessment studies. Out of the remaining five not specified clinical population studies, 80% were assessment studies and 20% were intervention studies.

4.4.5 Ethnic Populations

Table 9 shows papers included for the 69 ethnic minority studies divided into distinct types of studies and data as well as specific ethnicities. Studies marked with an asterisk indicate that either the authors did not mention which ethnic minorities were included or the participants did not specify their ethnicity. Every article considered an ethnic minority study reported inclusion of at least one ethnicity other than the dominant ethnicity of the study country. This section includes overlapping categories (i.e., an ethnic minority study will also fall into the general population or clinician-rated population category, for example). Most studies were from the United States of America (36 studies), the United Kingdom (21 studies), and Canada (7 studies). Sixty-eight percent of these studies were assessment studies, most of which used a cohort design (71%). Out of the 69 studies, only seven reported the inclusion of an Indigenous person in their sample.

The 69 studies comprised 8,332 participants, 6,421 of whom belonged to the dominant ethnicity of the study country. Ethnic minorities made up 1,883 of the participants (30%), with

only 14 Indigenous participants. The remaining 28 participants did not report their ethnicity at the time of the study.

Study type	Study design	Ethnicity n (%)	
Assessments	Cohort	Caucasian	4184 (82.8%)
	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Black/African	345 (6.8%)
		Latinx	130 (2.6%)
		Asian	44 (0.9%)
		Arab	6 (0.1%)
		Indigenous	3 (0.06%)
		Mixed	115 (2.3%)
		Other*	226 (4.5%)
	Cross-sectional	Caucasian	1184 (81.0%)
		Black/African	117 (8.0%) ´
		Latinx	29 (2.0%)
		Asian	24 (1.6%)
		Indigenous	5 (0.4%)
		Mixed	17 (1.2%)
		Other*	82 (5.6%)
	Non-	Caucasian	266 (70.2%)
	Randomized	Black/African	36 (9.5%)
	Trial	Latinx	40 (10.6%)
		Asian	15 (4.0%)
		Other*	22 (5.8%)
Intervention	Non-	Caucasian	376 (70.0%)
	Randomized	Black/African	81 (15.1%)
	Trial	Latinx	35 (6.5%)
		Asian	14 (2.6%)
		Other*	32 (5.9%)
	Randomized	Caucasian	224 (34.3%)
	Trial	Black/African	133 (20.9%)
		Latinx	178 (28.0%)
		Asian	13 (2.0%)
		Indigenous	3 (0.5%)
		Mixed	23 (3.6%)
		Other*	61 (9.6%)
	Cohort	Caucasian	84 (52.2%)
		Black/African	37 (23.0%)
		Latinx	14 (8.7%)
		Indigenous	3 (1.9%)
		Mixed	3 (1.9%)
		Other*	20 (12.4%)
	Cross-sectional	Caucasian	103 (99.0%)
		Asian	1 (1.0%)

Table 9. Types of specific ethnic minority groups included in studies

*The author did not mention which ethnic minorities were included or the participant did not specify their ethnicity.

4.5.6 Remaining Populations

Out of the eight remaining population studies, 38% were assessment studies and 63% were intervention studies. For the three assessment studies, there was one high risk study (Bérubé-Beaulieu et al., 2016) that used a qualitative approach, and there were two foster/adoptive studies (Bernier and Dozier, 2003; Genis et al., 2020) that used a qualitative approach. For the five intervention studies, there was one foster/adoptive study (Kretchmar et al., 2005) that used a mixed-methods approach, two forensic/prison studies (Baradon et al., 2008; Stacks et al., 2019) that used qualitative approaches, and two high risk studies (Pajulo et al., 2012; Rossignol et al., 2013) that used a mixed-methods approach.

4.5.7 Gender

Sex was identified in most papers, but it is not specified clearly whether it is selfidentified binary sex, biological binary sex, or sex assigned at birth. There was not a single paper that included information on gender. The lack of information on sex and gender is a significant gap, given the increased incidence of gender diverse couples engaging in childcare there is a need to examine both gender and sex as determinants of caregiver-child outcomes (MacMullin et al., 2021).

4.5.8 Adverse Childhood Experiences

Of the eleven studies that accounted for ACEs, 55% were assessment studies and the remainder were intervention studies. Among assessment studies, five (Ensink et al., 2016; Garon-Bissonnette et al., 2021; Martinez-Torteya et al., 2018; Riva Crugnola et al., 2019; Stacks et al., 2014) focused on general population samples, and one (Håkansson et al., 2018) focused on a clinical population. Of the five intervention studies, three (Schechter et al., 2006; Stacks et al., 2021; Vik et al., 2021) focused on clinical populations and two (Riva Crugnola et al., 2021; Suchman et al., 2011) focused on a general population sample.

4.5.9 Family History Taken

Of the 35 papers with family history records, 74% were intervention studies and the remainder were assessment studies.

Out of the 26 intervention studies, most studies were either randomized or nonrandomized trials (Bain, 2014; Baradon et al., 2008; Byrne et al., 2019; Fonagy et al., 2016; Letourneau et al., 2020; Pajulo et al., 2009, 2012; Riva Crugnola et al., 2016; Sadler et al., 2013; Salo et al., 2019; Schechter et al., 2006; Slade et al., 2020; Stacks et al., 2019; Suchman, DeCoste, Castiglioni, et al., 2010b; Suchman, DeCoste, Leigh, et al., 2010; Suchman et al., 2008, 2011, 2012) and the remainder used case report or cohort designs (Bark, 2013; Cohen, 2016; Huber et al., 2015; Kretchmar et al., 2005; Lalonde et al., 2015; Perez, 2018; Polansky et al., 2006; Schaefer and Donelli, 2016). A mix of mixed-methods, qualitative, and quantitative approaches were used.

Among the 9 assessment studies, just over 56% use cohort designs (Bernier and Dozier, 2003; Berube-Beaulieu et al., 2016; Easterbrooks et al., 2017; Ensink et al., 2016, 2019) and the remainder used cross-sectional designs (Heron-Delaney et al., 2016; Licata et al., 2013; Meins et al., 2011; Riva Crugnola et al., 2019). A mix of mixed-methods, qualitative, and quantitative approaches were used.

4.5.10 Geographic distribution of studies

Table 10 shows the geographic study site distribution of studies included in alphabetical order. All studies were conducted in countries with major economies and there was not a single paper that was conducted in an LMIC economy.

Table 10. Scope of studies included sorted alphabetically

Country Number of studies	
Australia 7	
Austria 1	
Belgium 2	
Brazil 1	
Canada 22	
Chile 3	
China 2	
Denmark 5	
France 2	
Finland 7	
Germany 10	
Israel 5	
Italy 25	
Japan 2	
Mexico 1	
Netherlands 6	
Norway 6	
South Africa 2	
Spain 1	
Sweden 1	
Switzerland 3	
Turkey 1	
Inited Kingdom 25	
United States 42	
	1 study i (counted

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Summary of major points found

There are several major points that arose from this mapping of evidence on RF assessments and interventions in caregiver-child dyads. Most studies were assessments that used cohort designs with mixed methods approaches in the general population. Cohort designs are appropriate for this population because there are observable patterns of emotional

China

development and clinically relevant epochs in children (Dulcan, 2016). Longitudinal designs help to capture changes in dyadic interactions and RF across the development of a child and their caregiver. Additionally, mixed-methods approaches have been shown to give a more comprehensive picture of clinical measurements, such as caregiver-child dyadic interactions and quality of caregiving relationships (Ivankova & Wingo, 2018).

Most interventions were non-randomized trials using mixed methods approaches which showed improved within-subject pre-post-intervention RF for either the caregiver, child, or both. A more detailed investigation of six randomized controlled trials in a recent meta-analysis (Barlow et al., 2021) showed no significant improvements in pre-post RF scores and a significant reduction in disorganized attachment. The studies were underpowered, however, so there are still future opportunities to look at RF interventions with a bigger sample size to improve dyadic relationships.

The majority of studies included in the present scoping review focused on mother-child dyads. The focus on mothers in the last few decades of research may be due to prevalence of traditional gender roles in binary sex couples during that period (Gowda and Rodriguez, 2019), whereby men are primary wage/salary earners and women primarily engage in child rearing. These patterns are undoubtedly shifting, for example, a recent study (Pedulla & Thébaud, 2015) showed that young, unmarried, childless men and women prefer more egalitarian relationship structures. This would lead to a more equitable caregiving load on both parents in the future. In this context there is a clear gap with respect to knowledge of the impact of gender diversity among caregivers.

4.4.2 Gaps and Future Opportunities

4.4.2.1 Equity, Diversity, and Inclusivity. In addition to the many strengths that exist in the current RF literature, this review illustrates a few important research gaps. Firstly, included articles noted binary gender only. An individual's gender identity, and others' acceptance of it, are important determinants of mental health in children and this needs to be addressed in the RF literature pertaining to caregiver-child dyads. A study by MacMullin et al., (2021), suggests that gender nonconformity in children was correlated with increased emotional and behavioural challenges that is worsened with non-accepting parents/guardians, who view gender as strictly binary. Parents who are more supportive and involved in their child's life, have stronger RF and a healthier parent-child relationship (Rostad & Whitaker, 2016). Therefore, we suspect that lack

of acceptance toward the child's non-conforming gender identity by the caregiver may weaken the caregiver-child relationship and impact the child's RF. More research is needed to elucidate the impact that gender identity has on RF in caregiver-child dyads.

A second gap is the dearth of studies that assess RF in ethnic minorities. Out of the 181 included articles, 69 included an ethnic minority population. Ethnic minorities experience more mental health concerns than members of dominant ethnic groups due to experiences of racism, discrimination, and reduced access to health care (Cokley et al., 2017; Cook et al., 2017; *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5*, 2013; Okazaki, 2009). RF can be impaired in patients with comorbid mental health disorders. A study conducted by Quitmann et al., (2012) found that depressed mothers were less insightful and had lower RF than mothers who were non-depressed. Moreover, Indigenous peoples face an even greater mental health burden (Boksa et al., 2015), yet only seven of the studies included Indigenous participants for a total of 14 Indigenous participants in the entire review. Consequently, we do not understood how RF presents in an ethnic minority population and the impact it has on mental health. Understanding this relationship is critically important for addressing the mental health burden experienced by Indigenous Peoples.

4.4.2.2 Adverse Childhood Experiences. ACEs are an important determinant to consider when studying caregiver-child dyads. There is also evidence detailing the intergenerational transmission of ACEs. For example, maternal maltreatment directly predicted higher levels of maladaptive infant socio-emotional symptoms (McDonnell & Valentino, 2016). Also in a recent longitudinal study, RF mediated the association between maternal childhood abuse and neglect with offspring socioemotional development (Garon-Bissonnette et al., 2021). The present scoping review included 181 studies, but only 6% of studies accounted for childhood trauma in their study designs. There is a substantial opportunity to look at ACEs in future cohort studies to investigate how RF is affected from the maternal prenatal and postnatal stages as well as from a child outcome perspective.

In a nationally representative sample in the United States (Crouch et al., 2019), the most common ACEs reported were economic hardship (22.5%) and parental and guardian separation (21.9%). In the present scoping review out of the 48 intervention studies, only 10% accounted for ACEs so we do not yet understand how ACEs impact treatment outcomes in RF intervention studies. Future trials and assessment studies are needed to understand how RF outcome measurements are affected in caregiver-child dyads when ACEs are included in the analysis.

Simply intervening on a social determinants of health level will not solve health inequalities, but accounting for ACEs in study designs and understanding why children from less advantaged backgrounds appear to have more health challenges may be one positive approach to enabling a more equitable approach for optimizing child and adolescent mental health (Pearce A et al., 2019).

4.4.2.3 Global Mental Health. From a global mental health perspective (GMH), one of the core goals is to reduce disparities in health between groups (Murphy et al., 2019). For example, 90% of people in low to middle income countries (LMIC) have no basic access to mental health care (Patel and Prince, 2010). This has been characterized as a moral failure (Kleinman, 2009). The GMH is an historic gap in quality of mental health compared to other health issues (Votruba & Thornicroft, 2016) reflected in the complete lack of LMIC studies identified in the present review. As the evidence-base for caregiver-child RF interventions increases, so does the need for understanding how to implement and scale-up to the appropriate community context (Eaton et al., 2011).

The first step would be to conduct a cost-benefit analysis as a crucial prerequisite for selecting affordable RF interventions in LMICs. Integrating and contextualizing capacity for evidence-based practice for specific LMIC health systems is also necessary for the process of considering behavioral, managerial, economic, and social barrier factors (Murphy et al., 2021). A more substantial step after the cost-benefit analysis would be to conduct a situational analysis which is an assessment approach to design an appropriate health plan which considers multiple interacting factors in a system such as human, financial, and social determinants of health (World Health Organization, 2018). Situational analysis is (Murphy et al., 2019) an essential first step in developing robust research in GMH.

From a 'social determinants of health perspective,' members of ethnic minority populations may be disproportionately affected by mental health problems as well as experiencing barriers to accessing culturally appropriate care (Grey et al., 2013). Yet, in the present scoping review, only one study examined cross-cultural differences. Australian mothers used a higher frequency of mind-related comments and a lower frequency of non-attuned comments compared to their Chinese mother counterparts (Dai et al., 2020). Additionally, the Australian mothers used more mental state terms referring to desire and preference than Chinese mothers. This may be due to cultural factors where China is more oriented toward collectivist goals and group identity is prioritized based on a Confucian heritage (Keller et al.,

2007). This single cross-cultural study points out an opportunity for substantial contributions to the knowledge base. More replication studies using a cross-cultural lens in LMICs would benefit this body of knowledge.

4.4.2.4 RF as a Determinant. RF may be a determinant as well as a predictor in this context. In a sample of mothers with a history of interpersonal violence related post-traumatic stress disorder, lower maternal RF was associated with child dysregulation as measured by the Infant Toddler Social Emotional Assessment (Suardi et al., 2020).

Another area of interest related to RF is attachment. In a sample of mother-infant dyads, securely attached mothers reported more appropriate mind-related comments and lower non-attuned mind-related comments compared to mothers classified as insecure-avoidant, insecure-resistant, and insecure-disorganized (Meins et al., 2012). Mind-related comments provide one index into how well caregivers can relate to their child in terms of internal experience. Opportunities to be more present and attuned to a child's emotional needs seem to arise when the mother is securely attached and better self-regulated (Evans & Porter, 2009; Kim et al., 2014; Tronick & Beeghly, 2011).

RF can also predict other child outcomes such as infant aggression. In a sample of firsttime mothers, low prenatal RF was associated with high infant physical aggression (Smaling et al., 2017). This RF-aggression link may be moderated by maternal intrusiveness as significant differences in aggression between high and low RF mothers were only observed in the absence of intrusiveness. These findings are of particular concern to parents because early infant aggression can lead to a trajectory of persistent antisocial behaviour later in life (Moffit et al., 2002). Therefore, these findings support interventions that target prenatal maternal RF as a determinant in decreasing child aggression. This is a particular relevance to high-risk mothers where insightfulness, a term related to RF, has shown to be a protective factor to postpartum stress (Martinez-Torteya et al., 2018).

Recent evidence shows that fathers' RF are a protective factor against family risk due to economic disadvantage (Buttitta et al., 2019). However, due to the sparseness of RF evidence found in the present scoping review, it is not clear if the broader results discussed above are applicable to fathers as well as whole family units. Future work would benefit from sampling more diverse caregivers such as fathers, foster parents, and whole family units, rather than

focusing solely on mother-infant dyads to deepen our understanding of RF's role as a determinant.

Based on the RF intervention studies found focusing primarily on mother caregivers, RF does seem to be a modifiable trait in adulthood. It is difficult to determine the strength of this plasticity due to the variability of terms used to capture this concept and especially since terms such as metacognition and theory of mind, as opposed to RF, are more commonly used in empirical studies for adults. Further work on modifying RF levels in adults would be a valuable area to explore, since the present focus has been on health outcomes in caregiver-child dyads.

4.4.3 Limitations

This scoping review investigated the range of evidence from published studies of RF assessments and interventions in caregiver-child dyads. Many variables across time will have an impact on caregiver-child dyads. Among these factors, a current prominent concern is pandemic illnesses, such as the SARS-CoV-2-pandemic, which undoubtably have an impact on this context (Köhler-Dauner et al., 2021). The literature on this is sparse and more work is needed, especially around impact of pre-vs. post-pandemic stressors on health (Fong & larocci, 2021).

The present scoping review did not account for large-scale disasters (such as COVID-19, fires, floods, etc.) but the negative mental health effects on families are noted. For instance, considering COVID-19 disrupting face-to-face therapeutic interventions, one recent study showed initial improvements in parental RF from a virtual attachment-based group intervention (Lewis et al., 2022). In terms of recessions, from a national sample in the United States in the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic, results from a study (Russell et al., 2020) show that parents/guardians who reported higher caregiving burden also reported higher anxiety, depression, and parent perceived child stress. These caregiver burden, mental health, and child perception of stress associations were, in turn, significantly associated with child-parent closeness and conflict, which indicate a "spillover" effect for parents struggling with mental health problems onto their child (Fong & Iarocci, 2021).

In other evidence (Kalil, 2013), the economic recession of 2007-2009 involved parental job loss, and residential instability which may drive negative later life outcomes for children. One narrative review (Makwana, 2019) found that psychological impact on children from disasters can manifest in post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, anxiety, emotional distress, and

sleep disorders. These results are important to consider because additional overall population stressors may provide a "natural experiment" opportunity to further elucidate the determinants of RF within caregiver-child relationships. Due to sparseness of the RF literature, it was not possible to tap into this and look at issues such as the SARS-CoV-2-pandemic and effects of economic instability as it relates to RF outcomes in caregiver-child dyads from the perspective of overall determinants of health (Liu et al., 2020).

In addition, a quality appraisal was out of scope for the present scoping review since the aim was to systematically map out the evidence and gaps in knowledge for RF in caregiver-child dyads and to provide a foundation for future systematic reviews of subtopics within the RF literature.

Finally, this scoping review only included peer-reviewed manuscripts published in English, Spanish, French, German and Arabic. It is possible that this led to the omission of relevant studies published in other languages. However, given the resources available to our team we are confident that the search strategies and inclusion/exclusion criteria used captured a representative sample of the RF literature that is useful for offering future directions in this key area of research.

4.4.4 Conclusion

Our review summarizes evidence relating to RF assessments and interventions for caregiverchild dyads. The EDI lens that we used to frame the research question and select search criteria provides a list of studies sorted by type of study, study design, type of data, and population type. This review identified substantial gaps in studies including both biological sex and gender, ACEs, ethnic minority populations, and studies conducted in LMICs. Future work would benefit from including more comprehensive surveys on the populations studied with gender information and ACE background. Studies focusing on both Indigenous communities and LMICs are needed for us to understand potential disparities in health outcomes.

Funding: This work was supported by funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CG Scholarship to JJ).

Disclosure statement: The authors report there are no competing interests to declare.

4.7 References

- 1. Ainsworth, M., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E. C., & Wall, S. N. (1978). The strange situation. *Social Issues Refer.*
- 2. Allen, J. G., & Fonagy, P. (Eds.). (2006). The handbook of mentalization-based treatment. *John Wiley & Sons.*
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. International journal of social research methodology, 8(1), 19-32.
- Badoud, D., Prada, P., Nicastro, R., Germond, C., Luyten, P., Perroud, N., & Debbané, M. (2018). Attachment and reflective functioning in women with borderline personality disorder. *Journal of personality disorders, 32*(1), 17-30.
- Bain, K. (2014). "NEW BEGINNINGS" IN SOUTH AFRICAN SHELTERS FOR THE HOMELESS: PILOTING OF A GROUP PSYCHOTHERAPY INTERVENTION FOR HIGH-RISK MOTHER–INFANT DYADS. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 35(6), 591-603.
- Baradon, T., Fonagy, P., Bland, K., Lénárd, K., & Sleed, M. (2008). New Beginnings–an experience-based programme addressing the attachment relationship between mothers and their babies in prisons. *Journal of Child Psychotherapy*, *34*(2), 240-258.
- Bark, C. (2013). Mentalization-based Mother-Child Therapy in early Childhood Case Study and Treatment Concept. *PSYCHOTHERAPEUT*, *58*(4), 388-393.
- Barlow, J., Sleed, M., & Midgley, N. (2021). Enhancing parental reflective functioning through early dyadic interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Infant Mental Health Journal, 42*(1), 21-34.
- Bernier, A., & Dozier, M. (2003). Bridging the attachment transmission gap: The role of maternal mind-mindedness. *International journal of behavioral development*, 27(4), 355-365.
- Bérubé-Beaulieu, É., Ensink, K., & Normandin, L. (2016). Fonctionnement réflexif de la mère et attachement de l'enfant: une étude prospective des liens avec la sensibilité et l'orientation mentale maternelle. *Revue québécoise de psychologie, 37*(3), 7-28.
- Boksa, P., Joober, R., & Kirmayer, L. J. (2015). Mental wellness in Canada's Aboriginal communities: striving toward reconciliation. *Journal of psychiatry & neuroscience: JPN,* 40(6), 363.
- Buttitta, K. V., Smiley, P. A., Kerr, M. L., Rasmussen, H. F., Querdasi, F. R., & Borelli, J. L. (2019). In a father's mind: paternal reflective functioning, sensitive parenting, and

protection against socioeconomic risk. *Attachment & Human Development, 21*(5), 445-466.

- Byrne, G., Sleed, M., Midgley, N., Fearon, P., Mein, C., Bateman, A., & Fonagy, P. (2019). Lighthouse Parenting Programme: Description and pilot evaluation of mentalization-based treatment to address child maltreatment. *Clinical child psychology and psychiatry*, *24*(4), 680-693.
- 14. Camoirano, A. (2017). Mentalizing makes parenting work: A review about parental reflective functioning and clinical interventions to improve it. *Frontiers in psychology, 8,* 14.
- Chevalier, V., Simard, V., Achim, J., Burmester, P., & Beaulieu-Tremblay, T. (2021). Reflective Functioning in Children and Adolescents With and Without an Anxiety Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*.
- 16. Cohen, P. (2016). Dyadic treatment, reflective functioning, and videofeedback: Fostering attachment with families in the foster care system. *Journal of Infant, Child, and Adolescent Psychotherapy, 15*(2), 104-119.
- Cokley, K., Smith, L., Bernard, D., Hurst, A., Jackson, S., Stone, S., ... & Roberts, D. (2017). Impostor feelings as a moderator and mediator of the relationship between perceived discrimination and mental health among racial/ethnic minority college students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *64*(2), 141.
- Cook, B. L., Trinh, N. H., Li, Z., Hou, S. S. Y., & Progovac, A. M. (2017). Trends in racialethnic disparities in access to mental health care, 2004–2012. *Psychiatric Services,* 68(1), 9-16.
- Crouch, E., Probst, J. C., Radcliff, E., Bennett, K. J., & McKinney, S. H. (2019).
 Prevalence of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) among US children. *Child Abuse* & *Neglect*, *92*, 209-218.
- Dai, Q., McMahon, C., & Lim, A. K. (2020). Cross-cultural comparison of maternal mindmindedness among Australian and Chinese mothers. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 44(4), 365-370.
- Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5 (2013) 5th ed. Arlington,
 VA: American Psychiatric Association Publishing.
- 22. Dulcan, M. K. (Ed.). (2021). Dulcan's textbook of child and adolescent psychiatry. *American Psychiatric Pub.*

- Dunn, J., & Brown, J. R. (1993). Early conversations about causality: Content, pragmatics and developmental change. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *11*(2), 107-123.
- Easterbrooks, M. A., Crossman, M. K., Caruso, A., Raskin, M., & Miranda-Julian, C. (2017). Maternal mind–mindedness and toddler behavior problems: The moderating role of maternal trauma and posttraumatic stress. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(4), 1431-1442.
- Eaton, J., McCay, L., Semrau, M., Chatterjee, S., Baingana, F., Araya, R., ... & Saxena, S. (2011). Scale up of services for mental health in low-income and middle-income countries. *The Lancet*, *378*(9802), 1592-1603.
- 26. Ensink, K., Bégin, M., Normandin, L., & Fonagy, P. (2016). Maternal and child reflective functioning in the context of child sexual abuse: Pathways to depression and externalising difficulties. *European journal of psychotraumatology, 7*(1), 30611.
- 27. Ensink, K., Borelli, J. L., Roy, J., Normandin, L., Slade, A., & Fonagy, P. (2019). Costs of not getting to know you: Lower levels of parental reflective functioning confer risk for maternal insensitivity and insecure infant attachment. *Infancy*, 24(2), 210-227.
- 28. Ensink, K., Normandin, L., Target, M., Fonagy, P., Sabourin, S., & Berthelot, N. (2015). Mentalization in children and mothers in the context of trauma: An initial study of the validity of the Child Reflective Functioning Scale. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 33(2), 203-217.
- 29. Evans, C. A., & Porter, C. L. (2009). The emergence of mother–infant co-regulation during the first year: Links to infants' developmental status and attachment. *Infant Behavior and Development, 32*(2), 147-158.
- 30. Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *14*(4), 245-258.
- 31. Fonagy, P., & Target, M. (1997). Attachment and reflective function: Their role in selforganization. *Development and psychopathology*, *9*(4), 679-700.
- 32. Fonagy, P., & Target, M. (2005). Bridging the transmission gap: An end to an important mystery of attachment research?.
- 33. Fonagy, P., Steele, M., Steele, H., Moran, G. S., & Higgitt, A. C. (1991). The capacity for understanding mental states: The reflective self in parent and child and its significance for security of attachment. *Infant mental health journal*, *12*(3), 201-218.
- 34. Fonagy, P., Sleed, M., & Baradon, T. (2016). Randomized controlled trial of parent– infant psychotherapy for parents with mental health problems and young infants. *Infant mental health journal, 37*(2), 97-114.
- 35. C. Fong, V., & Iarocci, G. (2020). Child and family outcomes following pandemics: A systematic review and recommendations on COVID-19 policies. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, *45*(10), 1124-1143.
- Garon-Bissonnette, J., Duguay, G., Lemieux, R., Dubois-Comtois, K., & Berthelot, N. (2022). Maternal childhood abuse and neglect predicts offspring development in early childhood: The roles of reflective functioning and child sex. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 128,* 105030.
- 37. Genis, C., Harf, A., Skandrani, S. M., & Moro, M. R. (2020). Considerations about the notion of reflective parental functioning in adoption. *Neuropsychiatrie de l'Enfance et de l'Adolescence, 68*(6), 320-326.
- 38. George, C., Kaplan, N., & Main, M. (1996). Adult attachment interview.
- 39. Goldman, A. I. (1989). Interpretation psychologized. *Mind & Language, 4*(3), 161-185.
- Gowda, A. S., & Rodriguez, C. M. (2019). Gender role ideology in mothers and fathers: Relation with parent-child aggression risk longitudinally. *Child abuse & neglect, 96,* 104087.
- Grey, T., Sewell, H., Shapiro, G., & Ashraf, F. (2013). Mental health inequalities facing UK minority ethnic populations: Causal factors and solutions. *Journal of Psychological Issues in Organizational Culture, 3*(S1), 146-157.
- 42. Håkansson, U., Watten, R., Söderström, K., Skårderud, F., & Øie, M. G. (2018). Adverse and adaptive childhood experiences are associated with parental reflective functioning in mothers with substance use disorder. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 81*, 259-273.
- Heron-Delaney, M., Kenardy, J. A., Brown, E. A., Jardine, C., Bogossian, F., Neuman, L., ... & Pritchard, M. (2016). Early maternal reflective functioning and infant emotional regulation in a preterm infant sample at 6 months corrected age. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *41*(8), 906-914.
- 44. Huber, A., McMahon, C. A., & Sweller, N. (2015). Efficacy of the 20-week circle of security intervention: Changes in caregiver reflective functioning, representations, and child attachment in an Australian clinical sample. *Infant mental health journal, 36*(6), 556-574.

- Ivankova, N., & Wingo, N. (2018). Applying mixed methods in action research: Methodological potentials and advantages. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(7), 978-997.
- 46. Kalil, A. (2013). Effects of the great recession on child development. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 650*(1), 232-250.
- 47. Keller, H., Abels, M., Borke, J., Lamm, B., Su, Y., Wang, Y., & Lo, W. (2007).
 Socialization environments of Chinese and Euro-American middle-class babies:
 Parenting behaviors, verbal discourses and ethnotheories. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *31*(3), 210-217.
- 48. Schoeneberg, C., Schilling, M., Burggraf, M., Fochtmann, U., & Lendemans, S. (2014). Reduction in mortality in severely injured patients following the introduction of the "Treatment of patients with severe and multiple injuries" guideline of the German society of trauma surgery–a retrospective analysis of a level 1 trauma center (2010–2012). *Injury, 45*(3), 635-638.
- 49. Kleinman, A. (2009). Global mental health: a failure of humanity. *The lancet, 374*(9690), 603-604.
- Köhler-Dauner, F., Clemens, V., Lange, S., Ziegenhain, U., & Fegert, J. M. (2021). Mothers' daily perceived stress influences their children's mental health during SARS-CoV-2-pandemic—an online survey. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health, 15*(1), 1-9.
- 51. Kretchmar, M. D., Worsham, N. L., & Swenson, N. (2005). Anna's story: A qualitative analysis of an at-risk mother's experience in an attachment-based foster care program. *Attachment & Human Development, 7*(1), 31-49.
- 52. Parke, R. D., & Ladd, G. W. (Eds.). (2016). Family-peer relationships: Modes of linkage. *Routledge.*
- 53. Lalonde, M. M., Dreier, M., Aaronson, G., & O'Brien, J. (2015). The value of reflective functioning within an academic therapeutic nursery. *The Psychoanalytic Study of the Child, 69*(1), 346-371.
- 54. Letourneau, N., Anis, L., Ntanda, H., Novick, J., Steele, M., Steele, H., & Hart, M. (2020). Attachment & Child Health (ATTACH) pilot trials: Effect of parental reflective function intervention for families affected by toxic stress. *Infant mental health journal, 41*(4), 445-462.
- 55. Levac, D., Colquhoun, H., & O'Brien, K. K. (2010). Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. *Implementation science, 5*(1), 1-9.

- Lewis, M., Stirk, S., Collie, H., Ansbro, Y., Johnson, R., Karyofylli, A., ... & Erin, L. (2022). Nurturing attachments group: A virtual group intervention for adults caring for traumatised children in the context of COVID-19. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *27*(1), 214-227.
- Licata, M., Kristen, S., Thoermer, C., & Sodian, B. (2013). How does early maternal mind-mindedness influence children's empathy development?. *ZEITSCHRIFT FUR ENTWICKLUNGSPSYCHOLOGIE UND PADAGOGISCHE PSYCHOLOGIE, 45*(2), 77-90.
- Liu, J. J., Bao, Y., Huang, X., Shi, J., & Lu, L. (2020). Mental health considerations for children quarantined because of COVID-19. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health, 4*(5), 347-349.
- 59. Lo, C. K., & Wong, S. Y. (2022). The effectiveness of parenting programs in regard to improving parental reflective functioning: a meta-analysis. *Attachment & Human Development, 24*(1), 76-92.
- McDonnell, C. G., & Valentino, K. (2016). Intergenerational effects of childhood trauma: evaluating pathways among maternal ACEs, perinatal depressive symptoms, and infant outcomes. *Child maltreatment*, 21(4), 317-326.
- 61. MacMullin, L. N., Bokeloh, L. M., Nabbijohn, A. N., Santarossa, A., van der Miesen, A. I., Peragine, D. E., & VanderLaan, D. P. (2021). Examining the relation between gender nonconformity and psychological well-being in children: The roles of peers and parents. *Archives of Sexual Behavior, 50*(3), 823-841.
- 62. Makwana, N. (2019). Disaster and its impact on mental health: A narrative review. *Journal of family medicine and primary care, 8*(10), 3090.
- 63. Martinez-Torteya, C., Rosenblum, K. L., Beeghly, M., Oppenheim, D., Koren-Karie, N., & Muzik, M. (2018). Maternal insightfulness protects against the detrimental effects of postpartum stress on positive parenting among at-risk mother–infant dyads. *Attachment & human development, 20*(3), 272-286.
- 64. Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., Arnott, B., Turner, M., & Leekam, S. R. (2011). Motherversus infant-centered correlates of maternal mind-mindedness in the first year of life. *Infancy*, *16*(2), 137-165.
- 65. Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., de Rosnay, M., Arnott, B., Leekam, S. R., & Turner, M. (2012). Mind-mindedness as a multidimensional construct: Appropriate and nonattuned mind-related comments independently predict infant–mother attachment in a socially diverse sample. *Infancy*, *17*(4), 393-415.

- 66. Moffitt, T. E., Caspi, A., Harrington, H., & Milne, B. J. (2002). Males on the life-coursepersistent and adolescence-limited antisocial pathways: Follow-up at age 26 years. *Development and psychopathology*, *14*(1), 179-207.
- 67. Murphy, J. K., Michalak, E. E., Colquhoun, H., Woo, C., Ng, C. H., Parikh, S. V., ... & Lam, R. W. (2019). Methodological approaches to situational analysis in global mental health: a scoping review. *Global Mental Health*, 6.
- 68. Murphy, J. K., Khan, A., Sun, Q., Minas, H., Hatcher, S., Ng, C. H., ... & Lam, R. W. (2021). Needs, gaps and opportunities for standard and e-mental health care among atrisk populations in the Asia Pacific in the context of COVID-19: a rapid scoping review. *International journal for equity in health, 20*(1), 1-22.
- Øie, M. G., Aarnes, I. E., Eilertsen, L. H., Söderström, K., Ystrom, E., & Håkansson, U. (2020). High levels of the openness trait are associated with better parental reflective functioning in mothers with substance use disorders. *Addictive Behaviors Reports, 12*, 100318.
- 70. Okazaki, S. (2009). Impact of racism on ethnic minority mental health. Perspectives on *Psychological Science*, *4*(1), 103-107.
- Pajulo, M., Suchman, N., Kalland, M., Sinkkonen, J., Helenius, H., & Mayes, L. (2008).
 Role of maternal reflective ability for substance abusing mothers. *Journal of prenatal & perinatal psychology & health: APPPAH, 23*(1), 13.
- 72. Pajulo, M., Pyykkönen, N., Kalland, M., Sinkkonen, J., Helenius, H., Punamäki, R. L., & Suchman, N. (2012). Substance-abusing mothers in residential treatment with their babies: Importance of pre-and postnatal maternal reflective functioning. *Infant mental health journal*, 33(1), 70-81.
- 73. Patel, V., & Prince, M. (2010). Global mental health: a new global health field comes of age. *Jama, 303*(19), 1976-1977.
- 74. Pearce, A., Dundas, R., Whitehead, M., & Taylor-Robinson, D. (2019). Pathways to inequalities in child health. *Archives of disease in childhood, 104*(10), 998-1003.
- 75. Pedulla, D. S., & Thébaud, S. (2015). Can we finish the revolution? Gender, work-family ideals, and institutional constraint. *American sociological review, 80*(1), 116-139.
- 76. Perez, A. (2018). From pathological merger to a reflective, triangular space: Parentinfant psychotherapy with a mother with borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Infant, Child, and Adolescent Psychotherapy, 17*(1), 15-27.
- 77. Polansky, M., Lauterbach, W., Litzke, C., Coulter, B., & Sommers, L. (2006). A qualitative study of an attachment-based parenting group for mothers with drug

addictions: On being and having a mother. *Journal of Social Work Practice, 20*(2), 115-131.

- 78. Quitmann, J. H., Kriston, L., Romer, G., & Ramsauer, B. (2012). The capacity to see things from the child's point of view—Assessing insightfulness in mothers with and without a diagnosis of depression. *Clinical psychology & psychotherapy, 19*(6), 508-517.
- 79. Reynolds, D. (2003). Mindful parenting: A group approach to enhancing reflective capacity in parents and infants. *Journal of Child Psychotherapy, 29*(3), 357-374.
- 80. Riva Crugnola, C., Ierardi, E., Albizzati, A., & Downing, G. (2016). Effectiveness of an attachment-based intervention program in promoting emotion regulation and attachment in adolescent mothers and their infants: A pilot study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *7*, 195.
- 81. Crugnola, C. R., Ierardi, E., Bottini, M., Verganti, C., & Albizzati, A. (2019). Childhood experiences of maltreatment, reflective functioning and attachment in adolescent and young adult mothers: Effects on mother-infant interaction and emotion regulation. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 93,* 277-290.
- 82. Riva Crugnola, C., Ierardi, E., Peruta, V., Moioli, M., & Albizzati, A. (2021). Videofeedback attachment based intervention aimed at adolescent and young mothers: effectiveness on infant-mother interaction and maternal mind-mindedness. *Early Child Development and Care, 191*(3), 475-489.
- Rossignol, A., Terradas, M. M., Puentes-Neuman, G., Caron, M., & Leroux, J. (2013). The Watch, Wait, and Wonder Approach and the Evolution of Parental Reflective Functioning in High-Risk Mothers. *Devenir*, *25*(4), 257-283.
- Rostad, W. L., & Whitaker, D. J. (2016). The association between reflective functioning and parent–child relationship quality. *Journal of child and family studies, 25*(7), 2164-2177.
- Russell, B. S., Hutchison, M., Tambling, R., Tomkunas, A. J., & Horton, A. L. (2020).
 Initial challenges of caregiving during COVID-19: Caregiver burden, mental health, and the parent–child relationship. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development, 51*(5), 671-682.
- 86. Rutherford, H. J., Goldberg, B., Luyten, P., Bridgett, D. J., & Mayes, L. C. (2013). Parental reflective functioning is associated with tolerance of infant distress but not general distress: Evidence for a specific relationship using a simulated baby paradigm. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *36*(4), 635-641.
- Sadler, L. S., Slade, A., Close, N., Webb, D. L., Simpson, T., Fennie, K., & Mayes, L. C. (2013). Minding the baby: Enhancing reflectiveness to improve early health and

relationship outcomes in an interdisciplinary home-visiting program. *Infant mental health journal, 34*(5), 391-405.

- Salo, S. J., Flykt, M., Mäkelä, J., Biringen, Z., Kalland, M., Pajulo, M., & Punamäki, R. L. (2019). The effectiveness of Nurture and Play: a mentalisation-based parenting group intervention for prenatally depressed mothers. *Primary Health Care Research & Development, 20.*
- Schaefer, M. P., & Donelli, T. M. S. (2016). MATERNAL MENTALIZING CAPACITY AND PREMATURITY: EFFECTS OF AN INTERVENTION IN NICU1. *Psicologia em Estudo, 21*(4), 617-627.
- Schechter, D. S., Myers, M. M., Brunelli, S. A., Coates, S. W., Zeanah, Jr, C. H., Davies, M., ... & Liebowitz, M. R. (2006). Traumatized mothers can change their minds about their toddlers: Understanding how a novel use of videofeedback supports positive change of maternal attributions. *Infant Mental Health Journal: Official Publication of The World Association for Infant Mental Health*, 27(5), 429-447.
- 91. Slade, A., Holland, M. L., Ordway, M. R., Carlson, E. A., Jeon, S., Close, N., ... & Sadler, L. S. (2020). Minding the Baby®: Enhancing parental reflective functioning and infant attachment in an attachment-based, interdisciplinary home visiting program. *Development and psychopathology*, *32*(1), 123-137.
- 92. Smaling, H. J., Huijbregts, S. C., Suurland, J., Van Der Heijden, K. B., Van Goozen, S. H., & Swaab, H. (2015). Prenatal reflective functioning in primiparous women with a high-risk profile. *Infant Mental Health Journal, 36*(3), 251-261.
- 93. Smaling, H. J., Huijbregts, S. C. J., Van der Heijden, K. B., Hay, D. F., Van Goozen, S. H. M., & Swaab, H. (2017). Prenatal reflective functioning and development of aggression in infancy: The roles of maternal intrusiveness and sensitivity. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, *45*(2), 237-248.
- 94. Stacks, A. M., Muzik, M., Wong, K., Beeghly, M., Huth-Bocks, A., Irwin, J. L., & Rosenblum, K. L. (2014). Maternal reflective functioning among mothers with childhood maltreatment histories: Links to sensitive parenting and infant attachment security. *Attachment & human development, 16*(5), 515-533.
- 95. Stacks, A. M., Barron, C. C., & Wong, K. (2019). Infant mental health home visiting in the context of an infant—toddler court team: changes in parental responsiveness and reflective functioning. *Infant mental health journal, 40*(4), 523-540.
- 96. Stacks, A. M., Jester, J. M., Wong, K., Huth-Bocks, A., Brophy-Herb, H., Lawler, J., ... & Rosenblum, K. L. (2022). Infant mental health home visiting: Intervention dosage and

therapist experience interact to support improvements in maternal reflective functioning. *Attachment & Human Development, 24*(1), 53-75.

- 97. Steele, H., & Steele, M. (2008). On the origins of reflective functioning. Mentalization: Theoretical considerations, research findings, and clinical implications, *29*, 133-158.
- 98. Stern, D. N. (1985). The sense of a subjective self, 1: affect attunement. In The interpersonal world of the infant: A view from psychoanalysis and developmental psychology (pp. 138-61).
- 99. Suardi, F., Moser, D. A., Sancho Rossignol, A., Manini, A., Vital, M., Merminod, G., ... & Schechter, D. S. (2020). Maternal reflective functioning, interpersonal violence-related posttraumatic stress disorder, and risk for psychopathology in early childhood. *Attachment & Human Development, 22*(2), 225-245.
- Suchman, N. E., DeCoste, C., Castiglioni, N., McMahon, T. J., Rounsaville, B., & Mayes, L. (2010). The Mothers and Toddlers Program, an attachment-based parenting intervention for substance using women: Post-treatment results from a randomized clinical pilot. *Attachment & human development*, *12*(5), 483-504.
- 101. Suchman, N., DeCoste, C., Castiglioni, N., Legow, N., & Mayes, L. (2008). The Mothers and Toddlers Program: Preliminary findings from an attachment-based parenting intervention for substance-abusing mothers. *Psychoanalytic Psychology*, 25(3), 499.
- 102. Suchman, N. E., DeCoste, C., Leigh, D., & Borelli, J. (2010). Reflective functioning in mothers with drug use disorders: Implications for dyadic interactions with infants and toddlers. *Attachment & human development*, *12*(6), 567-585.
- 103. Suchman, N. E., Decoste, C., Mcmahon, T. J., Rounsaville, B., & Mayes, L. (2011). The mothers and toddlers program, an attachment-based parenting intervention for substance-using women: Results at 6-week follow-up in a randomized clinical pilot. *Infant mental health journal, 32*(4), 427-449.
- 104. Suchman, N. E., Decoste, C., Rosenberger, P., & McMahon, T. J. (2012). Attachmentbased intervention for substance-using mothers: A preliminary test of the proposed mechanisms of change. *Infant mental health journal*, 33(4), 360-371.
- Tricco, A. C., Lillie, E., Zarin, W., O'Brien, K. K., Colquhoun, H., Levac, D., ... & Straus, S. E. (2018). PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. *Annals of internal medicine*, *169*(7), 467-473.
- 106. Tronick, E., & Beeghly, M. (2011). Infants' meaning-making and the development of mental health problems. *American Psychologist, 66*(2), 107.

- 107. Simhan, I., Vik, K., Veseth, M., & Hjeltnes, A. (2021). Learning to mentalize: Exploring vulnerable parents' experiences of change during video guidance in an infant mental health clinic. *BMC psychiatry*, *21*(1), 1-13.
- 108. Votruba, N., Thornicroft, G., & FundaMentalSDG Steering Group. (2016). Sustainable development goals and mental health: learnings from the contribution of the FundaMentalSDG global initiative. Global Mental Health, 3.
- 109. Winnicott, D. W. (2009). Winnicott on the child. Da Capo Lifelong Books.
- 110. World Health Organization (2018) Situation analysis and priority setting. Available at: http://www.who.int/nationalpolicies/processes/priorities/en/ (accessed 20 January 2022).

Chapter 5. Brief Summary and Conclusion

The broad and deleterious impact of ACEs on society calls for effective and novel treatment approaches. Trauma-informed care offers a framework that seeks to understand how best to engage with individuals who have a significant history of adversity. Little Warriors is one example of a treatment facility designed with trauma-informed care principles in mind (i.e., safety defined by the individual, trauma-informed training for staff, cohort approaches, etc.). The research described in this thesis demonstrated long term treatment benefits for children with a history of child sexual abuse. A new and innovative method of clinical engagement with caregivers of children was also used successfully in the Little Warriors trauma-informed context. Trauma-informed care enables us to understand individual differences and the importance of determinants of health, such as caregiver-child dyadic health. Several reflective functioning such skills in caregiver-child dyads. The reflective functioning literature is growing, but future studies need to be expanded into low to middle income countries with gender measurements incorporated.

Trauma-informed care is flexible and the benefits are far broader than residential treatment facilities alone. Based on the positive evidence from this thesis, future areas of research in the application of trauma-informed care appear bright and there is plenty of room for scaling up in other health contexts.

Thesis bibliography

- 1. Ainsworth, M., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E. C., & Wall, S. N. (1978). The strange situation. Social Issues Refer.
- 2. Allen, J. G., & Fonagy, P. (Eds.). (2006). The handbook of mentalization-based treatment. John Wiley & Sons.
- Andalibi, N., Haimson, O. L., Choudhury, M. D., & Forte, A. (2018). Social support, reciprocity, and anonymity in responses to sexual abuse disclosures on social media. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction (TOCHI), 25(5), 1-35.
- 4. Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. International journal of social research methodology, 8(1), 19-32.
- Badoud, D., Prada, P., Nicastro, R., Germond, C., Luyten, P., Perroud, N., & Debbané, M. (2018). Attachment and reflective functioning in women with borderline personality disorder. Journal of personality disorders, 32(1), 17-30.
- Bagley, C., & Mallick, K. (2001). Normative data and mental health construct validity for the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale in British Adolescents. International Journal of Adolescence and Youth, 9(2-3), 117-126.
- Bain, K. (2014). "NEW BEGINNINGS" IN SOUTH AFRICAN SHELTERS FOR THE HOMELESS: PILOTING OF A GROUP PSYCHOTHERAPY INTERVENTION FOR HIGH-RISK MOTHER–INFANT DYADS. Infant Mental Health Journal, 35(6), 591-603.
- 8. Baradon, T., Fonagy, P., Bland, K., Lénárd, K., & Sleed, M. (2008). New Beginnings–an experience-based programme addressing the attachment relationship between mothers and their babies in prisons. Journal of Child Psychotherapy, 34(2), 240-258.
- 9. Bark, C. (2013). Mentalization-based Mother-Child Therapy in early Childhood Case Study and Treatment Concept. PSYCHOTHERAPEUT, 58(4), 388-393.
- Barlow, J., Sleed, M., & Midgley, N. (2021). Enhancing parental reflective functioning through early dyadic interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Infant Mental Health Journal, 42(1), 21-34.
- Barroso, N. E., Mendez, L., Graziano, P. A., & Bagner, D. M. (2018). Parenting stress through the lens of different clinical groups: A systematic review & meta-analysis. Journal of abnormal child psychology, 46(3), 449-461.
- Bernier, A., & Dozier, M. (2003). Bridging the attachment transmission gap: The role of maternal mind-mindedness. International journal of behavioral development, 27(4), 355-365.

- Bérubé-Beaulieu, É., Ensink, K., & Normandin, L. (2016). Fonctionnement réflexif de la mère et attachement de l'enfant: une étude prospective des liens avec la sensibilité et l'orientation mentale maternelle. Revue québécoise de psychologie, 37(3), 7-28.
- Boksa, P., Joober, R., & Kirmayer, L. J. (2015). Mental wellness in Canada's Aboriginal communities: striving toward reconciliation. Journal of psychiatry & neuroscience: JPN, 40(6), 363.
- Boland, J., Currow, D. C., Wilcock, A., Tieman, J., Hussain, J. A., Pitsillides, C., ... & Johnson, M. J. (2015). A systematic review of strategies used to increase recruitment of people with cancer or organ failure into clinical trials: implications for palliative care research. Journal of pain and symptom management, 49(4), 762-772.
- Bonardi, J. P., Gallea, Q., Kalanoski, D., & Lalive, R. (2020). Fast and local: How did lockdown policies affect the spread and severity of the covid-19. Covid Econ, 23, 325-351.
- Boullier, M., & Blair, M. (2018). Adverse childhood experiences. Paediatrics and Child Health, 28(3), 132-137.
- 18. Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in psychology, 3(2), 77-101.
- 19. Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in psychology, 3(2), 77-101.
- 20. Brennan, E., & McElvaney, R. (2020). What helps children tell? A qualitative metaanalysis of child sexual abuse disclosure. Child abuse review, 29(2), 97-113.
- 21. Browne, A., & Finkelhor, D. (1986). Impact of child sexual abuse: The literature. Psychological Bulletin, 99, 66-77.
- Bryan, J., Griffin, D., Kim, J., Griffin, D. M., & Young, A. (2019). School counselor leadership in school-family-community partnerships: An equity-focused partnership process model for moving the field forward. The Wiley handbook on family, school, and community relationships in education, 265-287.
- Bryson, S. A., Gauvin, E., Jamieson, A., Rathgeber, M., Faulkner-Gibson, L., Bell, S., ... & Burke, S. (2017). What are effective strategies for implementing trauma-informed care in youth inpatient psychiatric and residential treatment settings? A realist systematic review. International journal of mental health systems, 11(1), 1-16.
- 24. Bryson, S. A., Gauvin, E., Jamieson, A., Rathgeber, M., Faulkner-Gibson, L., Bell, S., ...& Burke, S. (2017). What are effective strategies for implementing trauma-informed care

in youth inpatient psychiatric and residential treatment settings? A realist systematic review. International journal of mental health systems, 11(1), 1-16.

- Buttitta, K. V., Smiley, P. A., Kerr, M. L., Rasmussen, H. F., Querdasi, F. R., & Borelli, J. L. (2019). In a father's mind: paternal reflective functioning, sensitive parenting, and protection against socioeconomic risk. Attachment & Human Development, 21(5), 445-466.
- Byrne, G., Sleed, M., Midgley, N., Fearon, P., Mein, C., Bateman, A., & Fonagy, P. (2019). Lighthouse Parenting Programme: Description and pilot evaluation of mentalization-based treatment to address child maltreatment. Clinical child psychology and psychiatry, 24(4), 680-693.
- C. Fong, V., & Iarocci, G. (2020). Child and family outcomes following pandemics: A systematic review and recommendations on COVID-19 policies. Journal of pediatric psychology, 45(10), 1124-1143.
- Camoirano, A. (2017). Mentalizing makes parenting work: A review about parental reflective functioning and clinical interventions to improve it. Frontiers in psychology, 8, 14.
- 29. Charlesworth, L. W., & Rodwell, M. K. (1997). Focus groups with children: A resource for sexual abuse prevention program evaluation. Child abuse & neglect, 21(12), 1205-1216.
- Chen, L. P., Murad, M. H., Paras, M. L., Colbenson, K. M., Sattler, A. L., Goranson, E. N., ... & Zirakzadeh, A. (2010, July). Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders: systematic review and meta-analysis. In Mayo clinic proceedings (Vol. 85, No. 7, pp. 618-629). Elsevier.
- Chen, L. P., Murad, M. H., Paras, M. L., Colbenson, K. M., Sattler, A. L., Goranson, E. N., Elamin, M. B., Seime, R. J., Shinozaki, G., & Prokop, L. J. (2010). Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 85(7), 618–629.
- Cheung, M. C. (2016). Effectiveness of attention bias modification treatment for children with social anxiety problem. HKU Theses Online (HKUTO).
- Chevalier, V., Simard, V., Achim, J., Burmester, P., & Beaulieu-Tremblay, T. (2021). Reflective Functioning in Children and Adolescents With and Without an Anxiety Disorder. Frontiers in Psychology, 12.
- Chorpita, B. F., Moffitt, C. E., & Gray, J. (2005). Psychometric properties of the Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale in a clinical sample. Behaviour research and therapy, 43(3), 309-322.

- Cohen, P. (2016). Dyadic treatment, reflective functioning, and videofeedback: Fostering attachment with families in the foster care system. Journal of Infant, Child, and Adolescent Psychotherapy, 15(2), 104-119.
- Cokley, K., Smith, L., Bernard, D., Hurst, A., Jackson, S., Stone, S., ... & Roberts, D. (2017). Impostor feelings as a moderator and mediator of the relationship between perceived discrimination and mental health among racial/ethnic minority college students. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 64(2), 141.
- Cook, B. L., Trinh, N. H., Li, Z., Hou, S. S. Y., & Progovac, A. M. (2017). Trends in racialethnic disparities in access to mental health care, 2004–2012. Psychiatric Services, 68(1), 9-16.
- Cooke, J. E., Kochendorfer, L. B., Stuart-Parrigon, K. L., Koehn, A. J., & Kerns, K. A. (2019). Parent–child attachment and children's experience and regulation of emotion: A meta-analytic review. Emotion, 19(6), 1103.
- 39. Corrigan, F. M., & Hull, A. M. (2015). Neglect of the complex: why psychotherapy for post-traumatic clinical presentations is often ineffective. BJPsych bulletin, 39(2), 86-89.
- Cowell, J., & Harvie, M. (2012, December). HQCA: Building a credible, transparent, and independent healthcare quality and safety organization in Alberta. In Healthcare Management Forum (Vol. 25, No. 4, pp. 185-187). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Cowell, J., & Harvie, M. (2012, December). HQCA: Building a credible, transparent, and independent healthcare quality and safety organization in Alberta. In Healthcare Management Forum (Vol. 25, No. 4, pp. 185-187). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, C., Violato, M., Fairbanks, H., White, E., Parkinson, M., Abitabile, G., ... & Cooper, P. J. (2017). Clinical outcomes and cost-effectiveness of brief guided parentdelivered cognitive behavioural therapy and solution-focused brief therapy for treatment of childhood anxiety disorders: a randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Psychiatry, 4(7), 529-539.
- Crouch, E., Probst, J. C., Radcliff, E., Bennett, K. J., & McKinney, S. H. (2019).
 Prevalence of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) among US children. Child Abuse & Neglect, 92, 209-218.
- 44. Crugnola, C. R., Ierardi, E., Bottini, M., Verganti, C., & Albizzati, A. (2019). Childhood experiences of maltreatment, reflective functioning and attachment in adolescent and

young adult mothers: Effects on mother-infant interaction and emotion regulation. Child Abuse & Neglect, 93, 277-290.

- 45. Dai, Q., McMahon, C., & Lim, A. K. (2020). Cross-cultural comparison of maternal mindmindedness among Australian and Chinese mothers. International Journal of Behavioral Development, 44(4), 365-370.
- de Figueiredo, C. S., Sandre, P. C., Portugal, L. C. L., Mázala-de-Oliveira, T., da Silva Chagas, L., Raony, Í., ... & Bomfim, P. O. S. (2021). COVID-19 pandemic impact on children and adolescents' mental health: Biological, environmental, and social factors. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 106, 110171.
- Deeb-Sossa, N., Cuellar, M. G., Nuñez Martinez, M., Sanchez Nava, Y., & Guerrero, B. G. (2021). Examining recruitment practices for servingness during COVID-19: Perspectives from institutional agents at an emerging Hispanic-serving institution (HSI). Education Sciences, 11(9), 454.
- Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5 (2013) 5th ed. Arlington,
 VA: American Psychiatric Association Publishing.
- 49. Dulcan, M. K. (Ed.). (2021). Dulcan's textbook of child and adolescent psychiatry. American Psychiatric Pub.
- 50. Dulcan, M. K. (Ed.). (2021). Dulcan's textbook of child and adolescent psychiatry. American Psychiatric Pub.
- Dunn, J., & Brown, J. R. (1993). Early conversations about causality: Content, pragmatics and developmental change. British Journal of Developmental Psychology, 11(2), 107-123.
- Easterbrooks, M. A., Crossman, M. K., Caruso, A., Raskin, M., & Miranda-Julian, C. (2017). Maternal mind–mindedness and toddler behavior problems: The moderating role of maternal trauma and posttraumatic stress. Development and Psychopathology, 29(4), 1431-1442.
- Eaton, J., McCay, L., Semrau, M., Chatterjee, S., Baingana, F., Araya, R., ... & Saxena, S. (2011). Scale up of services for mental health in low-income and middle-income countries. The Lancet, 378(9802), 1592-1603.
- 54. Ensink, K., Bégin, M., Normandin, L., & Fonagy, P. (2016). Maternal and child reflective functioning in the context of child sexual abuse: Pathways to depression and externalising difficulties. European journal of psychotraumatology, 7(1), 30611.

- Ensink, K., Borelli, J. L., Roy, J., Normandin, L., Slade, A., & Fonagy, P. (2019). Costs of not getting to know you: Lower levels of parental reflective functioning confer risk for maternal insensitivity and insecure infant attachment. Infancy, 24(2), 210-227.
- Ensink, K., Normandin, L., Target, M., Fonagy, P., Sabourin, S., & Berthelot, N. (2015). Mentalization in children and mothers in the context of trauma: An initial study of the validity of the Child Reflective Functioning Scale. British Journal of Developmental Psychology, 33(2), 203-217.
- 57. Evans, C. A., & Porter, C. L. (2009). The emergence of mother–infant co-regulation during the first year: Links to infants' developmental status and attachment. Infant Behavior and Development, 32(2), 147-158.
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. American journal of preventive medicine, 14(4), 245-258.
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., ...
 & Marks, J. S. (2019). Reprint of: relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: the adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study. American journal of preventive medicine, 56(6), 774-786.
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., Koss, M. P., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of Childhood Abuse and Household Dysfunction to Many of the Leading Causes of Death in Adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 14(4), 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8
- Foa, E. B., Johnson, K. M., Feeny, N. C., & Treadwell, K. R. (2001). The Child PTSD Symptom Scale: A preliminary examination of its psychometric properties. Journal of clinical child psychology, 30(3), 376-384.
- 62. Fonagy, P., & Target, M. (1997). Attachment and reflective function: Their role in selforganization. Development and psychopathology, 9(4), 679-700.
- 63. Fonagy, P., & Target, M. (2005). Bridging the transmission gap: An end to an important mystery of attachment research?.
- 64. Fonagy, P., Sleed, M., & Baradon, T. (2016). Randomized controlled trial of parent– infant psychotherapy for parents with mental health problems and young infants. Infant mental health journal, 37(2), 97-114.

- 65. Fonagy, P., Steele, M., Steele, H., Moran, G. S., & Higgitt, A. C. (1991). The capacity for understanding mental states: The reflective self in parent and child and its significance for security of attachment. Infant mental health journal, 12(3), 201-218.
- 66. Fusch Ph D, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.
- 67. Fusch Ph D, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.
- Garon-Bissonnette, J., Duguay, G., Lemieux, R., Dubois-Comtois, K., & Berthelot, N. (2022). Maternal childhood abuse and neglect predicts offspring development in early childhood: The roles of reflective functioning and child sex. Child Abuse & Neglect, 128, 105030.
- 69. Genis, C., Harf, A., Skandrani, S. M., & Moro, M. R. (2020). Considerations about the notion of reflective parental functioning in adoption. Neuropsychiatrie de l'Enfance et de l'Adolescence, 68(6), 320-326.
- 70. George, C., Kaplan, N., & Main, M. (1996). Adult attachment interview.
- 71. Gibson, F. (2007). Conducting focus groups with children and young people: strategies for success. Journal of research in nursing, 12(5), 473-483.
- 72. Goldman, A. I. (1989). Interpretation psychologized. Mind & Language, 4(3), 161-185.
- Gowda, A. S., & Rodriguez, C. M. (2019). Gender role ideology in mothers and fathers: Relation with parent-child aggression risk longitudinally. Child abuse & neglect, 96, 104087.
- Grey, T., Sewell, H., Shapiro, G., & Ashraf, F. (2013). Mental health inequalities facing UK minority ethnic populations: Causal factors and solutions. Journal of Psychological Issues in Organizational Culture, 3(S1), 146-157.
- 75. Hailes, H. P., Yu, R., Danese, A., & Fazel, S. (2019). Long-term outcomes of childhood sexual abuse: an umbrella review. The Lancet Psychiatry, 6(10), 830-839.
- 76. Håkansson, U., Watten, R., Söderström, K., Skårderud, F., & Øie, M. G. (2018). Adverse and adaptive childhood experiences are associated with parental reflective functioning in mothers with substance use disorder. Child Abuse & Neglect, 81, 259-273.
- Hales, T. W., Green, S. A., Bissonette, S., Warden, A., Diebold, J., Koury, S. P., & Nochajski, T. H. (2019). Trauma-informed care outcome study. Research on Social Work Practice, 29(5), 529-539.

- Hall, A., McKenna, B., Dearie, V., Maguire, T., Charleston, R., & Furness, T. (2016).
 Educating emergency department nurses about trauma informed care for people presenting with mental health crisis: A pilot study. BMC nursing, 15(1), 1-8.
- Heron-Delaney, M., Kenardy, J. A., Brown, E. A., Jardine, C., Bogossian, F., Neuman, L., ... & Pritchard, M. (2016). Early maternal reflective functioning and infant emotional regulation in a preterm infant sample at 6 months corrected age. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 41(8), 906-914.
- Huang, H., Yan, P., Shan, Z., Chen, S., Li, M., Luo, C., Gao, H., Hao, L., & Liu, L. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Metabolism, 64(11), 1408–1418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2015.08.019
- 81. Huang, L. N., Flatow, R., Biggs, T., Afayee, S., Smith, K., Clark, T., & Blake, M. (2014). SAMHSA's Concept of Truama and Guidance for a Trauma-Informed Approach.
- Huang, L. N., Flatow, R., Biggs, T., Afayee, S., Smith, K., Clark, T., & Blake, M. (2014).
 SAMHSA's Concept of Truama and Guidance for a Trauma-Informed Approach.
- Huber, A., McMahon, C. A., & Sweller, N. (2015). Efficacy of the 20-week circle of security intervention: Changes in caregiver reflective functioning, representations, and child attachment in an Australian clinical sample. Infant mental health journal, 36(6), 556-574.
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., ... & Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Public Health, 2(8), e356-e366.
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., Jones, L., & Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Public Health, 2(8), e356–e366. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4
- Ivankova, N., & Wingo, N. (2018). Applying mixed methods in action research: Methodological potentials and advantages. American Behavioral Scientist, 62(7), 978-997.
- 87. James, A. C., Reardon, T., Soler, A., James, G., & Creswell, C. (2020). Cognitive behavioural therapy for anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. Cochrane database of systematic reviews, (11).
- 88. Jin, J., Al-Shamali, H., Reeson, M., Silverstone, P., Pazderka, H., Wei, Y., & Greenshaw,A. (2022) Innovative recruitment using a hybrid webinar/focus group format: Caregiver-

child dyads in child sexual abuse [Unpublished manuscript], Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta.

- Jin, J., Smith-MacDonald, L., Al-Shamali, H., Reeson, M., Pazderka, H., Li, X., Polzin, W., Wei, Y., Silverstone, P., & Greenshaw, A. (2022). Multimodal treatment for sexual abuse survivors: Mixed-methods results indicate benefits for children and caregivers [Unpublished manuscript]. Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta.
- Jinkerson, J. D. (2016). Defining and assessing moral injury: A syndrome perspective. Traumatology, 22(2), 122.
- Kajeepeta, S., Gelaye, B., Jackson, C. L., & Williams, M. A. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences are associated with adult sleep disorders: A systematic review. Sleep Medicine, 16(3), 320–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2014.12.013
- 92. Kalil, A. (2013). Effects of the great recession on child development. The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 650(1), 232-250.
- Kalmakis, K. A., & Chandler, G. E. (2015). Health consequences of adverse childhood experiences: A systematic review. Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners, 27(8), 457–465. https://doi.org/10.1002/2327-6924.12215
- 94. Kealy, D., Rice, S. M., Ogrodniczuk, J. S., & Spidel, A. (2018). Childhood trauma and somatic symptoms among psychiatric outpatients: Investigating the role of shame and guilt. Psychiatry research, 268, 169-174.
- Keller, H., Abels, M., Borke, J., Lamm, B., Su, Y., Wang, Y., & Lo, W. (2007). Socialization environments of Chinese and Euro-American middle-class babies: Parenting behaviors, verbal discourses and ethnotheories. International Journal of Behavioral Development, 31(3), 210-217.
- 96. Kennedy, A. C., & Prock, K. A. (2018). "I still feel like I am not normal": A review of the role of stigma and stigmatization among female survivors of child sexual abuse, sexual assault, and intimate partner violence. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 19(5), 512-527.
- 97. Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No.131. Medical teacher, 42(8), 846-854.
- Kip, K. E., Elk, C. A., Sullivan, K. L., Kadel, R., Lengacher, C. A., Long, C. J., ... & Diamond, D. M. (2012). Brief treatment of symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) by use of accelerated resolution therapy (ART®). Behavioral Sciences, 2(2), 115-134.

- Klaufus, L., Verlinden, E., Van Der Wal, M., Kösters, M., Cuijpers, P., & Chinapaw, M. (2020). Psychometric evaluation of two short versions of the Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale. BMC psychiatry, 20(1), 1-12.
- 100. Kleinman, A. (2009). Global mental health: a failure of humanity. The lancet, 374(9690), 603-604.
- 101. Koch, T. (1994). Establishing rigour in qualitative research: the decision trail. Journal of advanced nursing, 19(5), 976-986.
- 102. Koch, T. (1994). Establishing rigour in qualitative research: the decision trail. Journal of advanced nursing, 19(5), 976-986.
- 103. Köhler-Dauner, F., Clemens, V., Lange, S., Ziegenhain, U., & Fegert, J. M. (2021). Mothers' daily perceived stress influences their children's mental health during SARS-CoV-2-pandemic—an online survey. Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health, 15(1), 1-9.
- 104. Köhler-Dauner, F., Clemens, V., Lange, S., Ziegenhain, U., & Fegert, J. M. (2021). Mothers' daily perceived stress influences their children's mental health during SARS-CoV-2-pandemic—an online survey. Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health, 15(1), 1-9.
- 105. Krauss, S., Orth, U., & Robins, R. W. (2020). Family environment and self-esteem development: A longitudinal study from age 10 to 16. Journal of personality and social psychology, 119(2), 457. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000263.
- 106. Kretchmar, M. D., Worsham, N. L., & Swenson, N. (2005). Anna's story: A qualitative analysis of an at-risk mother's experience in an attachment-based foster care program. Attachment & Human Development, 7(1), 31-49.
- 107. Lalonde, M. M., Dreier, M., Aaronson, G., & O'Brien, J. (2015). The value of reflective functioning within an academic therapeutic nursery. The Psychoanalytic Study of the Child, 69(1), 346-371.
- 108. Lamberink, H. J., Otte, W. M., Sinke, M. R., Lakens, D., Glasziou, P. P., Tijdink, J. K., & Vinkers, C. H. (2018). Statistical power of clinical trials increased while effect size remained stable: an empirical analysis of 136,212 clinical trials between 1975 and 2014. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 102, 123-128.
- 109. Lazarus, A. A., & Lazarus, A. A. (2019). Multimodal therapy. Handbook of psychotherapy integration, 2.
- 110. Lebowitz, E. R., Marin, C., Martino, A., Shimshoni, Y., & Silverman, W. K. (2020). Parent-based treatment as efficacious as cognitive-behavioral therapy for childhood

anxiety: A randomized noninferiority study of supportive parenting for anxious childhood emotions. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 59(3), 362-372.

- 111. LeDoux, J. E., & Pine, D. S. (2016). Using neuroscience to help understand fear and anxiety: a two-system framework. American journal of psychiatry.
- 112. Letourneau, N., Anis, L., Ntanda, H., Novick, J., Steele, M., Steele, H., & Hart, M. (2020). Attachment & Child Health (ATTACH) pilot trials: Effect of parental reflective function intervention for families affected by toxic stress. Infant mental health journal, 41(4), 445-462.
- 113. Levac, D., Colquhoun, H., & O'Brien, K. K. (2010). Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. Implementation science, 5(1), 1-9.
- 114. Levine, P. (2012). Somatic experiencing.
- Lewis, M., Stirk, S., Collie, H., Ansbro, Y., Johnson, R., Karyofylli, A., ... & Erin, L. (2022). Nurturing attachments group: A virtual group intervention for adults caring for traumatised children in the context of COVID-19. Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 27(1), 214-227.
- 116. Licata, M., Kristen, S., Thoermer, C., & Sodian, B. (2013). How does early maternal mind-mindedness influence children's empathy development?. ZEITSCHRIFT FUR ENTWICKLUNGSPSYCHOLOGIE UND PADAGOGISCHE PSYCHOLOGIE, 45(2), 77-90.
- 117. Lincoln, Y. S. 8b Guba, EG (1985). Naturalistic inquiry.
- 118. Lincoln, Y. S., Guba, E. G., & Pilotta, J. J. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry Newbury Park. Cal. Sage.
- Liu, J. J., Bao, Y., Huang, X., Shi, J., & Lu, L. (2020). Mental health considerations for children quarantined because of COVID-19. The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health, 4(5), 347-349.
- Liu, Y., Pencheon, E., Hunter, R. M., Moncrieff, J., & Freemantle, N. (2018). Recruitment and retention strategies in mental health trials–a systematic review. PLoS One, 13(8), e0203127.
- 121. Lo, C. K., & Wong, S. Y. (2022). The effectiveness of parenting programs in regard to improving parental reflective functioning: a meta-analysis. Attachment & Human Development, 24(1), 76-92.
- 122. Lo, C. K., Chan, K. L., & Ip, P. (2019). Insecure adult attachment and child maltreatment: A meta-analysis. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 20(5), 706-719.

- 123. Lopez-Carmen, V., McCalman, J., Benveniste, T., Askew, D., Spurling, G., Langham, E., & Bainbridge, R. (2019). Working together to improve the mental health of indigenous children: A systematic review. Children and Youth Services Review, 104, 104408.
- 124. Lotzin, A., Lu, X., Kriston, L., Schiborr, J., Musal, T., Romer, G., & Ramsauer, B. (2015). Observational tools for measuring parent–infant interaction: A systematic review. Clinical child and family psychology review, 18(2), 99-132.
- 125. Macdonald, G., Livingstone, N., Hanratty, J., McCartan, C., Cotmore, R., Cary, M., ... & Churchill, R. (2016). The effectiveness, acceptability and cost-effectiveness of psychosocial interventions for maltreated children and adolescents: an evidence synthesis. Health technology assessment (Winchester, England), 20(69).
- 126. MacGinley, M., Breckenridge, J., & Mowll, J. (2019). A scoping review of adult survivors' experiences of shame following sexual abuse in childhood. Health & social care in the community, 27(5), 1135-1146.
- 127. MacMullin, L. N., Bokeloh, L. M., Nabbijohn, A. N., Santarossa, A., van der Miesen, A. I., Peragine, D. E., & VanderLaan, D. P. (2021). Examining the relation between gender nonconformity and psychological well-being in children: The roles of peers and parents. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 50(3), 823-841.
- 128. MacMullin, L. N., Bokeloh, L. M., Nabbijohn, A. N., Santarossa, A., van der Miesen, A. I., Peragine, D. E., & VanderLaan, D. P. (2021). Examining the relation between gender nonconformity and psychological well-being in children: The roles of peers and parents. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 50(3), 823-841.
- 129. Makwana, N. (2019). Disaster and its impact on mental health: A narrative review. Journal of family medicine and primary care, 8(10), 3090.
- Maniglio, R. (2009). The impact of child sexual abuse on health: A systematic review of reviews. Clinical psychology review, 29(7), 647-657.
- Maniglio, R. (2009). The impact of child sexual abuse on health: A systematic review of reviews. Clinical Psychology Review, 29(7), 647–657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.08.003
- 132. Martin, E. K., & Silverstone, P. H. (2013). How much child sexual abuse is "below the surface," and can we help adults identify it early? Frontiers in Psychiatry, 4, 58.
- 133. Martin, E. K., & Silverstone, P. H. (2013). How much child sexual abuse is "below the surface," and can we help adults identify it early?. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 4, 58.
- Martinez-Torteya, C., Rosenblum, K. L., Beeghly, M., Oppenheim, D., Koren-Karie, N., & Muzik, M. (2018). Maternal insightfulness protects against the detrimental effects of

postpartum stress on positive parenting among at-risk mother–infant dyads. Attachment & human development, 20(3), 272-286.

- 135. McDonnell, C. G., & Valentino, K. (2016). Intergenerational effects of childhood trauma: evaluating pathways among maternal ACEs, perinatal depressive symptoms, and infant outcomes. Child maltreatment, 21(4), 317-326.
- 136. McEwen, C., Alisic, E., & Jobson, L. (2021). Moral injury and mental health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Traumatology, 27(3), 303.
- 137. Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., Arnott, B., Turner, M., & Leekam, S. R. (2011). Motherversus infant-centered correlates of maternal mind-mindedness in the first year of life. Infancy, 16(2), 137-165.
- 138. Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., de Rosnay, M., Arnott, B., Leekam, S. R., & Turner, M. (2012). Mind-mindedness as a multidimensional construct: Appropriate and nonattuned mind-related comments independently predict infant–mother attachment in a socially diverse sample. Infancy, 17(4), 393-415.
- 139. Moffitt, T. E., Caspi, A., Harrington, H., & Milne, B. J. (2002). Males on the life-coursepersistent and adolescence-limited antisocial pathways: Follow-up at age 26 years. Development and psychopathology, 14(1), 179-207.
- 140. Murphy, J. K., Khan, A., Sun, Q., Minas, H., Hatcher, S., Ng, C. H., ... & Lam, R. W. (2021). Needs, gaps and opportunities for standard and e-mental health care among atrisk populations in the Asia Pacific in the context of COVID-19: a rapid scoping review. International journal for equity in health, 20(1), 1-22.
- 141. Murphy, J. K., Michalak, E. E., Colquhoun, H., Woo, C., Ng, C. H., Parikh, S. V., ... & Lam, R. W. (2019). Methodological approaches to situational analysis in global mental health: a scoping review. Global Mental Health, 6.
- 142. Murphy, S. M., Chowdhury, U., White, S. W., Reynolds, L., Donald, L., Gahan, H., ... & Press, D. A. (2017). Cognitive behaviour therapy versus a counselling intervention for anxiety in young people with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders: a pilot randomised controlled trial. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 47(11), 3446-3457.
- 143. Naik, A. D., Dindo, L. N., Van Liew, J. R., Hundt, N. E., Vo, L., Hernandez-Bigos, K., ... & Tinetti, M. E. (2018). Development of a clinically feasible process for identifying individual health priorities. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 66(10), 1872-1879.

- Nataliya, I., & Wingo, N. (2018). Applying Mixed Methods In Action Research: Methodological Potentials and Advantages: Prod. The American Behavioral Scientist, 62(7), 978-997.
- 145. Nelson, S. E., & Wilson, K. (2017). The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. Social Science & Medicine, 176, 93-112.
- 146. Nielsen, A. P., Hansen, J., Skorupinski, B., Ingensiep, H. W., Baranzke, H., Lassen, J., & Sandoe, P. (2006). Consensus conference manual. LEI, onderdeel Wageningen UR.
- 147. Nixon, R. D., Meiser-Stedman, R., Dalgleish, T., Yule, W., Clark, D. M., Perrin, S., & Smith, P. (2013). The Child PTSD Symptom Scale: an update and replication of its psychometric properties. Psychological assessment, 25(3), 1025.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. International journal of qualitative methods, 16(1), 1609406917733847.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. International journal of qualitative methods, 16(1), 1609406917733847.
- 150. Ogden, P. (2021). The different impact of trauma and relational stress on physiology, posture, and movement: Implications for treatment. European Journal of Trauma & Dissociation, 5(4), 100172.
- 151. Ogden, P., & Minton, K. (2000). Sensorimotor psychotherapy: One method for processing traumatic memory. Traumatology, 6(3), 149-173.
- 152. Øie, M. G., Aarnes, I. E., Eilertsen, L. H., Söderström, K., Ystrom, E., & Håkansson, U. (2020). High levels of the openness trait are associated with better parental reflective functioning in mothers with substance use disorders. Addictive Behaviors Reports, 12, 100318.
- 153. Okazaki, S. (2009). Impact of racism on ethnic minority mental health. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 4(1), 103-107.
- Okunlola, O. B., Odukoya, J. A., & Gesinde, A. M. (2021). Outcomes of sexual abuse on self-esteem among adolescents: A systematic review. Cogent Social Sciences, 7(1), 1856296.
- 155. Ormhaug, S. M., & Jensen, T. K. (2018). Investigating treatment characteristics and firstsession relationship variables as predictors of dropout in the treatment of traumatized youth. Psychotherapy Research, 28(2), 235-249.

- 156. Pajulo, M., Pyykkönen, N., Kalland, M., Sinkkonen, J., Helenius, H., Punamäki, R. L., & Suchman, N. (2012). Substance-abusing mothers in residential treatment with their babies: Importance of pre-and postnatal maternal reflective functioning. Infant mental health journal, 33(1), 70-81.
- 157. Pajulo, M., Suchman, N., Kalland, M., Sinkkonen, J., Helenius, H., & Mayes, L. (2008). Role of maternal reflective ability for substance abusing mothers. Journal of prenatal & perinatal psychology & health: APPPAH, 23(1), 13.
- 158. Parke, R. D., & Ladd, G. W. (Eds.). (2016). Family-peer relationships: Modes of linkage. Routledge.
- 159. Patel, V., & Prince, M. (2010). Global mental health: a new global health field comes of age. Jama, 303(19), 1976-1977.
- 160. Pearce, A., Dundas, R., Whitehead, M., & Taylor-Robinson, D. (2019). Pathways to inequalities in child health. Archives of disease in childhood, 104(10), 998-1003.
- 161. Pedulla, D. S., & Thébaud, S. (2015). Can we finish the revolution? Gender, work-family ideals, and institutional constraint. American sociological review, 80(1), 116-139.
- 162. Perez, A. (2018). From pathological merger to a reflective, triangular space: Parentinfant psychotherapy with a mother with borderline personality disorder. Journal of Infant, Child, and Adolescent Psychotherapy, 17(1), 15-27.
- 163. Petruccelli, D. Berman (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and associated health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Child Abuse and Neglect.
- 164. Petruccelli, K., Davis, J., & Berman, T. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and associated health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Child Abuse & Neglect, 97, 104127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104127
- 165. Polansky, M., Lauterbach, W., Litzke, C., Coulter, B., & Sommers, L. (2006). A qualitative study of an attachment-based parenting group for mothers with drug addictions: On being and having a mother. Journal of Social Work Practice, 20(2), 115-131.
- 166. Posluns, K., & Gall, T. L. (2020). Dear mental health practitioners, take care of yourselves: A literature review on self-care. International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling, 42(1), 1-20.
- 167. Powell, R. A., Single, H. M., & Lloyd, K. R. (1996). Focus groups in mental health research: enhancing the validity of user and provider questionnaires. International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 42(3), 193-206.

- 168. Priest, N., & Ryke, E. (2020). The influence of specialised training on the experience of compassion fatigue and compassion satisfaction among social workers conducting child sexual abuse investigations. Child Abuse Research in South Africa, 21(1), 10-19.
- Pulverman, C. S., Kilimnik, C. D., & Meston, C. M. (2018). The Impact of Childhood Sexual Abuse on Women's Sexual Health: A Comprehensive Review. Sexual Medicine Reviews, 6(2), 188–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sxmr.2017.12.002
- 170. Pulverman, C. S., Kilimnik, C. D., & Meston, C. M. (2018). The impact of childhood sexual abuse on women's sexual health: A comprehensive review. Sexual Medicine Reviews, 6(2), 188-200.
- 171. Quitmann, J. H., Kriston, L., Romer, G., & Ramsauer, B. (2012). The capacity to see things from the child's point of view—Assessing insightfulness in mothers with and without a diagnosis of depression. Clinical psychology & psychotherapy, 19(6), 508-517.
- 172. Ravens-Sieberer, U., Erhart, M., Rajmil, L., Herdman, M., Auquier, P., Bruil, J., ... & Kilroe, J. (2010). Reliability, construct and criterion validity of the KIDSCREEN-10 score: a short measure for children and adolescents' well-being and health-related quality of life. Quality of life research, 19(10), 1487-1500.
- 173. Rees, S., Channon, S., & Waters, C. S. (2019). The impact of maternal prenatal and postnatal anxiety on children's emotional problems: a systematic review. European child & adolescent psychiatry, 28(2), 257-280.
- 174. Reeson, M., Polzin, W., Pazderka, H., Agyapong, V., Greenshaw, A. J., Hnatko, G., ... & Silverstone, P. H. (2020). A Novel 2-week Intensive Multimodal Treatment Program for Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) Survivors is Associated with Mental Health Benefits for Females aged 13–16. Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 29(3), 165.
- 175. Reeson, M., Polzin, W., Pazderka, H., Agyapong, V., Greenshaw, A. J., Hnatko, G., ... & Silverstone, P. H. (2020). A novel 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors is associated with mental health benefits for females aged 13–16. Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 29(3), 165.
- 176. Reeson, M., Polzin, W., Pazderka, H., Agyapong, V., Greenshaw, A. J., Hnatko, G., ... & Silverstone, P. H. (2020). A novel 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors is associated with mental health benefits for females aged 13–16. Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 29(3), 165.

- 177. Reeson, M., Polzin, W., Pazderka, H., Agyapong, V., Greenshaw, A. J., Hnatko, G., Wei, Y., Syzmanski, L., & Silverstone, P. H. (2022). The COVID-19 pandemic negatively impacted treatment outcomes in a complex multimodal treatment program designed for youth child sexual abuse survivors [Manuscript submitted for publication]. Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta.
- 178. Reigada, L. C., Polokowski, A. R., Walder, D. J., Szigethy, E. M., Benkov, K. J., Bruzzese, J. M., & Masia Warner, C. (2015). Treatment for comorbid pediatric gastrointestinal and anxiety disorders: A pilot study of a flexible health sensitive cognitive-behavioral therapy program. Clinical Practice in Pediatric Psychology, 3(4), 314.
- 179. Reynolds, D. (2003). Mindful parenting: A group approach to enhancing reflective capacity in parents and infants. Journal of Child Psychotherapy, 29(3), 357-374.
- 180. Riva Crugnola, C., Ierardi, E., Albizzati, A., & Downing, G. (2016). Effectiveness of an attachment-based intervention program in promoting emotion regulation and attachment in adolescent mothers and their infants: A pilot study. Frontiers in Psychology, 7, 195.
- 181. Riva Crugnola, C., Ierardi, E., Peruta, V., Moioli, M., & Albizzati, A. (2021). Videofeedback attachment based intervention aimed at adolescent and young mothers: effectiveness on infant-mother interaction and maternal mind-mindedness. Early Child Development and Care, 191(3), 475-489.
- 182. Rossignol, A., Terradas, M. M., Puentes-Neuman, G., Caron, M., & Leroux, J. (2013). The Watch, Wait, and Wonder Approach and the Evolution of Parental Reflective Functioning in High-Risk Mothers. Devenir, 25(4), 257-283.
- Rostad, W. L., & Whitaker, D. J. (2016). The association between reflective functioning and parent–child relationship quality. Journal of child and family studies, 25(7), 2164-2177.
- 184. Rupert, D. J., Poehlman, J. A., Hayes, J. J., Ray, S. E., & Moultrie, R. R. (2017). Virtual versus in-person focus groups: Comparison of costs, recruitment, and participant logistics. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 19(3), e6980.
- Rupert, P. A., & Dorociak, K. E. (2019). Self-care, stress, and well-being among practicing psychologists. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 50(5), 343.
- 186. Russell, B. S., Hutchison, M., Tambling, R., Tomkunas, A. J., & Horton, A. L. (2020). Initial challenges of caregiving during COVID-19: Caregiver burden, mental health, and the parent–child relationship. Child Psychiatry & Human Development, 51(5), 671-682.

- Russell, B. S., Hutchison, M., Tambling, R., Tomkunas, A. J., & Horton, A. L. (2020).
 Initial challenges of caregiving during COVID-19: Caregiver burden, mental health, and the parent–child relationship. Child Psychiatry & Human Development, 51(5), 671-682.
- 188. Rutherford, H. J., Goldberg, B., Luyten, P., Bridgett, D. J., & Mayes, L. C. (2013). Parental reflective functioning is associated with tolerance of infant distress but not general distress: Evidence for a specific relationship using a simulated baby paradigm. Infant Behavior and Development, 36(4), 635-641.
- 189. Sadler, L. S., Slade, A., Close, N., Webb, D. L., Simpson, T., Fennie, K., & Mayes, L. C. (2013). Minding the baby: Enhancing reflectiveness to improve early health and relationship outcomes in an interdisciplinary home-visiting program. Infant mental health journal, 34(5), 391-405.
- 190. Salo, S. J., Flykt, M., Mäkelä, J., Biringen, Z., Kalland, M., Pajulo, M., & Punamäki, R. L. (2019). The effectiveness of Nurture and Play: a mentalisation-based parenting group intervention for prenatally depressed mothers. Primary Health Care Research & Development, 20.
- 191. Salum, G. A., Petersen, C. S., Jarros, R. B., Toazza, R., DeSousa, D., Borba, L. N., ... & Manfro, G. G. (2018). Group cognitive behavioral therapy and attention bias modification for childhood anxiety disorders: a factorial randomized trial of efficacy. Journal of child and adolescent psychopharmacology, 28(9), 620-630.
- 192. Sánchez-Meca, J., Rosa-Alcázar, A. I., & López-Soler, C. (2011). The psychological treatment of sexual abuse in children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. International journal of clinical and health psychology, 11(1), 67-93.
- 193. Schaefer, M. P., & Donelli, T. M. S. (2016). MATERNAL MENTALIZING CAPACITY AND PREMATURITY: EFFECTS OF AN INTERVENTION IN NICU1. Psicologia em Estudo, 21(4), 617-627.
- 194. Schechter, D. S., Myers, M. M., Brunelli, S. A., Coates, S. W., Zeanah, Jr, C. H., Davies, M., ... & Liebowitz, M. R. (2006). Traumatized mothers can change their minds about their toddlers: Understanding how a novel use of videofeedback supports positive change of maternal attributions. Infant Mental Health Journal: Official Publication of The World Association for Infant Mental Health, 27(5), 429-447.
- 195. Scheer, J. R., Edwards, K. M., Sheinfil, A. Z., Dalton, M. R., Firkey, M. K., & Watson, R. J. (2021). Interpersonal victimization, substance use, and mental health among sexual and gender minority youth: the role of self-concept factors. Journal of interpersonal violence, 08862605211035868.

- 196. Schoeneberg, C., Schilling, M., Burggraf, M., Fochtmann, U., & Lendemans, S. (2014). Reduction in mortality in severely injured patients following the introduction of the "Treatment of patients with severe and multiple injuries" guideline of the German society of trauma surgery–a retrospective analysis of a level 1 trauma center (2010–2012). Injury, 45(3), 635-638.
- 197. Schönbucher, V., Maier, T., Mohler-Kuo, M., Schnyder, U., & Landolt, M. A. (2012). Disclosure of child sexual abuse by adolescents: A qualitative in-depth study. Journal of interpersonal violence, 27(17), 3486-3513.
- 198. Schönbucher, V., Maier, T., Mohler-Kuo, M., Schnyder, U., & Landolt, M. A. (2012). Disclosure of Child Sexual Abuse by Adolescents: A Qualitative In-Depth Study. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 27(17), 3486–3513. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512445380
- Shapiro, F., & Laliotis, D. (2011). EMDR and the adaptive information processing model: Integrative treatment and case conceptualization. Clinical Social Work Journal, 39(2), 191-200.
- 200. Silk, J. S., Tan, P. Z., Ladouceur, C. D., Meller, S., Siegle, G. J., McMakin, D. L., ... & Ryan, N. D. (2018). A randomized clinical trial comparing individual cognitive behavioral therapy and child-centered therapy for child anxiety disorders. Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology, 47(4), 542-554.
- 201. Simhan, I., Vik, K., Veseth, M., & Hjeltnes, A. (2021). Learning to mentalize: Exploring vulnerable parents' experiences of change during video guidance in an infant mental health clinic. BMC psychiatry, 21(1), 1-13.
- Slade, A., Holland, M. L., Ordway, M. R., Carlson, E. A., Jeon, S., Close, N., ... & Sadler, L. S. (2020). Minding the Baby®: Enhancing parental reflective functioning and infant attachment in an attachment-based, interdisciplinary home visiting program. Development and psychopathology, 32(1), 123-137.
- 203. Smaling, H. J., Huijbregts, S. C. J., Van der Heijden, K. B., Hay, D. F., Van Goozen, S. H. M., & Swaab, H. (2017). Prenatal reflective functioning and development of aggression in infancy: The roles of maternal intrusiveness and sensitivity. Journal of abnormal child psychology, 45(2), 237-248.
- 204. Smaling, H. J., Huijbregts, S. C., Suurland, J., Van Der Heijden, K. B., Van Goozen, S. H., & Swaab, H. (2015). Prenatal reflective functioning in primiparous women with a high-risk profile. Infant Mental Health Journal, 36(3), 251-261.

- 205. Stacks, A. M., Barron, C. C., & Wong, K. (2019). Infant mental health home visiting in the context of an infant—toddler court team: changes in parental responsiveness and reflective functioning. Infant mental health journal, 40(4), 523-540.
- 206. Stacks, A. M., Jester, J. M., Wong, K., Huth-Bocks, A., Brophy-Herb, H., Lawler, J., ... & Rosenblum, K. L. (2022). Infant mental health home visiting: Intervention dosage and therapist experience interact to support improvements in maternal reflective functioning. Attachment & Human Development, 24(1), 53-75.
- 207. Stacks, A. M., Muzik, M., Wong, K., Beeghly, M., Huth-Bocks, A., Irwin, J. L., & Rosenblum, K. L. (2014). Maternal reflective functioning among mothers with childhood maltreatment histories: Links to sensitive parenting and infant attachment security. Attachment & human development, 16(5), 515-533.
- 208. Steele, H., & Steele, M. (2008). On the origins of reflective functioning. Mentalization: Theoretical considerations, research findings, and clinical implications, 29, 133-158.
- 209. Stern, D. N. (1985). The sense of a subjective self, 1: affect attunement. In The interpersonal world of the infant: A view from psychoanalysis and developmental psychology (pp. 138-61).
- 210. Stewart, R. (2012). Construct Validity Of The Child PTSD Symptom Scale.
- Stoltenborgh, M., Van Ijzendoorn, M. H., Euser, E. M., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2011). A global perspective on child sexual abuse: Meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. Child maltreatment, 16(2), 79-101.
- 212. Suardi, F., Moser, D. A., Sancho Rossignol, A., Manini, A., Vital, M., Merminod, G., ... & Schechter, D. S. (2020). Maternal reflective functioning, interpersonal violence-related posttraumatic stress disorder, and risk for psychopathology in early childhood. Attachment & Human Development, 22(2), 225-245.
- Suchman, N. E., DeCoste, C., Castiglioni, N., McMahon, T. J., Rounsaville, B., & Mayes, L. (2010). The Mothers and Toddlers Program, an attachment-based parenting intervention for substance using women: Post-treatment results from a randomized clinical pilot. Attachment & human development, 12(5), 483-504.
- 214. Suchman, N. E., DeCoste, C., Leigh, D., & Borelli, J. (2010). Reflective functioning in mothers with drug use disorders: Implications for dyadic interactions with infants and toddlers. Attachment & human development, 12(6), 567-585.
- 215. Suchman, N. E., Decoste, C., Mcmahon, T. J., Rounsaville, B., & Mayes, L. (2011). The mothers and toddlers program, an attachment-based parenting intervention for

substance-using women: Results at 6-week follow-up in a randomized clinical pilot. Infant mental health journal, 32(4), 427-449.

- 216. Suchman, N. E., Decoste, C., Rosenberger, P., & McMahon, T. J. (2012). Attachmentbased intervention for substance-using mothers: A preliminary test of the proposed mechanisms of change. Infant mental health journal, 33(4), 360-371.
- 217. Suchman, N., DeCoste, C., Castiglioni, N., Legow, N., & Mayes, L. (2008). The Mothers and Toddlers Program: Preliminary findings from an attachment-based parenting intervention for substance-abusing mothers. Psychoanalytic Psychology, 25(3), 499.
- Sutton, L., Rowe, S., Hammerton, G., & Billings, J. (2022). The contribution of organisational factors to vicarious trauma in mental health professionals: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. European Journal of Psychotraumatology, 13(1), 2022278.
- Sweeney, A., Filson, B., Kennedy, A., Collinson, L., & Gillard, S. (2018). A paradigm shift: relationships in trauma-informed mental health services. BJPsych advances, 24(5), 319-333.
- Theimer, K., Mii, A. E., Sonnen, E., McCoy, K., Meidlinger, K., Biles, B., ... & Hansen, D. J. (2020). Identifying and addressing barriers to treatment for child sexual abuse survivors and their non-offending caregivers. Aggression and violent behavior, 52, 101418.
- Theimer, K., Mii, A. E., Sonnen, E., McCoy, K., Meidlinger, K., Biles, B., ... & Hansen, D. J. (2020). Identifying and addressing barriers to treatment for child sexual abuse survivors and their non-offending caregivers. Aggression and violent behavior, 52, 101418.
- 222. Treweek, S., Pitkethly, M., Cook, J., Fraser, C., Mitchell, E., Sullivan, F., Jackson, C., Taskila, T.K. and Gardner, H., 2018. Strategies to improve recruitment to randomised trials. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, (2).
- Tricco, A. C., Lillie, E., Zarin, W., O'Brien, K. K., Colquhoun, H., Levac, D., ... & Straus, S. E. (2018). PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Annals of internal medicine, 169(7), 467-473.
- 224. Tronick, E., & Beeghly, M. (2011). Infants' meaning-making and the development of mental health problems. American Psychologist, 66(2), 107.
- Türközer, H. B., & Öngür, D. (2020). A projection for psychiatry in the post-COVID-19 era: potential trends, challenges, and directions. Molecular Psychiatry, 25(10), 2214-2219.

- 226. Vermetten, E., & Jetly, R. (2018). A critical outlook on combat-related PTSD: review and case reports of guilt and shame as drivers for moral injury. Military Behavioral Health, 6(2), 156-164.
- 227. Votruba, N., Thornicroft, G., & FundaMentalSDG Steering Group. (2016). Sustainable development goals and mental health: learnings from the contribution of the FundaMentalSDG global initiative. Global Mental Health, 3.
- 228. Winnicott, D. W. (2009). Winnicott on the child. Da Capo Lifelong Books.
- 229. World Health Organization (2018) Situation analysis and priority setting. Available at: http://www.who.int/nationalpolicies/processes/priorities/en/ (accessed 20 January 2022).
- 230. Yasinski, C., Hayes, A. M., Alpert, E., McCauley, T., Ready, C. B., Webb, C., & Deblinger, E. (2018). Treatment processes and demographic variables as predictors of dropout from trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy (TF-CBT) for youth. Behaviour research and therapy, 107, 10-18.
- Yasinski, C., Hayes, A. M., Ready, C. B., Cummings, J. A., Berman, I. S., McCauley, T., ... & Deblinger, E. (2016). In-session caregiver behavior predicts symptom change in youth receiving trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy (TF-CBT). Journal of consulting and clinical psychology, 84(12), 1066.

Appendices

Appendix 1

MeSH search Strategy

Ovid MEDLINE(R) ALL 1946 to March 10, 2021

Date searched: March 11, 2021

Results: 1100

1. mentalization/ or "theory of mind"/

2. (reflective functioning or mentalization or mentalisation or co-regulation or coregulation or mirror neurons or mind-mindedness or theory of mind or insightfulness).mp.

3. Metacognition/

4. (metacognition or meta cognition).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms]

5. (parent* or maternal or paternal or mother* or father* or mom or moms or dad or dads).mp.

6. (1 or 2 or 3 or 4) and 5

Embase 1974 to 2021 March 10

Date searched: March 11, 2021

Results: 1446

- 1. mentalization/
- 2. mentalization-based treatment/
- 3. "theory of mind"/

4. (reflective functioning or mentalization or mentalisation or co-regulation or coregulation or mirror neurons or mind-mindedness or theory of mind or insightfulness).mp.

5. metacognition/ or metacognitive awareness/

- 6. (metacognition or meta cognition).mp.
- 7. (parent* or maternal or paternal or mother* or father* or mom or moms or dad or dads).mp.
- 8. (1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6) and 7

APA PsycInfo 1806 to March Week 1 2021 (OVID Interface)

Date searched: March 11, 2021

Results: 2356

1. mentalization/ or "theory of mind"/

2. (reflective functioning or mentalization or mentalisation or co-regulation or coregulation or mirror neurons or mind-mindedness or theory of mind or insightfulness).mp.

- 3. metacognition/
- 4. (metacognition or meta cognition).mp.
- 5. (parent* or maternal or paternal or mother* or father* or mom or moms or dad or dads).mp.

6. (1 or 2 or 3 or 4) and 5

CINAHL Plus with Full Text (EBSCO Host interface)

Search date: March 11, 2021

Results: 766

Deselect all equivalent subjects

((MH "Mentalization") OR (MH "Theory of Mind") OR metacognition OR meta cognition OR reflective functioning or mentalization or mentalisation or co-regulation or coregulation or mirror neurons or mind-mindedness or theory of mind or insightfulness) AND ((parent* or maternal or paternal or mother* or father* or mom or moms or dad or dads))

ERIC (EBSCO Host interface)

Search date: March 11, 2021

Number of results: 825

Deselect all equivalent subjects

(metacognition OR meta cognition OR reflective functioning or mentalization or mentalisation or co-regulation or coregulation or mirror neurons or mind-mindedness or theory of mind or insightfulness) AND ((parent* or maternal or paternal or mother* or father* or mom or moms or dad or dads))

Web of Science (Web of Science Interface)

Search date: March 11, 2021

Results: 2232

Advanced search

Ts=(metacognition OR meta-cognition OR reflective-functioning or mentalization or mentalisation or co-regulation or coregulation or mirror-neurons or mind-mindedness or theoryof-mind or insightfulness) AND ts=((parent* or maternal or paternal or mother* or father* or mom or moms or dad or dads))

Scopus (Scopus database)

Search date: March 11, 2021

Results: 2013

Advanced search

TITLE-ABS-KEY(metacognition OR meta-cognition OR reflective-functioning or mentalization or mentalisation or co-regulation or coregulation or mirror-neurons or mind-mindedness or theory-of-mind or insightfulness) AND TITLE-ABS-KEY ((parent* or maternal or paternal or mother* or father* or mom or moms or dad or dads))

Appendix 2

Inclusion Criteria

Population

Parents of children up to and including 36 months of age

Study design

- randomized controlled trials (RCTs)
- · case-control studies
- · interrupted time series
- · cohort studies
- · cross sectional studies
- · observational studies
- · qualitative studies
- · case series
- · case studies

Systematic reviews, meta-analysis and narrative reviews will be included in the screening phase. However, the references will be checked for primary sources that meet our inclusion criteria, and the review will be excluded.

Measures

- · Use of a validated psychometric scale as an outcome measure
- Reflective functioning scale (eg. used in the Adult Attachment Interview, etc), or;
 - o Specific domain(s) parental mental health, child attachment security, parentinfant interaction

· Interventions targeting reflective functioning/coregulation/mind-mindedness/mirror neurons/mentalization in caregiver-child dyads

Country of studies

· Any country

Date of publication

No restrictions

Language

No restrictions

Exclusion Criteria:

- · Grey literature (including dissertations and theses)
- · Posters
- Brief communications and letters to the editor
- · Animal